Annual Report
2016 - 2017

from the mountains to the sea

This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1993. The report
relates to Council’s Annual Plan, Strategic Plan and Partnership Agreement for the year ending June 30, 2016 and
provides an overview of Council’s operations and achievements during this period.
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Fast Facts
Municipal area

• 3809 square kilometres

Major Industries

• Retail Trade
• Health Care and Social Assistance
• Accommodation and food services

Industries of growth

• Fishing and Aquaculture
• Agriculture
• Forestry
• Accommodation and food services
• Mining

Natural Attractions

• Bay of Fires
• Peron Dunes
• Mt Victoria
• Blue Tier
• Evercreech White Gum reserve
• Mt William National Park
• Eddystone Point
• St Columba Falls
• Halls Falls
• St Patricks Head

Population

• 6104 (ABS 2016 data) permanent
residents to more than 15,000 in the 		
summer months
• Rated properties: 6386

Adventure

• Blue Derby Mountain Bike Trails
• Fishing – Game fishing including
tuna, marlin, swordfish, shark,
deep sea and reef fishing for a
variety of species as well as Bay
and River and estuary fishing.
• Diving - Bay of Fires
• Bush walking – there are a range of
trails on offer in our municipality
for all fitness levels
• Camping - there are a number
of free camping grounds in our
municipality located at the Bay of
Fires.

Connect with us:

Location: 32-34 Georges Bay Esplanade,
St Helens, Tasmania, 7216
Phone: (03) 6376 7900
Email: admin@bodc.tas.gov.au

Website: www.bodc.tas.gov.au

Office Hours:
Monday - Friday 9am - 5pm
(Excluding public holidays)
After Hours Emergency: 6398 2281

www.facebook.com/BODCTas/
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Region Snapshot
The Break O’Day municipality extends along the East
Coast of Tasmania from Eddystone Point (larapuna) in
the north to Denison River in the south and west to the
eastern portion of the Fingal Valley. Our region includes
a diverse range of scenery and townships from the arty
and creative hub of St Marys, historic townships like
Fingal, Mathinna and Weldborough to the coastal towns
and hamlets such as Falmouth, Ansons Bay, Scamander,
Beaumaris, Binalong Bay and St Helens - the Game
Fishing capital of Tasmania.
St Helens is the major hub of the Break O’Day region
and features a hospital, numerous accommodation
options, a District High School that offers Kindergarten to
grade 12, Trade Training Centre, Neighbourhood House,
Business Enterprise Centre, numerous restaurants and
cafés, retail outlets and more. St Marys District School
also offers Kindergarten to grade 12 and the township
has a Community Health Centre, a range of unique local
businesses and regular artisan markets.
While our region has won international acclaim
for the coastal beauty of the Bay of Fires, which is
synonymous with pristine white sand, turquoise water

and distinguishable orange lichen covered rocks, we also
have a range of national parks, conservation areas and
reserves on our doorstep.
Mt William National Park, located in the northern
reaches of the municipality blends beach-scapes with
the forest. There are also some beautiful waterfalls
in the area from the striking St Columba Falls, one of
Tasmania’s highest, multi-tiered falls to beautiful Halls
Falls.
The beauty of the Blue Tier has long been a secret
quietly kept by the locals but is now gaining recognition
thanks to the Blue Derby Mountain Bike Trails which
operate in this area, however the Blue Tier also offer
4WD and bush walking opportunities. It is an area of
diverse cultural and historic significance that starts with
the region’s aboriginal people through to the early days
of tin mining which brought a large Chinese population
to the area.
From the mountains to the sea, the Break O’Day
region is abundant in natural attractions, activities and
development opportunity.
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Strategy and Vision
Vision

To ensure an active, forward looking and well managed
community creating a unique and desirable place to live,
work and visit.

Mission

We value the natural and built environment that
supports us and will ensure resources are utilised
responsibly and effectively by nurturing, empowering
and communicating with one another.

Strategic Plan

The Break O’Day Strategic Plan 2011-2015 plays a vital
role in guiding the future directions of the Break O’Day
Community and the Break O’Day Council. It draws on
an extensive community consultation process, and has
been further refined to focus on key outcomes that can
be achieved by Council working in conjunction with the
community and all relevant key stakeholders.
This Strategic Plan links in closely with the Municipal
Management Plan and the State Government's Tasmania

Together 2020 Plan. These links have been identified
throughout the Plan, ensuring that Break O’Day Council
is working with Local, State and Federal Governments,
industry and the broader Tasmanian community to
ensure the benefits to, or for, our community are
maximised and promoted.
The Strategic Plan identifies five key goal areas that will
be addressed by Break O’Day Council over the life of this
Plan. The strategies for each goal provide more detail
about what is to be achieved, including performance
measures that will judge Council’s progress over the life
of the Plan. The Goal areas identified are:
•
•
•
•
•

Community Building.
Environment and Planning.
Leadership and Governance.
Economic Development.
Asset Management.

(A copy of the Annual Plan can be found in this report or
on our website.)

Evercreech, Mathinna
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10 Year Strategic Plan - Our vision Our future
After a comprehensive consultation with our community
we developed a draft version of our new 10 Year
Strategic Plan. Once drafted, we opened a public
submission process and are waiting for this to end before
we make any changes and adopt the plan.
This plan represents a shift in direction for Council in
terms of goals and strategies but also because we believe
that this plan belongs as much to the community as it
does to us. This is because the community were the
main drivers of all the content found in the document
from goals and key focus areas to the overarching vision
itself. A copy of the 10 Year Strategic Plan can be found
on our website along with more information about
how community feedback became the Plan in a the
Transparency document.
The new 10 Year Strategic Plan is governed by our new
vision:
A naturally beautiful environment that speaks to
our heart. A diverse and thriving community; a place
of opportunity. A place where everyone feels safe,
welcome and connected.
The plan features five goals for our municipality that are
reflective of the input received through the consultation
process.

These are:
Community: To strengthen our sense of community and
lifestyle through opportunities for people to connect and
feel valued.
Economy: To foster innovation and develop vibrant and
growing local economies which offer opportunities for
employment and development of businesses across a
range of industry sectors.
Environment: To balance our use of the natural
environment to ensure that it is available for future
generations to enjoy as we do.
Infrastructure: To provide quality infrastructure which
enhances the liveability and viability of our communities
for residents and visitors.
Services: To have access to quality services that are
responsive to the changing needs of the community and
lead to improved health, education and employment
outcomes.
Each of these goals feature key focus areas and
determinants for assessing the success of each goal.
Council understands that in order to achieve our vision,
the community and Council must work together and
so the plan includes a section discussing what the
community and Council roles are in achieving the vision.
We look forward to working with our community to
achieve the goals in the plans which are reflective of our
ideals, needs, wants and desires for our future and the
future of our area.

Residents at Pyengana attending one of the Community Conversation sessions which were instrumental in determining the plan.
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Mayor and Councillors
Message from Mayor Mick Tucker

Welcome to the 2016-2017 Annual Report.
It truly is an honour to be the Mayor of Break O’Day, and
I am proud of what we as a Council, have managed to
achieve and secure for the future of our community and
our area.
As the elected members of our community it is really
important to us to make sure that we are representing
the needs of our community and while we understand
that we cannot always please everyone, we do try to
ensure our decisions are for the greater good.
We want to be an accountable, approachable and
transparent organisation and we are really working
hard towards this goal. Sometimes the work we do in
this space is subtle, like conversations with community
members at events or updates in newsletters and
sometimes it is much more obvious like polls on our
website or community forums.
Council understands that we all share this beautiful area
and we all must work together as a team to achieve great
things for Break O’Day.
This financial year saw some significant funding
announcements made which will really set our area up
for the coming years in terms of population growth and
tourism development. One of these announcements
was confirmation from the State Government in May
that they would be moving forward with the funding and
construction of the new $12.1 million St Helens District
Hospital. Construction of the new hospital is scheduled
to commence in November 2017.
The State Government also announced $1 million
funding for the St Helens Mountain Bike Network.
Council believes this project will be a game changer
for our region and will really cement St Helens and
the North East Region as the Mountain Bike Hub of

Tasmania.
This is a really exciting project and I am proud to be
a part of it. Council Officers have been working in the
background for some time on the development of the
trails, working with expert ecologists, trail builders and
land owners like Parks and Wildlife and Crown Land
Services to ensure the trails are both environmentally
sound and financially sustainable.
I really look forward to seeing this project come together
over the next 12 months and hope that the community
and the local business community really get behind it.
Another large project that Council have been working
on with MAST is the St Helens Barway stabilisation.
Stabilising the passage into our major port at St Helens
is, and should be a priority of Council not just for access
and economic reasons but safety as well.
As you may imagine this is a huge undertaking that
involves a lot of modelling, planning and expertise to
ensure that the channel and barway are stable and
reliable now and into the future.
Council is involved both directly and indirectly in many
events around the area but the ante was certainly upped
this year with old events taking on a fresh look and
approaches.
This year’s Australia Day Celebration Day drew a large
crowd and included a pie eating competition, colouring
in competition and bake off.
Like every year, the Australia Day event features an
official ceremony rewarding members of our community
for their efforts and I would like to congratulate these
hardworking community members again.
Remembering our fallen at Anzac Day, Remembrance
Day and Vietnam Veterans Day are always close to
my heart and I am always proud of the number of
people who come to pay their respects at these official
ceremonies.
We have some very hardworking volunteers at the
RSL that help make these days a success and they are
perhaps not told enough how appreciative we all are of
their efforts. One person that has certainly gone above
and beyond in this space is Graham Cameron. Graham
continues to work hard on our plaques at the St Helens
cenotaph and thanks to his work, St Helens now has
the most comprehensive list of fallen Tasmanian’s in the
state. Graham Cameron has been recognised by the
Queen and was awarded an OAM in September this year.
Another topic close to my heart is football and this year
has seen some significant changes for footy in our area
as the East Coast Swans moved to the NTFA. The boys’
first season in this competitive division has seen the
players rise to the challenge and at time of writing this,
they could yet be in the Grand Final, an amazing effort
Page 10

for a regional team.
The addition to the NTFA has seen the inclusion of
Pyengana and Fingal Football grounds included in the
roster and both communities have really stood behind
their players and the sport. The games hosted in these
regional areas draw huge crowds and have become a real
family day out for our community.
Council is asked all too often how it can help with various
events and funding and sometimes the expectations of
community on our staff can be overwhelming. On the flip
side, it is always a pleasure for us to see members of the
community tackling the needs of their townships with
our support rather than our guidance.
Two great examples of this are in the Fingal Valley
where the Fingal Progress Association applied for and
successfully received grant funding to build the Fingal
Bike Park. This park not only allows children a safe place
to ride their bikes but has been set up to help teach road
rules as well.
Another example of this community working to serve
itself is the restoration of the Fingal Valley Railway
Station. This was driven by a committee who could see
the historical value and future potential of the site. The
restoration was largely done by the community and
involved people from all walks of life and skill. There is no
doubt that this was a major undertaking and all involved
should be congratulated on their vision, cooperation and
hard work.
I would also like to take this opportunity to congratulate
and thank many of the Break O’Day community groups
who are run solely on volunteers; there are so many to
mention it is difficult, I would like to mention a few that

come to mind: the fantastic new look/rejuvenated St
Helens Regatta and Car Show; the St Marys Car Show;
the Game Fishing Clubs and their members for the great
events they run throughout the year; the Mathinna
community for generally everything they do to care for
their unique township and the people who live there
with continual fundraising to maintain and upgrade their
facilities, rallies, looking after campers, etc; the Falmouth
Community Centre for thinking about the members of
their community and purchasing a defibrillator.
The new Bendigo Bank Community Stadium (BOCS)
is also punching above its weight with the amazing
community support assisting with the operating of this
facility and users of the facility as well as the support
from the State League Netball who have held rostered
games here with the number of scheduled events
growing into the future.
Finally I feel I cannot sign off on this financial year
without at least touching on Break O’Day Council’s
stance on the State Government’s proposed take-over of
TasWater.
While our stance has been firm in not supporting the
takeover, I think it is important to say that this stance
is based on what we feel is in the best interests of our
community. To put it simply, we would not invest in an
organisation that could not present us with a sound
business case and financial statements so why would we
back the Government’s takeover?
There is no doubt that the next 12 months are going
to see some exciting things happening in our area and I
hope that many of you are as excited as I am to be a part
of it all.

Mayor Mick Tucker with the 2017 Australia Day Winners
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Councillors
Councillors

The Council is comprised of nine Councillors (including
the Mayor and Deputy Mayor) elected by the
community; each serve for a term of four years.

The Council meet regularly for workshops, monthly
for scheduled meetings and as required when Special
Council Meetings are called.

All Councillors must comply with Council’s Code
of Conduct. The Code covers issues such as the
requirement to act in good faith, duty of due care and
diligence, conflict and pecuniary interest, issues of
improper use of power and information, independence,
confidentiality and the obligation to uphold the law.

Member expenses are made up of printing and
stationery, telephone charges, internet, travel and
sustenance and delegate expenses (conferences,
committee meetings, strategic planning sessions and
workshops to name a few).

Councillor attendance
Councillor

Ordinary Meetings
Attended

Mayor Mick Tucker

12/12

Special Meetings
Attended
3/3

AGM Attended

Total Meetings
Attended

1/1

16/16

Deputy Mayor John McGiveron

12/12

3/3

1/1

16/16

Clr Janet Drummond

12/12

3/3

1/1

16/16

Clr Barry LeFevre

12/12

3/3

1/1

16/16

Clr Glenn McGuiness

10/12

3/3

1/1

14/16

Clr Margaret Osborne

10/12

3/3

1/1

14/16

Clr Hannah Rubenach-Quinn

12/12

3/3

1/1

16/16

Clr John Tucker

10/12

2/3

1/1

13/16

Clr Kylie Wright

11/12

3/3

1/1

15/16
Gardens Lagoon.
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Organisational Structure
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Leadership and Governance
Provide strong and informed leadership and effective management of the community’
resources; empowering and involving the community at all levels

General Manager

The General Manager is accountable to the Council
for the management in line with policy and delegated
authority as approved by the Council.

Day to day management of the organisation’s affairs and
implementation of strategic and policy initiatives are the
responsibility of the General Manager and Management.

Message from the General Manager

The 2016-2017 year has once again proven to be an
interesting year in Local Government; like life in general;
there are many things that appear from seemingly out of
nowhere which impact on our plans and activities for the
year. The good thing is that these distractions have not
kept us from focussing on achieving the best for our local
communities and Break O’Day in general.
Developing a new Strategic Plan for the Break O’Day
area was one of the really enjoyable and rewarding
activities during the year. All too often we are trapped
behind our desks dealing with the daily grind of activities
so the opportunity to be out in the community meeting
and listening to people as part of the community
conversation process was a welcome change. The
information we gain goes far beyond what is written in
the plan as it is the small bits and pieces of information
we receive which can be so important down the track.
The new Strategic Plan will be considered and formally
adopted by Council early in the 2017-2018 year and will
form the basis for the 2017-2018 Annual Plan.

A focus on organisational performance was part of an
extended strategic planning process which Councillors
and employees are participating in. The first stage has
been examining “the way we do business” with a view to
understanding the things which can be done better and
what is influencing the way that we go about things. It is
important that we have this understanding and recognise
what can be improved; it is then how we go about
making the right changes happen. Customer service
and communication from both internal and external
perspectives is something that is being worked on.
These were also highlighted by the community as part of
the Strategic Plan process.
During the year we had a few organisational changes
resulting from employees leaving Council. A resignation
whilst disruptive is also an opportunity to examine the
need for change and bring about a change in focus. The
great thing about the team we are developing is the
capacity to meet these challenges as they occur. I truly
appreciate the support that is received from everyone
associated with the Council, Councillors, employees,
volunteers, community groups and members,
stakeholders and other organisations. Without that
support we can’t achieve what we do achieve.
As noted in last year’s Report, timeframes for activities
can extend out despite the best of intentions. The Local
Government reform process has once again taken time
to progress but the end is now very much in sight with
draft Reports being prepared for release.
The opening of the Blue Tier Mountain Bike Trail Descent
was a highlight for the year, the Blue Derby juggernaut
had extended to Weldborough and the Blue Tier and
we were away. Right from the start the feedback has
been amazing and has added great impetus to plans to
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develop a ‘sister’ network with the St Helens Mountain
Bike Trail Network and Bay of Fires Descent.
Quite often we are criticised for matters which are
outside our control. There have been a number of State
Government legislative and administrative changes
which have impacted on the way we do business and
our customer service. The new Building Act is a classic
example of the State Government rushing through a
change without proper consideration being given to the
practicalities of implementation. Councils are left to sort
out the problems which are created and to assist the
builders and property owners to get through the process.
I cannot finish off for the year without some comments
in relation to the TasWater issue and the State
Governments move to seize control. The matter is an
unnecessary distraction and something which defies

logic when you sift through the rhetoric and political
positioning on the matter. Members of the community
must be confused as to who and what to believe.
The Council continues to ask the State Government
to provide the business case and financial modelling
which supports what they are trying to achieve. It is
not being provided which leads us to wonder if they
have actually done this properly or just some superficial
analysis. Yes, we receive a dividend from our investment
in TasWater. Who benefits from this, the community
through increased services and programs, or lower rates.
The money is not just pocketed by Council and not seen
again – the community gets it back. Will this happen
with State Government ownership? It is a lot easier
to hold your local Councillor to account than the State
Government.

Beauty Bay, St Helens
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Communications
Communication has increasingly become a focus for
Council as we work towards being a more proactive and
transparent organisation to our ratepayers and visitors to
our area.
This year we have used various mediums in an effort to
increase engagement with our community from email
data bases, Facebook, newsletters, FAQ sheets and
advertising.
We have also made an effort to increase ‘good news’
stories about our region through media releases and
direct conversations with the media as well as through
our own newsletters. This has seen more than 30
‘good news’ stories published or broadcast for the
2016 – 2017 financial year. This includes stories about
Council’s projects like the Recycling Service and funding
announcements as well as celebrating the achievements
of our community.
Promotion of our area in this way is a strategic direction
of Council as it builds on a positive brand for ourselves
but also our region. The aim of this is to increase interest
and therefore visitation to our area as well as encourage
population growth by attracting more people to want to
live in our beautiful area.

Some of the bigger projects that have involved
communications include;

Education around the new Recycling Service
The introduction of a kerbside recycling service to our
area came with challenges, particularly around the
change for the community with bins.
The Australian standard for recycling bins is that they
have a yellow lid, unfortunately our current waste bins
already have a yellow lid. This means that when we
introduce the service the new bins delivered, which will
have red lids, will become our new waste bins and the
existing bin will become the recycling bin
The Communications Coordinator has been working
with NRM North and the Northern Tasmania Waste
Management Group in developing a Communications
Plan for the service. The plan’s main goals are to educate
the community about the changes and encourage
involvement in the service.
The 2017 -2018 financial year will see this plan ramp up
so keep an eye out in our newsletters and Facebook page
for more information.
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Engagement with the business community
around the St Helens Streetscape works

Works projects like a streetscape can be very disruptive
to local businesses. Council appreciates this and tries
to work with all involved to ensure the works are as
manageable as possible.
The Project Manager for the St Helens Streetscape
project, the Works Manager and the Communications
Coordinator worked together with the contractor to
inform and understand the concerns and needs of local
businesses.
This involved face-to-face meetings, letters and regular
updates. We worked with those business owners who
had genuine concerns and ensured their needs were met
and in some cases exceeded. Some examples include
removing and replacing fences and gardens to allow
back access to businesses, completing areas of the works
when businesses were closed to ensure minimal impact
and washing down of windows once the works were
completed.
All in all the project was a great success and was
completed three weeks ahead of schedule and 20%
under budget.

Social Media

Council’s Facebook page has now been in operation
for over 12 months and it has become instrumental in
communicating with our community.
The page has more than 1600 followers and continues
to steadily grow each week and has really helped us to
communicate with ratepayers living outside of our area
as well as our permanent residents.
The page has helped us raise awareness of Council
run events and community events, locate the owners
of impounded dogs, rehome dogs and generally raise
awareness in the community of Council's activities.

We have run several campaigns through the page
this financial year to help us spread the word of
community consultation sessions. The 10 Year Strategic
Plan Community Conversation Sessions and The Old
Scamander Bridge Forum were both promoted through
Facebook which increased the reach of these posts by
thousands of people.
Promotion of posts like this through Facebook allows us
to really target people in our area and is a cheap, cost
effective method of advertising when compared to the
more traditional methods like radio and print. However,
when designing a campaign, in order to reach as many
people as possible we utilise these more traditional
methods as well in an effort to ensure we reach as many
people as possible.
Facebook is the perfect platform to promote polls and
surveys. This financial year we ran a survey through
Facebook and our website for the 10 Year Strategic Plan
which had more than 160 respondents. We also ran a
poll on the reduction of a speed limit from St Helens to
Dianas Basin and this received 170 responses.
Council will continue to increase its use of social media
to communicate with our community as a consultation
tool; running posts and surveys; a way of educating our
community about our activities, processes and services
as well as upcoming events.
Another area that has seen social media become an
instrumental tool of communication is in times of
emergency. When we have an emergency event like a
flood, Facebook has proven to be an effective platform in
informing our residents in real time of road closures and
other relevant information. We know that this method
is successful as we always see a spike in our followers
during an emergency as well as post engagement and
reach.
St Helens Streetscape works underway

Page 17

Activities and projects of Council in brief
Regional Cabinet meeting

On May 16 the State Government held their Regional
Cabinet Meeting in St Helens at Tidal Waters. Premier
Will Hodgman, Treasurer Peter Gutwein and MPs,
Matthew Groom, Michael Fergusson, Jacqui Petrusma,
Mark Shelton, Guy Barnett and Rene Hidding were all in
attendance with Councillors invited to attend.
This was a great opportunity for Council to discuss faceto-face with the government the needs and challenges of
our area and we certainly kept them busy.
At the cabinet meeting Councillors used the opportunity
to discuss the St Helens Hospital, improvements to
the St Helens Barway, the Parnella Landslip project,
development of mountain bike trails, ownership and
maintenance of roads including the Tasman Highway and
Binalong Bay road, flooding in St Marys, the delivery of
health services and more.
Ministers were also invited to attend community
meetings and Minster for Health, Michael Fergusson met
with the local Mental Health Action Group and heard
firsthand the difficulties experienced by our community
in accessing health services.
While in the area the Government also used the
opportunity to announce final allocation of the $12.1
million funding required for the construction of the St
Helens Hospital and $1 million funding for the St Helens
Mountain Bike Network.
At the meeting the Government also took the
opportunity to congratulate Council on their working
relationship with the Parks and Wildlife Service. Council
were particularly happy with these comments as they
cemented the integrity of our relationship with this
government department as well as reinforced our
commitment to sustainable development of our natural
areas.
Council is very grateful to the Government for allowing
us the opportunity to raise our concerns and speak
candidly about opportunities for growth in our area.

Blue Tier Mountain Bike Trail opening

On October 7, 2017 the Blue Tier Descent Mountain Bike
trail was officially opened.
It was a massive event and saw a great turn out not just
from the general public but the media and politicians as
well.
Held at the Weldborough Hotel, the event saw a large
public crowd enjoying a casual meal and brew in the
gardens of the hotel while listening to the live sounds of
local band the Pretty Things.
Quite a large number of people made the most of the
day and tackled the new trail, some even riding it twice
during the day!
Council approached Tasmanian Mountain Bike Olympian,
Scott Bowden to attend the event as an ambassador of
the trail and his involvement was crucial in attracting the
media to the event and resulted in stories of the opening
reaching the mainland through ABC coverage. Bowden
was also involved in a VIP ride which also comprised
state politicians, the media, mountain bike experts and
Tourism Tasmania representatives being the first group
to tackle the trails. All returning just in time to make the
official opening.
The smiles on their mud splattered faces of these riders
said it all! There was no doubting that the Blue Tier Trail
was living up to its reputation as the ‘jewel in the Blue
Derby crown’.
Perhaps it was this experience that lead to Senator
Jonathon Duniam to confirm, on behalf of the Federal
Government, that they would commit $1.6 million to
the Bay of Fires Descent; a trail that would start at the
same point as the Blue Tier and head east coming out at
Swimcart Beach in the Bay of Fires.
This was great news for Council and our community as it
showed the Federal Government’s eagerness to invest in
our area and their recognition of the work we have done
with Dorset Council with the current Blue Derby trails.

The Mayor and State Government Ministers address the media to announce funding for the St Helens District Hospital.
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10 Year Strategic Plan

While developing a 10 year Strategic Plan is a legislated
requirement for Local Government authorities, we saw it
as a real chance to engage with our community and get
an understanding of what their vision for the future of
area was.
The idea for the document is that it will guide the
direction of Council’s activities that will be reflected
in the Annual Plans, Four year plans and other official
documents of Council.
It is Council’s vision that the 10 Year Strategic Plan will
become not just an important document to Council but
to our community as well.
While there is a belief that these documents sit on
a shelf at Council, we would like to reassure our
community that this is simply not the case. Everything
we do must fit within a strategic direction of Council
and this is most clearly evident in our Council meetings
where each recommendation and decision of Council is
related to the Strategic Plan.
Throughout the information gathering phase we spoke
with more than 400 people. This was done through
10 face-to face forums in 10 locations across the
municipality as well as through an online survey. This is
around 10% of our total population and a good result in
terms of survey sample sizes.
Councillors and Council staff were also involved in this
process putting on their community member hats for the
exercise.
Collating and compiling all the information, which
involved more than 100 pieces of butchers paper and
100s of sticky notes, took five staff three days and
involved grouping like-minded ideas together under
headings. These headings and ideas became the basic
framework of the plan.
Drafting the plan took two days and once the draft
was adopted by Council, we took the plan back out to
the community to get feedback. Understanding that it
might be difficult for the community to see just how
their feedback became the plan, we also drafted a
Transparency document. This document was designed to
be easy to read and understand and we hope it helped
the community recognise how their thoughts became
the plan.
After this a formal submission period was opened where
the community could make formal comment on the
document. This closed on July 28, 2017.
Once the submissions are considered by Council and any
amendments made, the 10 Year Strategic Plan will be
adopted by Council and become a guiding document for
us and the community.

Ex-HMAS Tobruk

In December last year Council and the Tobruk for Tassie
project team finally heard that their hopes to sink the exHMAS Tobruk as a dive wreck off Skeleton Bay had been
dashed.
After spending many hours developing a business case,
conducting environmental impact studies, and ensuring
we had ticked all the right boxes, to say we were all
disappointed was an understatement.
The pitch to the owners of the vessel, the Federal
Government, to send it to Tasmania was largely pinned
on the fact that all other States in Australia had been
gifted similar ex-navy vessels with Tasmania the only
state not to have received one. Basically we felt that we
should be entitled to the same treatment as all other
states and not have to fork out the Federal Government’s
anticipated costs which were $10 million.
As the first state to show any interest in the vessel and
all the documentation to back up our plans, we felt we
had a strong case, particularly seeming we thought we
had State Government support.

Local Government Reform

As many residents will be aware, most Tasmanian
Councils have been part of the process initiated by
the Minister for Local Government, Peter Gutwein,
to examine options for reform in Local Government,
including amalgamations.
Break O'Day and Glamorgan Spring Bay Proposed
Boundary Adjustment
Over the last six months Break O’Day Council staff
prepared and submitted information for the review
process to examine the practicality of Break O’Day taking
over part of Glamorgan Spring Bay’s Municipal area. The
area in question would see us take over management
from Denison River, north of Bicheno, through to Cherry
Tree Hill South of Bicheno including Coles Bay.
The main considerations of the amalgamation were that
the amalgamation would;
•
be in the interest of ratepayers;
•
improve the level of service for communities;
•
preserve and maintain local representation; and
•
ensure that the financial status of the entities is 		
strengthened.
The information required spanned every department
of Council from Human Resources to Public and
Environmental Health. It included information on service
delivery differences and recommendations for service
delivery efficiencies.
It also required an in depth look at the demographic
profile of both municipal areas.
The consultancy has now been completed and an official
document will be released by auditors, KPMG later in
August 2017.
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Northern Region Shared Services review

For six months, eight northern councils, West Tamar,
Dorset, Flinders, George Town, Launceston, Meander
Valley, Northern Midlands and ourselves worked with
KPMG to explore the possibility of shared services,
supported by the State Government.
While all eight Councils have many common service
delivery responsibilities such as waste collection,
development services and asset management, Councils
can and do have quite different ways of providing these
services. An example of this is that each of the eight
councils uses a completely different financial reporting
system.
It is therefore no surprise that the key finding of the
report was that the biggest gains to be found in a shared
services model would be through the adoption of a
common IT platform. As the implementation of new
software is expensive and logistically a very significant
change, this will take some time for each council to
implement.

However the report also found that there were 13 or
more opportunities/recommendations that could be
explored for future development but were dependant
on:
1.
The formation of an effective governance/ 		
management model with resources to progress 		
initiatives.
2.
The harmonisation of information management 		
systems by the participating entities to common
platforms
3.
A ‘one-in, all-in’ approach that does not easily 		
allow opt-in, opt-out when it suits the 			
preferences of individual councils to the 		
detriment of the councils of the northern region
as a whole.
As there are genuine savings, efficiencies and
improvements to effectiveness to be gained, all councils
including BODC are keen to keep examining these
opportunities in an effort to save money and therefore
better serve our community.

Sunrise over George's Bay
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Human Resource Activities
Recruitment and Selection

Council strives for consistent recruitment and selection
of the right person for the right job.
As at June 30, 2016, Council had 51 permanent staff and
seven casual employees.
During the year six Tip Attendants were employed in
preparation for Council’s resumption of Waste Transfer
Station Operations on 1 July 2017. Council also identified
a need to provide employment opportunities for our
young people and two trainees have been engaged. Four
staff resigned, one retired and five new employees joined
Council, some in replacement roles and some new roles
such as a 26TEN Officer and Weeds Program Coordinator

Enterprise Bargaining Agreement

The Enterprise Bargaining Agreement negotiations are
progressing and to ensure staff were not disadvantaged
by any delays in process, a pay increment in line with
the National Wage case was passed by Council for
implementation in the new financial year.

Resource Management

Annual performance reviews, disciplinary and
recognition activities are carried out according to
best practice. Position descriptions are reviewed
and evaluated in line with changes in responsibilities,
accountabilities and duties.

Training and Development

Most staff underwent some form of training during
2016/2017 including in-house training, on the job and
external courses with expenditure totalling $24,290.

Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO)

Break O’Day Council is committed to working towards
Employer of Choice status and is committed to
providing a workplace that is free of discrimination and
harassment. Council complies with EEO legislation and
provides a work environment that encourages positive
and productive working relationships.

Work Health and Safety

Council has an extensive WH&S system. Council’s Work
Health and Safety Coordinator leads Council’s activities
and this has been achieved through regular review of
existing policies, development of new policies and an
active WH&S Committee which represent all personnel.

Halls Falls, Pyengana
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Development Services
Ensure sustainable management of natural and built resources is respectful to our unique location
The Development Services department provides
various key services to the Break O' Day Municipality
including, Town Planning, Development Assessments,
Building Surveying Service, Plumbing Assessments and
Inspections, Compliance, Natural Resource Management,
Waste Water Approvals, Food Business registration

Building Services Statistics

On the January 1, 2017 the state government introduced
the following legislation as part of the building legislation
reform:
•
Building Act 2016
•
Building Regulations 2016
•
Occupational Licensing (Building Services Work) 		
Regulations 2016
•
Residential Building Work Contracts and Dispute
Resolution Act 2016
•
Residential Building Work Contracts and Dispute
Resolution Regulations 2016
The State Government’s intent of the new legislation
was to mitigate risk, streamline building processes and
introduce state-wide compliance in the building industry.
Council is responsible for the implementation and
enforcement of the new state legislation and have been
proactive in providing training forums to update industry
professionals on the changes to the legislation.
A total of six training sessions were held with a total of
24 attendees which included local Builders, Plumbers,
Designers, Real Estate agents and Landscaping
businesses.

and inspections, Development of Councils Building
Asset Management and Capital works program. The
information below provides an overview of major
activities that the development services team has been
working on through the financial year.

The agenda covered the intent of the new legislation, an
overview of the changes, the Development Application
processes and also some technical aspects relevant to
the practitioners attending each session. Councils staff
will continue to hold these information sessions to
keep trades persons and the community in touch with
legislative changes. We have noted a significant increase
in our ability to achieve customer service satisfaction
where these proactive sessions have been held. The
changes have been very significant and it is likely that
the approval statistics will be affected by the change in
future financial years.

Construction of the Stieglitz barbecue shelter gets underway.
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The below table represents the number of building and/or plumbing approvals issued for the 2013/2014 to
2016/2017 financial years under the Building Act 2016.
The statistics show a continuing upward trend of building and plumbing approvals issued compared to the previous
financial years.
Number of Building Approvals
Granted
Dwelling

2016/2017

2015/2016

2014/2015

2013/2014

43

34

50

38

Additions/Alterations

33

32

38

32

Garages/Carports/Decks/Pools/Verandahs/Pergolas/etc.
Commercial

164

134

133

136

13

9

11

6

Change of Use

8

8

5

0

Extension of time – Building Permit 197

165

160

106

Demolition

2

4

2

3

Special Plumbing/Waste Water

50

40

44

46

Amendments

6

4

3

6

Amenities

12

10

3

6

Miscellaneous

3

17

5

7

Total

531

457

454

386

The line chart below shows a consistent upward trend of building/plumbing approvals since 2013/2014.
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Planning Services Statistics

There have been a number of significant projects
considered by the planning team this year, including :
•
Major infrastructure upgrade in stormwater 		
capacity and directing flows away from 			
the landslip zone in the vicinity 				
of Parnella, Stieglitz;
•
New hospital in Annie Street to replace current 		
facility which is prone to flooding;
•
Major tourist accommodation development at 		
Parkside
•
Wilderness experience at Mount William, and
•
Other infrastructure improvements including 		
bridge replacements and telecommunications 		
towers.

All of these mentioned projects were assessed in
context of responsible planning, sustainable growth and
regulatory compliance.
The State Government has made progress in their
undertaking to implement a Statewide Planning
Scheme that will ensure uniformity in requirements for
developers across the State. Within this model there is
capacity to reflect and capture some of the uniqueness
of each municipality in Local Planning Provisions (LPPs).
Development of the LPPs, zone mapping the loss of
the Environmental Living Zone in the new model all
will require an additional level of financial and human
resource input next year.
Below is a summary of planning approvals issued under
the Land Use Planning and Approvals Act 1993:

The new toilet at the Blue Tier Descent Mountain Bike Trail head.
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Number of Planning
Approvals Granted

2016/2017

2015/2016

2014/2015

2013/2014

Dwelling

47

50

58

29

Dwelling Additions

23

31

15

18

Garages/Carports/
Decks/Additions etc

112

103

95

93

Commercial

15

1

5

3

Change of Use

30

38

21

25

Subdivisions

7

6

8

4

Boundary Adjustment

2

9

7

6

Mining

0

4

2

1

Signage

6

3

3

0

Adhesion Order

6

2

2

0

Amendments

28

18

16

25

Caravans

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Forestry

0

0

0

0

Fences

4

5

12

6

Industrial

0

1

1

0

Miscellaneous

23

7

8

6

Total

303

278

253

216
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Building and Capital Projects Completed 2016-2017
Description

Location

Completion

Annual Removal of Asbestos
Contaminated materials program

St Marys Depot & St Marys Football
Clubrooms

Completed July 2016 and April 2017

Priority Building Repainting Program

St Helens Sports Complex

Internal repaint Completed October
2016.

Construction of Toilet & Shower
Block

Pyengana Recreational Ground

Completed December 2016

Construction of Toilet & Shower
Block.

Mathinna Recreational Ground

Completed early April 2017

Construction of Wash-down Facility
for Mountain Bikes

Weldborough

Completed April 2017

New Bus Shelter

Mangana Township

Completed April 2017

Design & Construction of an Aircraft
Storage hanger.

St Helens Aerodrome

Completed May 2017

Installation of Ceiling fans to
Portland Hall

Portland Hall, St Helens

Ceiling Fans Completed June 2017

New Public Toilet Facility
(For Parks and Wildlife Service.)

Blue Tier, Poimena

Works completed June 2017

BBQ & Shelter

Stieglitz Beach, Stieglitz

Completed July 2017
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Projects ongoing – Capital Works Program (Includes carried over projects from 2016/2017
financial year)
Description

Location

Updates

Old Tasmanian Hotel Redevelopment Main Road, Fingal
(Stage 1 – Toilet renovations)

• First stage 1 – Amenities Building
Completed;
• Renovations works ongoing
• WIFI and Electrical upgrades
currently being finalised
• Works onsite commenced
• Project progressing well.

Construction of St Helens Multipurpose changeroom facility

St Helens Recreation Ground

Toilet & BBQ - Design Plans

Beaumaris Park, Beaumaris

• Works commenced;
• Completion setback to end August
2017

Design & Construction St Marys
Toilet Block

Main Street, St Marys
(Behind library)

• Works scheduled to commence in
Summer months of 2017.

Design Plans for Fit-out of Kiosk

Bendigo Bank Community Stadium

• Final Design works completed.

Design Plans for External Upgrades
to Car park

St Helens Sports Complex

• Some conceptual works underway.

New Solar Panels to North Facing
Roof Plane, Portland Hall, St Helens

Portland Hall, St Helens

Works scheduled to commence in
August 2017 and be completed by
September 2017.

Compliance and Education
The past financial year has seen a greater emphasis put
on educating contractors and the public on requirements
to ensure Council approvals are obtained. There have
been major changes in the legislation and a significant
amount of time has been spent implementing these
changes for Council, contractors and the public. We have
seen a steady decline in new compliance investigations
and it appears that the education programs Council has

implemented have been effective in ensuring compliance
within the industry.
For the 2016/2017 Fire Season a total of 141 Fire
Abatement Notices were issued across the Municipality.
All of these properties were cleared by the property
owner and therefore no escalation in enforcement was
required by Council during the abatement period.
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Supporting Infrastructure – Blue Tier toilet
block and Weldborough bike wash-down
facility

This financial year Council started gearing up for an
influx in mountain bike visitation by installing some
infrastructure to complement trails in our area like the
Blue Tier Descent.
First we constructed a bike wash-down facility in the
grounds of the Weldborough Hotel. This facility ensures
that riders can not only keep their bikes clean but
prevents the spread of weed seed around our area and
others. The design was kept simplistic to keep costs
minimal while still being effective at removing soils and
fines from the water.
The bike wash was completed just in time for the World
Enduro held in April and according to the Works crew
who have been checking on the facility, it has been
getting some serious use since its installation.
We then started work on a toilet block at the site of the
Blue Tier Descent Trail Head on behalf of landowners,
Parks and Wildlife Services.
This work had its challenges due to its location as there
is no reticulated water supply or sewerage. Placement
of the toilet block was also limited due to the nature of
the terrain and the heritage, cultural and environmental
values of the area.
Now completed, the toilet block is self-sufficient and
environmentally friendly with disability access.
Council plans on doing some more works in this area
around carparking at the trailhead in the coming 12
months.

The Bike wash facility at Weldborough

Public Amenity - Pyengana and Mathinna
shower and toilet blocks

Council has been working hard to ensure all of our
public amenity blocks are up to scratch and has been
working to a comprehensive 10 year replacement
program of public facilities around the municipality. The
new modular design being rolled out allows for new
compliance requirements for persons with a disability
and is easily cleaned and maintained with fixtures and
finishes chosen to provide vandal resistance.
Two areas that received new amenity blocks this
financial year were Pyengana and Mathinna which
include ‘Pay as you go’ showering facilities. Both of these
projects featured heavy involvement from the local
communities and we thank them for their efforts and
input.
The Pyengana Facility was constructed under a cofunding arrangement between the Break O’ Day Council,
State Government and Pyengana Hall Committee. The
work was largely done by community members with the
assistance of Council.
It was a pleasure to work with these community
members who not only did a lot of the hard yards but
took real ownership of the project.
While both of these townships are small, they certainly
punch above their weight in terms of the events they
hold in their areas and these amenity blocks will certainly
get a heavy use; Pyengana during their wood chop
events and rostered football games and at Mathinna
when they host their large rally events.

Official opening of the Pyengana ablution block
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Environmental Services
Ensure sustainable management of natural and built resources is respectful to
our unique location

Public Health, Environmental Monitoring and Reporting
Monitoring Programs

Relevant legislative requirements are specified in the
Public Health Act 1997

Type of sampling conducted: Bacteriological – indicator
organisms Entrecocci/100ml

Council monitors six beaches for compliance with the
Public Health Act 1997 and the Recreational Water
Quality Guidelines 2007.

Sampling Details

Water Sampling was conducted once a month from
December 2016 to March 2017.
Results of the water sampling are below:
BEACH

7/12/16

11/1/17

1/2/17

1/3/17

Grants Lagoon

10

20

<10

<10

Beauty Bay

<10

<10

<10

<10

Wrinklers Lagoon

<10

<10

<10

20

Scamander River

41

<10

<10

<10

Henderson Lagoon

<10

<10

10

<10

Yarmouth Creek

10

10

31

10

2016/2017 Registrations
Food Registrations = 102
Food Stalls = 28
Food Vans = 9
Private Water Licences = 82

Immunisations

Immunisation programs were conducted for children
in Grade 7, in addition to any catch-up vaccinations
for children up to the age of 19 in compliance with the
Immunisation Program required by the Department of
Health and Human Services.
In 2016/2017 a total of 175 children were vaccinated
and a total of 251 vaccines administered.
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Natural Resource Management (NRM)
Natural Resource Management highlights for the year
included two more Break O’Day Green Army projects,
the East Coast Whale Trail and recovery from the severe
floods in June 2016.
Break O’Day’s NRM programs and activities are delivered
through Council’s partnership with NRM North and
our NRM Facilitator, working with Council and its NRM
Committee, and supporting the many community
groups, residents, farmers and visitors with their NRM
achievements.
This year over 600 people participated in NRM activities
and working bees, 150 of them new participants, and
community groups from Ansons Bay to Seymour and
Mangana were undertaking NRM work. Thousands of
hectares of native habitats have been protected and
thousands of weeds controlled.

Green Army

Break O’Day Green Army came to an end this year
with the last of four projects. The two teams this year
continued with their diverse work programs on sites
from Eddystone Point to beyond Seymour, the Blue Tier

and Fingal Valley. The work experience and confidence
the 30 young local participants gained has been a
great outcome for Green Army. Their focus though
was protecting our native wildlife, for which over 700
hectares of habitat was protected from weed invasion
and 1500 native trees planted in the Fingal Valley.
They stabilised erosion sites and walking trails, mapped
weeds infestations, cleaned up rubbish in the bush,
built nesting boxes for swift parrots and controlled
invasive pines, bridal creeper, sea spurge, gorse, pampas
grass, ‘garden escapes’ and many other weeds. The
Green Army teams worked with and for the indigenous
community, landholders and farmers, community groups,
Council and the Parks and Wildlife Service.
The Green Army projects were hosted by a partnership
between Council, the Parks and Wildlife Service
and North East Bioregional Network and involving
local community groups. Teams were employed and
supervised by Conservation Volunteers Australia.

The Green Army team planting habitat corridors across the Fingal Valley
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East Coast Whale Trail

Council worked with other East Coast councils and the
Tasmanian Marine Conservation Program to create the
East Coast Whale Trail, a string of viewing sites along
the Great Eastern Drive for viewing whales and includes
whale stories and information.
The trail was an immediate success after its launch in
Break O’Day in September with people using the sites
and learning about whales. Numerous new whale
sightings were reported and added to conservation
records and knowledge and the trail is another attraction
for visitors to the region.
The Trail was made possible with Commonwealth
funding grants to East Coast councils, who then
collaborated with Tasmanian government agencies and
the East Coast Regional Tourism Organisation to create
the trail.

Floods

This year was marked by the clean-up of severe storms
and flooding experienced in June 2016 which inundated
the main street of St Marys.
Council removed willows along St Marys Rivulet to
alleviate flood risks and is progressively replacing
them with more flood-friendly and sustainable native
streambank vegetation using a riverbank erosion grant
from NRM North.
Council was also successful in obtaining $40,000 funding
from the Natural Disaster Resilience Grants Program to
provide longer term flood management planning using
computer modeling of floods in St Marys to prove the
best risk reduction solutions.
Through NRM North, Council also helped deliver
state flood recovery support to Break O’Day residents,
supporting landholders to access assistance and several
who have been offered tens of thousands of dollars of
funding from the Agricultural Landscape Rehabilitation
Scheme, including the Lower George Riverworks Trust.

Members of the public making use of the Whale Trail information and viewing platforms.
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Community Engagement and Action

Community is core business for Council’s NRM programs
and its partner NRM North – it is the community and
landholders who benefit, and do most for the natural
environment and sustainable use of natural resources.
Council supported and encouraged involvement and
participation throughout the year of community groups,
individuals and organisations with activities and events,
information and advice and access to funding programs
to do work on the land.
The busy summer months are always popular and
Council partnered with the Parks and Wildlife Service
and their Discovery Ranger program
again to involve over 150 people in coastal ‘roves’ and
activities such as a shorebird walk, Aboriginal culture day
at Blue Tier and Wild Backyards activity at St Marys. The
Bay of Fires Celebration drew 130 people to its nature
walks and entertainment from local musicians on the
Green at Binalong Bay.

Community members listening to Discovery Ranger Liz explaining
the habitat of larapuna.

Council staff participating in Clean Up Australia Day

Over one hundred volunteers covered the beaches
between The Gardens and wukalina/Mt William during
the year to rid them of sea spurge and clean them of
about 100kg of mostly plastic and glass marine rubbish.
Council partnered with the Parks and Wildlife Service
and the Bay of Fires Lodge for the three day ‘larapuna/
Bay of Fires Community Weekend’ in July; and this was
followed in February by a 'big beach walk’ organised
jointly with the Hub4Health walking group to make sure
the Policemens Point to The Gardens beaches were
covered.
Council’s community engagement includes its NRM
Committee, which is a valued stakeholder reference
group. This year was notable for the retirement of Aunty
Gloria Andrews from the Committee after eight years
representing the continuing connection to the land of
Aboriginal Tasmanians.

Volunteers tackling sea spurge on the larapuna/Bay of Fires
Community Weekend 2016

"Wildbackyards' in St Marys with Discovery Ranger Liz
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Weed Management
This Financial Year Council employed a Weed Program
Coordinator part time to manage weeds on Council
owned property. This decision was motivated by our
recognition that weeds are a threat to our land based
industries and our environmentally sensitive areas.
More than 65,000 square metres of weeds have been
treated this financial year totalling over 57,000 weeds
and includes spanish heath, gorse, blackberry, ragwort,
pampas grass, african boxthorn and other environmental
weeds (blue periwinkle, sweet pittosporum, mirror bush
etc).
The Weed Program Coordinator’s number one priority
this year has been establishing a record management
system that incorporates mapping, recording, treatment
information and scheduled follow up.
This system is particularly useful for recording treatment
information like; what, how many, where, how and
follow up options. It is also useful for noting follow up
instructions like the efficiency of treatment i.e. kill rate
and whether any further actions will need to be taken.
A comprehensive Weed Management Program has also
been developed and implemented. The program assists
in gaining an even more in depth understanding into
the distribution and weed density in different areas of
the municipality. Having this information will provide
the basis for future planning and can be used as a
prioritisation tool, not only for where the weeds are but,
sometimes more importantly, where they are not. This
will enable the Council to be more proactive rather than
reactive when it comes to weed management.
We have now established priority areas for weed

management which are determined based on
environmental sensitivity, value of assets, economic
value, and also includes isolated infestations, edges of
infestation or lone plants and programs raised though
public concern. Council has also been supporting private
landowners who are making a concerted effort to
eradicate and control weeds on their land by planning
and executing treatment plans on adjoining council
managed land.
The Weed Program Coordinator is also developing
localised management plans as required; for example,
a Weed Management Plan for the St Helens Point Road
Intersection Upgrade has been completed. A Kings Park
Weed Management Plan has also been developed and
implementation has begun.
The integration of weed management into everyday
work activities, although in its infancy, has commenced.
This will occur over stages, initially with small weed
treatment projects for the outdoor crews, aiming to
establish the knowledge of what to look for and knowing
the right approach for treatment. Works teams have also
been encouraged to pass on sightings of weeds either
verbally or with a photo. It is envisioned that in time,
weed management will take on an OH&S like role in
normal work practices and be incorporated, in everyday
activity; see it, deal with it, record it.
The graph below shows treated number and areas that
are in the Council’s treatment records – therefore this
does not include any work that the Green army has
completed.

Weed Species

Number of Plants

Area Treated (m2)

Spanish Heath

36379

33618

Gorse

20517

31050

Mirror Bush

150

50

Pampas Grass

105

270

Sweet Pittosporum

73

35

Blackberry

62

100

Ragwort

40

17

Bluebell Creeper

34

112

Blue Periwinkle

20

20

African Boxthorn

3

3

TOTAL

57383

65275
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Community Services
Build capacity to improve community spirit and enhance a sense of well-being
A community working together through strong local
and regional partnerships – Council works in partnership
with the community, non-government and Government
agencies to meet the social, health, emergency
management, sport and recreational and cultural needs
of our municipality with the focus on community being
the leaders and Council the facilitators. An example
of how Council works together is that we formed a
partnership with the Royal Flying Doctor Service to
ensure the provision of health services within our
community.
Council supports community organisations to run
events, holds events itself and works in partnership
with local organisations to ensure that special occasions
are celebrated within our community, for example
celebrating our seniors and thanking our volunteers.
The Community Services department has been involved
in supporting and running many events through out the
financial year from across the municipality. Some events
this support can be in helping organisers through the
application process or ensuing they have access to all the
resources they may need. For example the Community
Services team helped organisers of the St Marys Car
show, Fingal Valley Coal Festival, Pyengana Woodchop
and football match, the state league netball matches the
annual Christmas parades and much more.
Following is a bit more information about some of the
events that Council staff were heavily involved in.

Australia Day Event

On Wednesday January 26, 2017, Council’s Community
Services department ran the very successful Australia
Day event at the Portland Hall and Memorial Park.
The feedback received from the community was positive
with more than 500 people attending the event. There
was delectable food, wine and beer, kid’s entertainment,
market stalls with local produce and music to dance or
just sit in the sun and enjoy.
Australia Day was run with a few points of difference this
time round, including a pre organised 0-5yr and 6-8yr
colouring-in competition. The competition sheets were
distributed to all local schools, child care and child and
family centres, with over 50 entries received. All entrants
were presented with a special individual prize at the
Australia Day official ceremony.
Five local community celebrities were selected to take
part in a Pie eating competition which was a real hit
on the day! Thanks to St Helens Bakery for supplying
enough pies for the competition, the public even had a
go at consuming as many pies in the quickest time!
The Lamington and Pavlova Bake-off judged by local
foodies was not the most successful competition out of
them all. The perception was that the local chefs and
cooks would be baking off. The key to promotion of this
particular competition for the 2018 event will be to
advertise that the bake-off as an amateur / home cook
competition. We thank Jo Palmer, our Australia Day
Ambassador for being part of our special events and
impromptu comparing.

The competitors of the Australia Day pie eating competition preparing themselves for the challenge
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St Helens Regatta Rocks On

The St Helens Rotary Regatta was to be no more for
2017, with the Rotary Club of St Helens deciding not to
go ahead with the event.
A local car enthusiast group, East Coast Car Club seized
the opportunistic date and location and proposed a rocka-billy car show, which then morphed in to the St Helens
Regatta Rocks On. A keen group of local community
groups then formed an informal committee to drive the
event. Council officers played a leading role with assisting
the committee to gain the appropriate approvals and
guide them through the paperwork required from all of
the vendors wishing to participate in the event, as well
as prepare and execute a highly successful marketing
campaign including media releases and a Facebook page.
This is something that Council has not been required
to do in the past however we felt the event was too
important to the local community, economy and visitor
calendar not to help ensure the event continued to be a
success.
The St Helens Regatta Rocks On Committee wanted
to ensure there were some of the same attractions
as previous years including water sports, woodchops,
Xtreme rides, food and wine but with the addition of a
distinctive rock-a-billy vibe that included; a huge dance
floor constructed locally for dancing, a massive car show
with over 200 vintage and modern day cars, helicopter
rides and a family orientated relaxed feel, not to mention
the explosive speed boat show on the foreshore.
Finishing the night was a spectacular display of fireworks

generously sponsored by ChilliFM. Some say it was the
‘best event ever’ held in St Helens. It is predicted that on
the Saturday there were around 20,000 people in and
around St Helens.
The St Helens Regatta Rocks On was a huge success and
some local businesses reported they had a bumper of a
trade for the weekend!

26 TEN

Council was successful in obtaining funding under the
Community Education – 26TEN project. This allowed
Council the opportunity to engage a Community Officer
to work within the community.
The community awareness campaign is about creating
awareness around the importance of numeracy
and literacy and at the same time encouraging the
community to start talking about these issues.
The campaign involves a community engagement and
media campaign. Community engagement includes
attending local events, delivering workshops, engaging
businesses and organisations to become members,
mobilizing a volunteer network, and encouraging adults
to participate in literacy programs. The Media Campaign
is a balance of printed media in newspapers and other
local publications, social media updates via Facebook,
letterbox drops, radio ads and interviews to promote
events and the 26TEN strategy.

The rock-a-billy band and dance floor were a big hit at the St Helens Regatta Rocks On event.
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Learner Driver Mentor Program - Get In2 Gear
The Learner Driver Mentor Program consistently
averaged 69.62 hours per month for period July 1,
2016 – June 30, 2017, with 15.58 average drivers. The
programme is delivering a vital and positive service to
the Learners in regards to their self-worth, engagement
and general confidence. On average for this period we
were achieving three licences a month. Over this period,
we have also seen an increase in International learners
who have relocated to the area and seeking a transport
option.
The program is especially valuable to our disengaged
community members as the program supports
confidence growth and guides them to becoming
contributors to the local economy by gaining

employment. One learner driver achieved full time local
employment in this current year.
The program teaches commitment, responsibility and
punctuality, whilst enabling the unlicensed to become
licenced and ensuring that the policies and procedures
are adhered to i.e. No Drugs or Alcohol tolerated.
The Project Coordinator and Mentors all agree that
encouraging the learners to make their own bookings
is positively working towards them achieving a sense of
commitment and accountability to the program, which is
essentially ensuring the program, is sustainable.
Get In 2 Gear has this year, been servicing learners from
Mathinna, Fingal, St Marys and even the local Doctor in
Bicheno.
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What our Learner Drivers had to say about the program
"‘As I got older I was getting more and more anxious
about even the thought of driving. I felt unreliable,
isolated and was constantly depending on others. I put
myself down that I couldn’t do something that seemed
so simple to others. The program broke learning down
into achievable pieces, built my confidence and even
gave me enthusiasm to learn! After passing my Ps test
(a huge achievement for me) I have new confidence and
independence and am now working in my dream job.
The program taught me not only to drive, but also to
be proud of small progress. I owe such a huge thanks to
BOD Council and the people that volunteer their time to
make this possible. " Matilda Moylan-Blakey
"Being able to be taught by a Council member to drive
showed me that the Council do care about people and
now that I have my P1’s I have found my freedom thank
you Council." Les Jones
Des McGrath gets his licence back after letting it lapse for 5 years.

"The Learner Driver mentor program of the council is
an extremely important program. It provided me with
the support and guidance I needed to pass the practical
driving test as part of my overseas conversion of driving
licence.
As a very busy general practitioner with limited time,
it will have been very difficult, if not impossible to
attend have certified instructor provide guidance for
the practical driving assessment as there are no driving
school in the East Coast. This will have required my
taking time off at the detriment of my patients.
My appreciation to Council for coming up with this
immensely beneficial program. I do hope that council will
continue to sustain it. Special thanks to Ms Erica Lowly
and Ms Chris Hughes for their help." O. Stephen Omenka

Les Jones proudly showing off his P plates

Learner Driver Trish Brown with her driving mentor Tony Greer
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THRIVE - Transforming Health Relationships Innovation Vocation and Education
Community consultation undertaken by St Helens
Neighbourhood House in partnership with Council
and the local School in September 2014, led to the
development of a framework for action. This framework
provided solutions to issues identified by our community
across a spectrum of social determinants to health such
as Transport, Employment, Early Childhood, Lifestyle
Choices and Environment.
Partnerships were formed with St Helens
Neighbourhood House, Break O’Day Council, St Helens
District High School and LINC Literacy Services for the
purpose of working collaboratively in mutually beneficial
activities. These activities must be in the interest of
developing the shared vision and purpose; To activate
and connect the community to empower Break O’Day
people to lead meaningful lives and create successful
futures. This partnership is called THRIVE and our aim is
to build relationships, futures and give our community an
increased sense of pride and empowerment.
Currently we have a number of projects and programs
running under THRIVE
Training Program
We have an active training program that provides
free, targeted, certified and non-certified training to
community members at no or low cost.
Mentorship Program
The THRIVE Mentoring program was launched in 2016
and provides each student with a caring and supportive
relationship that can help them through school and
enable them to be better equipped for further education
and future employment. Every mentoring relationship is
designed to be flexible and meet each student’s specific
individual needs aiming to improve their self-esteem,

health and overall outcomes and attendance at school.
A recent evaluation of this program saw the majority of
the students saying that their mentoring time was very
important to them.
Social Enterprise
Council provided a parcel of land in Annie Street, St
Helens for the development of a community garden.
The aim of the community garden is to deliver a social
enterprise scheme where our community can access •
Employment opportunities in horticulture;
•
Access to affordable fresh fruit and vegetables 		
for those vulnerable and on low income in our 		
community;
•
Mutual obligation and volunteering 			
opportunities;
•
Skills and knowledge sharing; and
•
Work experience.
Build Project
The THRIVE Build Project is another exciting initiative
under the THRIVE Partnership and is taking place at
the St Helens Trade Training Centre. This 18-month
project, will kick-start a social enterprise project that
aims to increase employment opportunities and address
housing issues. The project sees participants converting
used shipping containers into homes. The project will
potentially provide training towards a Certificate III in
Carpentry to 12 people over the next 18 months. The
first six participants have started and will receive wraparound support, including access to literacy mentors
and health professionals. They will also be mentored by
accredited, experienced tradespeople.

Volunteers hard at work in the Thrive Community garden
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The Bendigo Community Stadium

The Bendigo Community Stadium has now been in
operation for over 12 months and in this time has far
exceeded the expectations of Council in terms of usage
and cost.
Figures for the last financial year showed that the
stadium was used almost daily by local sporting clubs
including netball, basketball, football and tennis.
The Stadium has also hosted a Mental Health Expo
aimed at educating and empowering young people
around mental health issues. The event was attended
by students from both St Marys and St Helens District
High Schools and featured stalls and activities for the
students.
The stadium has also started to attract a lot of outside
interest from sporting groups and other organisations
looking for a large venue on the East Coast.
One example of this is the Stadium’s inclusion as a
regular fixture in the State League Netball Roster. The
Stadium was the first regional facility to host a match
outside of the city centres and draws crowds comparable

to those in the big cities.
Next year the Stadium will host a large, sporting event
the XPD which is anticipated to bring around 200
athletes from all over Australia who compete in an
expedition length adventure race that features mountain
biking, trekking and kayaking over three to six days. A
huge score for our area and community!
In financial terms, the Stadium is also performing
and the annual costs for the facility were well below
anticipated annual costs. The anticipated running costs
for the stadium were anticipated to be around $24,000
but came in at $17,499 – so a saving of almost $7000.
This is largely due to the installation of LED lights and
laser light panels which have reduced the anticipated
electrical costs of the stadium. This means we are well on
track to meet break even in five years’ time.
Council will continue to develop the Stadium in an effort
to continue to attract outside and local use.

The Bendigo Commuity Stadium
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Community Engagement Strategy
Council has formed a working group to develop a
Community Engagement Strategy – the group consists of
members of our community who have a common goal
to ensure that our community is engaged. The Strategy
will identify a process for community engagement,
ensure that the process is implemented by Council
staff and any consultants engaged by the Council and
also guarantee that the community is kept informed of
decisions deriving from the community engagement and
that our community has the opportunity to be involved
in the process.

The purpose of the Strategy is to:
•
•

Keep the community well informed about 		
Council’s activities and initiatives; and
Actively encourage the community to be 		
involved in the decision making process 			
providing the community with adequate time for
genuine and constructive consultation and 		
engagement.

The below flow chart has been derived by the group as
a workable process. Work will continue to complete the
Community Engagement Strategy.

Cycle of continued Improvement
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Economic Development
Achieve sustainable economic development
Increasing numbers of enquiries from businesses and
people looking to relocate to the Break O’Day area are
coming from within Tasmania and interstate. Council
assists in their plans by providing guidance through the
approval processes of Council and other agencies as well
as information ranging from statistics such
as visitor numbers and local demographics to local
services, contacts and attractions.
Interest from developers looking at opportunities in
the area is increasing. Council staff have been working
with seven such businesses over the last year ensuring
they have the information they require to determine
their project's viability. This work has resulted in
two significant development being approved with a
combined value of $13M. The developers estimate
their projects combined will require over 40 jobs during
construction stage with an ongoing requirement of more
than 20 full time jobs.
The variety of business enquiries is also increasing with
requests for information relating to ventures such as
distilleries, boutique breweries, specialty food products
as well as tourist attractions.

Developing the St Helens Aerodrome

Following a number of enquiries regarding hangar space
at the airport Council approved the construction of
one hangar. The hangar has one long-term tenant with
one other soon to move in. Activity at the airport has
increased attracting a club event with over 30 aircraft
staying overnight.
General business activity in the area is fueling interest
around the airport. This has prompted Furneaux Aviation
to purchase a helicopter to service Break O’Day.

The New hangar at the St Helens Aerodrome

Skills Audit

For new developments to be successful and
sustainable, an appropriately skilled workforce needs
to be maintained. Council has secured funding for a
Regional Skills Audit and Strategy to be conducted
for future proofing the economy of the region. This
project “A workforce for the future” will allow Council
to work with industry representatives and identify skills
shortage gaps in the current workforce and establish
the potential workforce needs of these industries over
the next five years. We can then work collaboratively
with employment, training and skills organisations to
implement an action plan that will ensure the right skills
based programs are being delivered in our area. This will
enable jobseekers in our area to undertake meaningful
training that offers more chance of employment in our
area.

Tourism

Tourism continues to be the significant industry for
the local economy. Visitor numbers to the East Coast
increased by 16% during 2016 and 2017 and St Helens
experienced an increase of 30% in the same period (TVS
Data)
Strong growth continued in the first quarter of 2016 with
growth continuing at 15%. Other economic indicators are
positive with a 17% increase in development applications
with an estimated value of $15M, an increase of $2M
from the previous year.

The Binalong Bay viewing Platform is a popular visitor spot.
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East Coast Regional Tourism Organisation

The East Coast Regional Tourism Organisation (ECRTO)
continues to be the focal point of Council’s support
to the industry and through a range of partnerships
with the ECRTO, Department of State Growth and
the Coordinator General’s Office a range of projects
continued or were commenced including:
•
Great Eastern Drive
•
Visitor Information Review
•
Destination Action Plan for St Helens
•
Town Entrance Signage
•
East Coast Future Visitor Accommodation
Demand Analysis

Business Enterprise Centre (BEC)

Council continues to provide support and work closely
with local businesses through its involvement and
support of the Business Enterprise Centre. In the 20162017 financial year Break O’Day Council provided funding
support for the Break O’Day Business Enterprise Centre
(BODBEC). This funding augments other income the BEC
receives from State and Commonwealth governments as
well as some consultancy work the Centre provides on a
fee for service basis.
Key to the success of the BODBEC is its watching brief
“to assist where necessary in the sustained growth of the
community’s small business sector”.
Through close liaison with Council’s Economic
Development Officer the BODBEC seeks every
opportunity to help our small businesses grow their
potential whilst being ever ready to embrace changing
and emerging markets.
In 2016-2017 the BEC attended to 290 clients in the
Break O’Day Municipality providing some 2064 services
to these. Of these 211 services were provided to
intending new residents prior to moving to Break O’Day.

The Bay of Fires is a big drawcard for visitors to our region

St Helens Mountain Bike Network and the
Bay Of Fires Descent:

Council is currently working through a comprehensive
approval process for the Bay of Fires Descent and the St
Helens Mountain Bike Network which includes, flora and
fauna, aboriginal heritage and more. Both these projects
will be sister trails to Blue Derby and combined add
about 112km to this already internationally renowned
trail network bringing it right to our doorstep.
Just like any other development in our area, Council are
required to submit a development application to ensure
we meet all legal requirements and that all boxes have
been checked and ticked off before the project can go
ahead.
We have been working with a team of experts in their
respective fields including, EcoTas, Aboriginal Heritage
Tasmania, Parks and Wildlife Services, Sustainable
Timber Tasmania, World Trail and Crown Land Services,
to ensure that both projects are environmentally
sustainable.
In order to progress these projects, we have applied
for funding at both a state and federal level. These
applications require comprehensive submissions that
include:
• A business case
• Trail management plan
• Project Management plan
• Risk Assessment plan and more.
This is all largely to demonstrate that the projects
will result in a significant economic return for our
community and are therefore a worthwhile investment
for Government.
To back up the economic return of the projects, in April
2016 TRC Tourism developed a report modelling the
economic impact of the trails. Some of the findings in
this report were:
• Based on two case studies of 35% and 60% increase
in MTB visitation, we would see an increase in spend

Halls Falls is just one of the many beautiful waterfalls in BOD.
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•

•

in the region of between $18M and $32M (This is a
reasonable assumption based on an increase in MTB
visitors of 121.1% according to TVS figures from
Sept. 2015 – Oct. 2016)
This information was based on visitor numbers
of 40,574 and 51, 735 and included interstate,
international and local users and based on an
average expenditure of interstate visitors - $320 per
day; intrastate visitors - $230 per night; day visitors
- $120 per day and locals from the immediate area $60 per day.
Employment opportunities of between 85.6 and
154.4 FTEs.

Already we have seen two new developments attracted
to our area as a result of these projects and we are
confident there will be more in the future.
But this project is not just about supporting our business
community by attracting more visitors to our region,
it is also about providing opportunities for our local
community.

These opportunities come in the form of employment
and skill development as local businesses expand and
new developments come to fruition. It also provides
opportunities for locals to get involved in mountain
biking, particularly our youth.
Already a local Mountain Bike Group has been formed
who will take on a vital role in the management of the
trails. Council has provided funding to work with a
group of disadvantaged youth who are refurbishing and
building mountain bikes to be used on the trails. This
program is not only about skill development it is about
engaging with the local community.
The commitment of the community to seize the
opportunities that these trail projects present has been
welcomed and celebrated by Council and we hope that
this eagerness to be a part of the project continues.

Some riders at the Blue Tier Trail Head.
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St Helens Visitor Information Centre
Develop and implement initiatives for appropriate tourism in the region

Staffing

The St Helens Visitor Information Centre (VIC) is capably
staffed by a core of two permanent part time employees,
supported by one casual and a team of 10 enthusiastic
and knowledgeable volunteers.
The VIC is open every day of every week, 9.00am to
5.00pm (except Good Friday, Christmas Day and Anzac
Day morning).
Rostering is used to ensure appropriate service levels,
given the strong seasonal nature of our visitor numbers.

Visitor Numbers

Like most of Tasmania and Australia, the VIC experienced
a drop in visitor numbers following the Global Financial
Crisis and large increase in the value of the Australian
dollar. It is pleasing to see the improving trend in the last
couple of years.
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Finances

Council is very aware that ratepayers’ funds are used to provide the visitor services at the VIC and actively seeks
opportunities to manage costs and improve revenues, while continuing to encourage increased visitation, bed
nights and visitor spend.
Financial year

2011/ 2012

2012/ 2013

2013/ 2014

2014/ 2015

2015/2016

2016/2017

Revenue

86,282

86,108

77,876

93,923

88,000

80,226

Expenditure

166,031

167,846

185,587

182,221

190,490

194,064

Cost of
Operation

79,749

81,738

107,711

88,298

102,490

113,837

Activities
The Tasmanian Visitor Information Network (VIN)
undertakes a range of training and professional
development activities each year. St Helens VIC
participated in some of these:
•
Two staff members attended the annual 		
conference at Cradle Mountain

•
•

Additionally, attendance is arranged at regional 		
meetings of the Network, usually at Swansea 		
and
Familiarisation trips are undertaken 			
by both staff and volunteers to maintain 		
awareness with accommodation and tourism 		
products in the municipality and nearby.

Aboriginal culture display at the St Helens History Room and Visitor Information Centre.
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St Helens History Room
Workshops
•
•
•
•

•

•

Labelling Workshop held at St Helens History 		
Room with Roving Curator, Veronica Macno.
Six volunteers attended.
Investigating Significant Costumes Workshop 		
with Kylie Winkworth, Arts Tasmania, Hobart. 		
Historical training session for guides with Life’s 		
An Adventure presented by Curator at St Helens
History Room
Curator attended the Australian Maritime 		
Museums Council (AMMC) workshop where 		
content for a new travelling exhibition 			
was worked on
Australian Register of Historic Vessels (ARHV) 		
Research Assistant, Peter Higgs, from the 		
Australian National Maritime Museum 			
visited St Helens History Room 				
four attended
WHS Presentation by Council WH&S Officer 		
Simone Ewald-Rist for all Volunteers at St Helens
History Room

Temporary Exhibitions
•
•
•
•
•
•

‘Our Chinese Connections’ (Foyer Cabinet Case 		
in Foyer 2016-2017)
‘Leisuretime’ (Museum Display Case)
‘The Way We Were’ (Main Museum)
‘Three Well Known Australians’ exhibition
‘Boats In Bottles’ exhibition
‘Hatches, Matches and Despatches’ exhibition

•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Seniors Guide, Valley Voice, Coastal 			
Column, ABC-NT Radio, CAS (Coach and 			
Accommodation Specialists), Articles for 		
The Mercury and The Examiner newspapers
Collection Policy, Interpretive Policy and 		
Interpretation Plan completed through 			
Roving Curators Program, Arts Tasmania (2016)
School visits: Taroona High School, Hobart; 		
St Helens District High School, two prep 			
classes; St Patricks Amazing Race 			
Year 9 girls and boys; St Helens District 			
High School 2 x 1/2 classes visited;
St Helens District High School, 2 X 1/2 			
classes visited
Highland Explorer Tour
Free Locals Month
Settlers display was revamped to include a local 		
chaffcutter to display
St Helens History Room featured in East Coast 		
summer tourism program
Holiday Coast Coach Tour, Port Macquarie
Medea Park Activity group visited
New World Tour, Hobart (Chinese tour group)
Australian Register of Historic Vessels (ARHV) 		
Research Assistant, Peter Higgs, from the 		
Australian National Maritime Museum visited 		
Article included on Georges Bay Barway in 		
the newsletter of the Maritime Museum 		
of Tasmania covering all the ports of Tasmania in
their March 2017 edition.

Ongoing Projects
Other Events
•
•
•
•

•

•

St Helens History Room Backroom Extension – 		
Community Infrastructure Funding project.
Interpretive Banners – Arts Tasmania funding 		
project
National Museum Standards Pilot Project – 		
Module one to be completed

•
Historical Machinery Club of Tasmania 			
Tasmanian Minerals and Energy Council hired 		 •
SHHR for their conference
Perspex cover built for the Anchor Stamper 		
model to conform to a Tag and Test audit 		 Entry 			
$5746
of the History Room
Donations		
$1509.30
Six attended Mannarlagenna Remembrance 		 TOTAL:			
$7255.30
Weekend at Tebrakunna Visitor Centre, 			
Musselroe where Governor Kate Warner 		 Visitor Numbers
960 Family/Couples
exchanged flags with the North East			 			329 Concession
Tasmanian Aboriginal community and unveiled 		 TOTAL:			1289
a plaque to Mannarlargenna.
Advertising in ‘China Explore’ . Regular 			 Volunteer Hours:
1589.85
advertising now in Travelways, Explore, 			
ArtsGuide, Australia’s Community 			
Heritage, East Coast Tasmania, Tourism 			
Tasmania, TripAdvisor, 					
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Works and Infrastructure

Ensure the efficient and effective provision of appropriate community assets
The Works Department is responsible for all Council
assets including roads, footpaths, stormwater, public
buildings, parks and reserves, playgrounds, cemeteries
and waste transfer stations.
This year the Works Department has been kept busy
with regular scheduled maintenance and an extensive

Asset Management

capital works program.
Our aim is always to provide safe and fit for purpose
infrastructure for our residents and visitors to our
municipality within allocated budgets. The coming year
will be jam packed with new projects and we’ll continue
to strive to meet the needs of our diverse community.

Council maintains the following amount of infrastructure
assets for the benefit and use of our community:

Lawry Heights, St Helens - $53,030

Sealed roads:					225 km
Unsealed roads:				325 km
Footpaths:					38 km
Kerb and gutters:				
71 km
Stormwater drainage:				62 km
Public buildings (including shelters and toilets): 145
Parks and reserves:				48
Playgrounds:					13
Cemeteries:					6
Waste Transfer Stations:			
7

Circassian Street, St Helens - $12,476

An extensive capital works program was undertaken this
year along with significant maintenance works.

St Helens Streetscape - $361,167
•

Installation of 590m2 footpath, 289 Lm kerb,
180 Lm subsoil drains, parking bays and street 		
furniture on the north-eastern side of 			
Cecilia Street and around into Quail Street.

•

•

Dig-out and reconstruct failed sections – 		
1411m2.
Installation of new school crossing to address 		
safety concerns and provide better access.

Four Mile Creek Road - $52,375
•

Installation of 132.4 Lm of stormwater main and
side entry pits.

Binalong Bay Road - $7659
•

Installation of boom gates at the causeway to 		
allow closure of the road when flooded.

Forest Lodge Road, Pyengana - $21,897
•

Reconstruction of 1390m2 of failed road.

Resheeting Program
•
•

North Ansons Bay Road - $81,502 (18050m2)
Eddystone Point Road - $44,803 (58,000m2 @ 		
25mm deep)
Upper Scamander Road - $20,845 (4500m2)
Lottah Road - $66,916 (10,983m2)
Ansons Bay Road - $100,560 (16,000m2)

Scamander Avenue stormwater - $82,980

•
•
•

Steel Street, Scamander - $9192

Resealing Program

Ansons Bay Road reconstruction - $43,590

Bridge Replacement Program

•

•

•

Installation of 128 Lm of new stormwater main 		
on the north-eastern side of the bridge.

Upgraded stormwater pits in kerb to capture 		
more water from the road.

Reconstruction of 4968 m of a failed section of 		
sealed road at Priory.
2

Weldborough Trail of the Tin Dragon
Carpark construction - $8532

•

•
•
•
•
•

55,177m2 of roads throughout the municipality 		
were resealed costing $235,499.

Cornwall Road bridge - $245,965
Tyne River bridge (1), Upper Esk - $123,600
Sling Pot Creek bridge, Upper Esk - $132,300
Tyne River bridge (2), Upper Esk - $156,415
Tyne River bridge (3), Upper Esk - $134,100
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Playground Revitalisation
•

Replacement, Stieglitz foreshore - $94,375
Including all new equipment, soft-fall, edging and
fence.

St Marys Recreation Ground Sealing Project
•

Footpath Works
•
•

Hilltop Drive, Binalong Bay - Main Road to 		
Reserve Street - $30,400
St Helens Sports Stadium to Tully Street - $2535

Drainage and sealing project, $46,107.

Asset Management Activities

In the last financial year Council has added/renewed a
number of assets to the Asset Register including:
•
Four toilet blocks
•
One new BBQ and shelter
•
Resealed 63,028m2 of various sealed roads
•
Resheeted sections of Nth Ansons Bay Rd 		
(3610 l/m or 18,050m²), Ansons Bay Rd 			
(3200 l/m or 16,000m2), Upper Scamander Rd 		
900 l/m or 4,500m2), Eddystone Pt Rd (11,601 		
l/m or 58,000m2), Tyne Rd (2,380 l/m or 		
10,027m2)
•
Two playground replacements
•
Taken over Poimena Rd adding 3.81km 			
of unsealed roads, 41 culvert pipes (including 17
replacement/new culvert pipes) and one bridge
•
Stormwater assets including 21 side entry pits, 		
838.6m of stormwater mains, 8 manholes
•
Six bridges replaced
•
Taken over one new gravel pit
•
Added 125m of new kerb

Asset management activities include ongoing and
frequent footpath inspections, playground inspections/
audits, road inspections, stormwater manhole
inspections (including adding invert levels data),
compiling data for, measuring and inspections of reseal/
resheet works, update and complete capital works
forms, check and measure capital works jobs, check
validity and update asset registers including Moloneys
Asset Management software, undertake traffic counts,
various other duties.

The works crew resheeting Ansons Bay Road.
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Playground and BBQ area Stieglitz

As part of Council’s ongoing playground renewal
program, this year we tackled the Stieglitz playground
near the boat ramp on St Helens Point Road.
A popular stop for families to enjoy due to its location to
Georges Bay and the boat ramp as well as being close to
many shacks and houses, this area was in need of some
love to make it more usable and enjoyable for families,
both local and visiting.
The makeover of this area included brand new play
equipment, new barbecue area and shelter
The play equipment chosen was nautical in theme and
incorporated swingset with disability friendly swing, boat
styled slide and jungle gym as well as a rocking boat. The
play area was finished with some safety fencing.
Really complementing the area now and adjacent to the
new playground, is a brand new barbecue area which is
free to use and positioned to look out over Georges Bay.
The barbecue area is complete with an outdoor shower
which means after a morning of boating and swimming
at Georges Bay, the whole family can come back, wash
the salt and sand off with a quick shower and then enjoy
a snag on the barbecue.

Management of our Waste Transfer Stations
This year Council made the decision to take back over
management of our Waste Transfer Stations. This
decision was made on the basis of increasing efficiencies
and reducing operational expenditure but was also about
ensuring the stations were fit for purpose now and into
the future.
The St Helens Waste Transfer was the first to be
upgraded which is designed to make it easier for
residents to recycle via an improved layout and to ensure
we are diverting as much waste from landfill as possible.
Apart from looking at the layout of the stations, we have
also been doing some educational work across all sites
with our waste attendants to make sure they are ready
to help the community make good decisions around
waste.
One thing that Council would like residents to consider
is the Tip Shop at St Helens; sometimes it is true that
one man’s trash is another man’s treasure, so before you
dump it consider whether it might be of use to someone
else. All money made at the tip shops goes to the
Hospital Auxiliaries and therefore to our community. The
current goal for the St Helens Hospital Auxiliary is to raise
money to purchase furnishings for the new hospital.

The new playground at Stieglitz

Page 49

Ryans Road bridge loss and replacement

Major flooding across Tasmania in June 2016 damaged
or destroyed many bridges, including a 3-span timber
structure where Ryans Road crosses the Scamander River
at Upper Scamander. This bridge forms the designated
access to a small number of properties on the North
side of the river and links to the major forestry route of
Eastern Creek Road. A meeting of affected residents was
immediately convened to discuss a suitable replacement
while BODC workers salvaged one of the spans from
downstream to form an emergency low-level crossing.
The cause of failure was investigated with the findings
reflected in the replacement specification when tenders
were advertised for design-and-construction of a 100year lifetime concrete structure. Flood relief funding
was provided by the joint Australian Government - State
Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements
(NDRRA) for a bridge at the old level and alignment, but
anchored into bedrock and designed to withstand the
periodic inundation whenever the River rages.

Argonaut Road Bridge

Funding received through the Australian Government’s
Bridges Renewal Programme - Round 2, has enabled
council to replace the Argonaut Road bridge over the
Golden Fleece Rivulet during the 2016-2017 financial
year.
Aligned with the Australian Government’s National
Land Transport Network objective to assist national
and regional economic and social development
and improving the performance of land transport
infrastructure. The project was undertaken with the aims

of improving the safety and productivity outcomes of
heavy vehicle operations within the municipality.
At a cost of $1.3million and a funding contribution of
$628,000 the original single-lane and load limited timber
bridge has been replaced with a two-lane concrete
structure with a design service life of 100 years. Newly
aligned road approaches provide improved sight distance
for motorists.
The project provides increased access surety for both
residents and heavy vehicles using Argonaut Road and
aims to reduce the incidence of vehicle crashes.
Designed and constructed by VEC Civil Contracting
Pty Ltd, the new bridge complies with current design
standards and was opened to traffic on the 31 July 2017.

Parnella Landslip Local Area Drainage

Significant funding was made available in 2015 by the
State Government to assist with works to address the
findings of a major investigation by Mineral Resources
Tasmania into chronic landslip issues in the gazetted
Parnella Landslip A Zone. Some of that funding has
been put towards major upgrades of drainage, which
are intended to reduce the groundwater infiltration
which was nominated as the prime cause of escarpment
erosion. Council has also availed itself of State interestfree loan funds to enable continuation of what will need
to be a long-term program. Local residents will have
noticed the on-going presence of civil contractors in the
latter part of this year, and when works are complete will
enjoy flooding protection against much larger rain storms
than that which is provided in stable land areas.

Works underway for the Argonaut Bridge replacement.
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Dog Control

During 2016-2017, total impoundments were 40 dogs,
including 11 dogs that were surrendered to Break O’Day
Council. 14 of these dogs were re-homed during this
period and we are very proud of this achievement. 22 of
the impounded dogs were released back to their owners.
Unfortunately, four dogs were euthanised during this
period. Euthanasia is the very last resort and Council
does all it can to avoid this scenario, including keeping
dogs for much longer than legally required and sending
dogs to re-homing facilities around the state. All four
dogs which were euthanised during this financial year
were due to their aggression/behavior. Council has a
duty of care not to release dogs back into the public if
they have been deemed a risk to people and/or other
animals.

When a dog is impounded, Council first looks for a
microchip or reference of registration in order to contact
the owner. This is why having your dog registered and
microchipped is not only the law, but the best way for
quick identification if they do become lost.
After three days in the pound, dogs become the property
of Council and become available for adoption. The search
for a forever home then starts with a photo and any
background information on the dog being shared on
Break O’Day Council’s Facebook page and website.
Social media has vastly sped up the process for reuniting
lost dogs and the re-homing process. Any Facebook posts
featuring a dog are top performing with many people
liking and sharing the posts, enabling us to reach a much
wider audience.

Over the last two financial years:
•
Total impoundments were up by 4
•
Surrendered dogs were down by 7
•
Re-homed dogs were down by 7
•
Released dogs were up by 7, and
•
4 dogs were euthanised in 2016/2017, compared
with 0 in the previous year
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Hank and his son were surrendered to Council and successfully rehomed together.
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Legislative Requirements
Contributions/Donations

The total amount contributed or otherwise granted by the Break O’Day Council for the 2016 -2017 financial year was
$152,359.
Some of the contributions and donations made by Council during 2016/2017, not including Community Grant
Program, include;

Description
East Coast Masters Golf Tournament
SVIC Qld Expo
Spring Ball Youth Event
Annual Sponsorship 2016 - 2017
Annual Sponsorship 2016- 2017
Annual Funding for Directory 2016 -2017
Council Annual Funding 2016-2017
Council Support 10/16.14.2.240
2016- 2017 Annual Sponsorship
Annual Contribution to BOD SES Unit
2016- 2017 Annual Contribution
2016/2017 Council Contribution Sponsorship
2016 Annual School Prizes Monies
2017 Bay of Fires Winter Arts Festival
Council Support 10/16.14.2.240
Suicide Recovery Event 12/12/2016
Annual Contribution 2016- 2017
2016- 2017 Contribution to Annual Event
2016- 2017 Contribution to Annual Event
2016-2017 Council Support
2016- 2017 Council Support
2016-2017 Council Support
Council Contribution 2016-2017 (Balance)
Tour de Cure BBQ
2016-2017 Event Council Support
2016/2017 Suicide Golf Day
Support towards Table Tennis Activity
2016-2017 Community Support - Council
2016/2017 Support Community - Council

Recipient
Scamander River Golf Club
Dorset Council
St Helens Neighbourhood House
The Portland Endurance Club Inc.
St Helens Marine Rescue
Business Enterprise Centre
Greater Esk Tourism
Business Enterprise Centre
Fingal Valley Festival
SES
St Helens Little Athletics
St Helens Athletics Club
ST Helens District High School
Bay Of Fires Arts Association
Business Enterprise Centre
St Helens Neighbourhood House
St Helens Ministers Fraternal
St Helens Rotary Club
East Coast Car Club
St Helens Surf Angling Club
St Helens Game Fishing Club
10 Days on the Island
10 Days on the Island
St Marys Community Car and Bike Show
St Helens Neighbourhood House
St Helens Volunteer Ambulance Group
Lions Club of St Helens

Amount
1,500.00
200
400
500
3,000.00
2,000.00
2,500.00
12,727.27
2,000.00
17,000.00
2,500.00
2,500.00
500
14,000.00
12,727.27
150
1,600.00
3,000.00
3,000.00
1,000.00
2,000.00
5,454.55
545.45
97.22
2,000.00
1,000.00
1,800.00
1,000.00
1,000.00
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Rates and Charges

Rates and Charges
•
Rates and Charges written off for the period:
$7,533
•
Rate remissions/donations provided by Council:
$64,892
•
Pensioner Rebates funded by State Government:
$381,933

Donation of Land Statement

Section 72(1)(da) of the Local Government Act 1993
requires Council to report on details of any land donated
by Council during the year. During 2016/2017, Break
O’Day Council made no such donations of land.

Enterprise Power Statement

Section 72(1)(ca) of the Local Government Act 1993
requires Council to provide a statement of activities
and performance of the Council in relation to any
activity undertaken pursuant to Section 21 of the Local
Government Act 1993 during the reporting period.
Break O’Day Council did not exercise any of its enterprise
powers under Section 21 of the Local Government Act
1993 during the reporting period.

Code of Conduct Complaints

During the 2016-2017 Financial Year there were no
upheld Code of Conduct complaints, either wholly or in
part and no cost incurred to Council.

Sunlit Georges Bay.
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Contracts/Tenders

The following contracts/tenders were awarded during 2016/2017
with a value greater than $50,000.
Description

Period of Contract

St Helens Streetscape Upgrade –
030\001\095

Completed by end
of October 2016

Crushing in Council Quarries – Halfway Hill
and Billy Taylor - 038\003\001

2016/2017,
2017/ 2018 and
2018/2019

2016 / 2017 Bituminous Surfacing Program –
030\001\086

Completed by end
of June 2017

Bridge No 1941 – Argonaut Road Bridge,
Golden Fleece Rivulet – 030\001\096

30 June 2017

Construction of Parnella Drainage Upgrade –
030\001\087

Completed by end
of September 2017

2016 / 2017 Bridge Replacement Package –
030\001\097

March 2017 –
February 2018

Bridge No 1128 – Design and Construction
March 2017 –
of Ryans Road Bridge, Scamander River –
February 2018
030\001\098 – 3 FEBRUARY
Sale and Purchase of Grader – 030\001\014 – March 2017
23 FEBRUARY

Value
Name
Ex. GST
$377,458.00 Crossroads
Civil
Contracting
$5.50 per Fieldwicks
tonne Crushing &
$11.70 per Screening
tonne
$225,769.70 Venarchie
Contracting
Pty Ltd
$1,290,858.00 VEC Civil
Engineering
Pty Ltd
$590,202.76 Civilscape
Contracting
Tasmania
$435,878.00 VEC Civil
Engineering
Pty Ltd
$498,600.00 BridgePro
Engineering
Pty Ltd
$309,000.00 Hitachi
Construction
Machinery of
Australia

Address
Rocherlea,
TAS
East
Devonport,
TAS

Mowbray,
TAS
Ulverstone,
TAS
Highclere,
TAS
Ulverstone,
TAS
Latrobe, TAS

Mowbray,
TAS

Ryans Road Bridge Replacement.
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Right to Information

Council received four requests for information under the
Right to Information Act 2009.

Public Interest Disclosure Statement

Current public interest disclosure procedures are
available in Council’s Policy LG30 – Public Interest
Disclosure which can be viewed or downloaded from
Council’s website - www.bodc.tas.gov.au/council/councildocuments/policies.
Disclosures during 2016/2017:
The number and types of disclosures made to Break
O’Day Council during the year and the number of those
disclosures that the Council determined to be public
interest disclosures - Nil
The number of disclosures determined by Break
O’Day Council to be public interest disclosures that it
investigated during the year - Nil
The number and types of disclosed matters referred to
Break O’Day Council during the year by the Ombudsman
- Nil
The number and types of disclosed matters referred
during the year by Break O’Day Council to the
Ombudsman to investigate - Nil

Financial Assistance Grants
to Local Government

Break O’Day Council receives approximately $2.6 million
in Financial Assistance Grants (FAG’s) each financial year.
This is of vital importance to Council and our community
because:
• It is a significant source of funds; and
• Unlike many other grants and subsidies, it is
“untied”, that is, Council has complete flexibility
to use these funds to achieve identified priority
outcomes
Council utilises these funds in many ways to protect
and maintain assets and infrastructure within the
community:
• Capital and major maintenance works on Council 		
owned/managed built facilities, eg halls, toilet 		
blocks, BBQ facilities, etc.
• Undertake road and street upgrades, streetscape 		
works, footpaths, etc in townships.
• Bridge replacement programs.
• Natural Resource Management and community 		
development activities, and more.

The number and types of investigations of disclosed
matters taken over by the Ombudsman from Break O’Day
Council during the year - Nil
The number and types of disclosed matters that Break
O’Day Council has decided not to investigate during the
year – Nil
The number and types of disclosed matters that were
substantiated on investigation and the action taken on
completion of the investigation - Nil
Any recommendations of the Ombudsman under this
Act that relate to Break O’Day Council - Nil
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Financial Snapshot
Income
Rates and Charges

8,613,858

Statutory fees and fines

108,518

User Fees

825,795

Grants

4,452,231

Contributions Cash

84,067

Interest

267,427

Capital Grants received specifically for new or upgraded assets

1,283,291

Investment Revenue from water corporation

596,447

Other Income

185,648

Rates and Charges
Statutory fees and fines
User Fees
Grants
Contributions Cash
Interest
Capital Grants received specifically for
new or upgraded assets
Investment Revenue from water
corporation
Other Income
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Expenses
Employee benefits

3,934,591

Materials and Services

4,655,976

Depreciation and amortisation

3,359,005

Finance Costs

362,450

Other Expenses

590,813

Fire Levy

317,459

Light and Power

208,281

Community Support and donations

134,437

Employee benefits
Materials and Services
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance Costs
Other Expenses
Fire Levy
Light and Power
Community Support and donations
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By Function
Government and administration

632,340

Roads, streets, bridges and drainage

5,222,794

Planning and Building Services

695,022

Community Services and amenities

1,802,314

Economic Development

293,568

Waste management

1,870,991

Environmental Health

407,968

Other - non-attributable

2,628,061

Government and administration
Roads, streets, bridges and drainage
Planning and Building Services
Community Services and ameneities
Economic Development
Waste management
Environmental Health
Other - non-attributalble
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Annual Plan
2016 - 2017
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Goal: Community Building

Build capacity to improve community spirit and enhance a sense of wellbeing.
Strategy - Utilise existing skills and resources within our community to enhance the wellbeing of our community
Activities
THRIVE
Work in partnership with local community organisations targeting improvement
in learning, wellbeing and employment
outcomes

Measure of Success
Funding secured to undertake
a skills audit to identify training needs

Resp
MCtyS

Review
ACHIEVED
Social Enterprise project –
works have commenced at the
Community Garden following
receipt of grant funding of
$50,000 – Volunteers have
commenced plantings – Work
for the Dole participants two are
also working on this
project. Two supervisors
share the management of the
Community Garden project and
training sessions are planned to
commence shortly

Social Enterprise project –
Community Garden – Supervisor appointed and 10 people
engaged to learn new skills

Appointment of 26TEN
worker and 5 plain English
workshops are delivered

Secured funding of $75,000 to
undertake a skills audit to identify training needs from State
Government
26 Ten Worker commenced
October, 2016.
Local businesses have joined the
26 TEN program, two businesses
are now running programs to
support their workforce around
adult literacy. Two workshops
are currently in the planning
stage with local businesses
hosting same
Learner Driver Program

Funding secured to support
program.

Develop the sustainability of the program
through external funds and increased
Number of mentors – 10
program participation.
Number of Mentees - 25

MCtyS

PARTIALLY ACHIEVED
Successful in receiving funding
to continue with program 20162017.
Mentors – 6
Mentees – 14
Minimum 60 hours required
–program currently exceeding
this KPI with in excess of 84
hours per month
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Strategy - Provide opportunities for people to come together and develop connections and networks
Activities

Measure of Success

Resp

Review

An event committee formed MCtyS
to oversee management of
Develop a pool of volunteers to assist with volunteer support.
event running throughout the municipality

Engaged Volunteer Services
Australia to assist with
registering volunteers for
Break O’Day. Continue to work
with the community to form
an Event committee.

Encourage grade 11-12 students to volunteer and play a more active role in the
community.

Volunteer Services Australia
working with Trade Training
Centre to increase pool of
volunteers.

Community Group Sustainability

Report on potential of
volunteering/community
engagement being
recognised at school as
extra-curricular activities.

MCtyS

Community Events

Holiday Activity Program x 3

MCtyS

Conduct activities for:

Australia Day Event

• Youth;

National Youth Week event

Scam Jam Event – National
Youth Week event – 200 attendees

• Volunteers;

Events – Seniors/volunteers
x2

Australia Day Event – all day
event – 500 attendees

Bay of Fires Celebration

Mental Health event – all day
event in partnership – young
people and their parents
attended

• Recognise our community’s
achievements;

Action within the Break O’Day
Youth Strategy – Support and
Encourage young people to
become volunteers.

• Seniors.

Opening of the final section of
the Blue Derby Trial – the Blue
Tier Mountain Bike Trail at
Weldborough
NRM

Combined Seniors and
Volunteers Event – 150
attendees
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Strategy - Promote and encourage arts, culture and heritage opportunities within our communities
Activities
Arts & Cultural Strategy
Establishment of an Arts & Cultural committee to implement a number of objectives of the strategy.

Measure of Success
Committee formed, meeting
and making recommendations of identified priorities
for Council’s consideration.

Resp
MCtyS

Review
BODRA submitted names to
be part of the committee.
Awaiting confirmation of
potential members

Strategy - Plan for and support access to quality services, facilities, health, education and information that meet
the needs of all age groups and communities particularly youth, people with disabilities and our ageing population
Activities

Measure of Success

St Helens Hospital Development

Transfer of land to DHHS

Pursue implementation of the St Helens
Hospital Master Plan with the State Govt
and Dept. of Health & Human Services.

Commencement of design
and construction process

Resp
GM

Review
COMPLETE
Agreement for Sale has been
signed and awaiting settlement
to take place.
Loop Architecture appointed
by DHHS, DA submitted and
approved by Council, awaiting
for appeal period to lapse and
construction to commence
approximately November
2017.

Disability Action Plan
Implementation of actions under the
Disability Action Plan.

People with disabilities are
able to participate in our
community – outdoor/open
space facilities are designed
and constructed compliant
with disability access.

MCtyS

Liaise with Government agencies (PWS) to Event – International Day of
MCtyS
increase access/ participation opportuniPeople with Disability.
ties to places of cultural significance.
Young people with disabilities
to work on the Youth Event
x 1.

Council formed Disability
Access committee.

Guidance to be sought from
the proposed Disability Access
Committee.
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Strategy - Minimise the impact of disasters by improving community and Council’s preparedness
Activities
River Flooding Mitigation

Measure of Success

Resp

Review

Increased Council and
community understanding
through information session.

NRM

Council and community
understanding has improved
following the June 2016 floods
and the Flood Recovery and
the Agricultural Landscape
Rehabilitation Scheme (ALRS)
programs. Council, with NRM
North, assisted landholders and
the Lower George Riverworks
Trust in understanding
waterway responsibilities while
seeking technical and funding
support from the programs.
ALRS funding was sought for
a waterway management
forum with the Lower George
Riverworks Trust, however state
funding announcements have
been delayed.

Engage with stakeholders and
landowners to develop and implement
a plan to address flooding issues in St
Marys.

Community participation in
development of a St Marys
catchments flood risk and
stormwater management
plan.

NRM

Council’s NRM North funded for
on-ground project has engaged
community with a
community tree planting
January and controlled willows and planted hundreds of
native seedlings on St Marys
Rivulet. In March Council
secured NDRGP funding for a
flood risk management study;
this project, including extensive
community participation, is still
getting underway.

Municipal Emergency Management

Community Forums x 3
forums throughout community - 12 attendees at each
forum.

MCtyS

Five (5) community forums
have been held with 130 people
attending.

Research and determine waterway
responsibilities and educate the public
through an information session to report
on waterway management
responsibilities

Conduct community education and
planning sessions in partnership with
Tasmania Fire Service and Red Cross
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Goal: Environment and Planning

Ensure sustainable management of natural and built resources is respectful to our unique
location.
Strategy - Provide a sound framework for strategically planned and orderly future development by updating and
improving Land Use Strategy and Planning Scheme
Activities
Land Use Planning
Participate in the development of the
Statewide Planning Scheme.

Develop local area provisions for
integration with the Tasmanian Planning
Scheme

Measure of Success

Resp

Review

Submissions provided to con- PC
sultation processes arguing
Council’s position

Process is continuing.
Submission was made to
the Tasmanian Planning
Commission regarding the
State Planning Provisions with
specific reference to the loss of
the Environmental Living Zone.

Local Area Provisions
developed

Have not commenced due
to delays with finalising the
Statewide Planning Scheme.
Council will concentrate
resources on the local area
provisions where most
leverage can be achieved.

PC

Timeline has been
expanded with a small number
of Council’s undertaking
preparation work as test
cases.
Future Industrial Land Investigations
Undertake investigation of potential
industrial sites to meet future needs in
Break O’Day.

Finalisation of a suitable
site and endorsement from
Council

PC

A report was prepared for
Council identifying two
potential sites for expansion,
one for light industrial adjacent to the current site and
another for heavier
industrial uses in the
proximity of Council’s depot.
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Strategy - Improve service levels and environmental responsibility of waste management practices
Activities

Measure of Success

Waste Minimisation

Resp

Review

WM

Report provided to Council
meeting on 20 March 2017
resulting in a decision to
implement. Kerbside recycling
scheduled to commence by
December 2017.

Undertake a review and cost benefit
analysis of options for recycling services
in Break O’Day including household
collection.

Report provided to Council
resulting in a Council
decision.

Service Efficiencies

Feasibility study completed
and presented to Council.

WM

Feasibility study presented to
Council in March 2017 and
decision made not to proceed
with establishment of an
alternative site.

New facilities constructed
and operational

WM

St Helens upgrade complete.
Waste Oil facility to be installed
in July 2017.

Progress feasibility study into the
establishment and operation of a
putrescible landfill site and organic waste
management options.
Waste Transfer Station Upgrades
Construct new Waste Transfer Stations at
the St Helens and St Marys sites

Cardboard compactor installed
in June 2017.
Initial investigation of St Marys
undertaken. Budget allocation
carried forward

Strategy - Educate key stakeholders about planning, environmental and waste management, regulatory matters
and processes
Activities
Regulatory Change
Develop customer information and
conduct information forums on regulatory
changes due to the new Building Act.

Measure of Success

Resp

Review

Information sessions
BSC
provided for key stakeholders
in the building and planning
activity areas.

Information Session held in
conjunction with Department
of Justice on 20 September
2016.

2 sessions

Approx 25 attendees, including
three building services staff.

20 attendees

5 Information Sessions held
during the month of June and
July 2017 with a total of 24
attendees, including focus of
tradesman and construction
industry professionals within
Break O Day region.
More information sessions to
be held with other industry
professionals and internal staff.
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Activities
Service Delivery

Measure of Success
Service delivery approach
changed.

Resp
BSC & PC

Improve the customer service approach
through implementation of the outcomes Increased customer
arising from the Development Services
satisfaction with the service
review process.
being provided.

Review
Due to staff changes the outcomes of the review have been
only partially implemented.
Service levels have improved
with continuing skill
development by support staff.
Council Workshop item discussed regarding providing
easy-to follow Council approval
process charts.
Through information sessions
and State Government publications information is being
distributed, including internal
staff information sessions.

Improve customer understanding of
Review and upgrading of
requirements through improvements to
written information
communication through written material. completed.

BSC & PC

Council's Communication
Officer currently reviewing
possible improvements.

Research, write and update information
pages about planning, building, natural
resource management and
environmental health for Council’s
website

CC

Firm engaged to develop new
Website in 2017-2018 FY with
all material on the current site
being reviewed and
redeveloped.

Website information
upgraded

Currently working on a Style
Guide which will provide a
framework for review and
redevelopment of public
information.

Strategy - Adopt environmental sustainability principles in undertaking Council activities
Activities
Weed Management
Integrate Council’s Weed Action Plan into
its operations through the employment of
a Weed Management Officer.

Measure of Success
Weed Management Officer
appointed and active in
Works and Infrastructure
Dept.

Resp
NRM

Review
The Weed Program
Coordinator appointed in
October 2016. Eleven priority
weed species treated at over
50 sites and covering more
than 1ha of Council property.
They coordinated with other
land managers and planned
follow-up control for 2017-18.
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Review and improve weed management
practices which occur as part of Council’s
infrastructure maintenance activities.

Review completed and
practices implemented.

WM

Staff training undertaken

Weed Program Coordinator has
progressively improved weed
management by Council and
with changes to
assessment, equipment,
materials, and internal and
external weed control works
undertaken. OH&S training
of 12 staff in safe handling of
chemicals completed.
A 2017/18 Weed management
plan has been planned and
funded.

Engage private and public landholders
to coordinate their weed control with
Council’s Weed Action Plan and support
community weed management efforts.

Coordination and
information events
conducted and joint weed
control actions taken.

NRM

Weed information provided to
on more than 20 occasions to
landholders and groups,
including coordination and
compliance advice.
Landholders and groups have
subsequently controlled weeds
such as blackberry, pampas,
boneseed and Spanish heath.
Examples include gorse control
with the Seymour community,
Spanish heath at Four Mile
Creek and a Paterson’s curse
campaign in Mangana with
the Upper South Esk Landcare
group.

Financial Sustainability

Project progressed to stage
of roll out of upgrade.

MCS

Final design meeting held,
installation agreement
signed, installation confirmed
for 2017/2018 and set for
September 2017

Participate in regional Council's activities
to reduce energy consumption and deliver
savings through the LED Street Light replacement program.

Strategy - Develop and implement an environmental sustainability policy for the region
Activities
Municipal Sustainability
Investigate Break O’Day municipality’s
environmental sustainability needs and
opportunities for actions.

Measure of Success
Forums conducted by Break
O’Day Council NRM
Committee on Council and
community solutions for
environmental sustainability.

Resp
NRM

Review
No progress to date. Plans for
a waste management strategies forum postponed to
simplify start of the kerbside
recycling service.
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Strategy - Minimize the impacts of climate change
Activities

Measure of Success

Energy Efficiency

Resp
BSC

Monitor energy consumption and identify Council facilities and assets
opportunities for cost savings and
with energy consumption
emissions reductions.
being actively managed

Commence installation of solar panels on
Council facilities to reduce energy
consumption costs.

Panels installed to reduce
energy consumption to the
Council offices and chambers

Review
Planet Footprint report being
actioned to appropriate staff
for review.
Council have approved Budget
for installation of Solar Panel
Installations.

BSC

Capital Works Budget
approved for 2016/2017 financial year and included in four
year capital works program.
Quotations currently being
sourced to begin installation
of feedback rates under
negotiation with Aurora.

Corporate Emissions Reduction
Working group established to examine
emissions reduction opportunities within
Council operations.

Land Use and Development
Participate in policy and guideline development and programs to ensure that
Break O’Day responds to threats and
impacts from climate change.

Report provided to
Management team on
opportunities to reduce
emissions and costs.

NRM

A small group of staff have
reviewed quarterly energy
consumption reports and opportunities for further savings.
For example solar PV has been
identified as a priority and options have been researched.

Contributions to state and
local climate change risk
activities.

PC

Council is participating in
Climate Resilient Councils
Project offered by the
Tasmanian Climate Change
Office
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Strategy - Ensure the health of the public and environment is maintained at legislated levels or above
Activities
Public Health Objectives
Provide services to meet the public health
objectives outlined in the Annual Plan

Measure of Success
Services delivered which
meet the requirements of
the Public Health Act

Resp
EHO

Review
Services are being provided
in accordance with applicable
legislation.
•

Used needles/syringe
service.

•

School immunisation
program.

•

Regulation of Mass
Outdoor events.

•

Inspection of Unhealthy
Premises.

•

Regulation of Public
Health Risk Activities –
Acupuncture premises.

•

Registration of private
drinking water suppliers
and commercial water
carriers.

Complaints: Nil.
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Goal: Leadership and Governance
Provide strong and informed leadership and effective management of community resources;
empowering and involving the community at all levels.
Strategy - Maintain financial viability and accountability in budgeting and administration
Activities
Financial Sustainability
Undertake ‘value for money’ reviews of
key contracted activities and procurement
policies including:
1.

Waste Management

2.

Animal Control

3.

Consultants & Professional Services

Measure of Success
Ongoing annual savings
of $75,000 identified and
achieved.

Resp
MT

Review
Litter collection activities in
Fingal Valley reviewed
resulting in a saving of
$27,702.
Convert office phone lines
from ISDN to NBN; some upfront costs but ongoing savings
of $8,000 annually
Trialling IT support as fully
outsourced following
resignation of IT support
officer; ongoing savings of
$30,000 plus annually if
satisfactory.

The management of Council’s
waste management was undertaken comparing
contracted with in-house
management. This identified a
potential saving of
approximately $168,000
annually. Council agreed to
move to in-house management of previously contracted
waste sites from July 1, 2017.
Lean Thinking
Examine the potential for developing a
‘lean thinking’ program within the
organisation potentially in partnership
with another similarly minded Council.

Yet to occur.

GM

Participated actively in the
process. Final report from
KPMG will be received in July
2017 and will be considered by
Council in August 2017

Report provided to
Management team for
consideration

Service Efficiencies
Develop and implement resource sharing
and shared services opportunities arising
from the northern region shared services
investigation.

GM

Report and strategy
provided to Council and
endorsed.
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Examine the service delivery approach of
Council’s Works Department identifying
opportunities which result in efficiencies
and savings.

Management Reporting
Monthly Financial Reports reviewed to
include impact of decisions on Council’s
long term financial position.

Long Term Financial Plan
Undertake a major review of the plan to
incorporate data from updated individual
asset management plans.

4 Year Capital & Projects Budget
Complete the development of Council’s
rolling 4 year Capital Works and Projects
Budget.

Review completed and
implemented.

WM

Annual efficiencies of 250
man hours secured.

Litter Collection activities in
Fingal Valley reviewed
resulting in freeing up 650
man hours per annum.
Adjustments made to Council
plant to improve efficiencies of
the road maintenance team.

Review, with Council,
MCS
information requirements
and reporting style with new
reporting software

LTFP updated with 2016/2017
budget.

Model impacts on Long Term MCS
Financial Plan of significant
projects reported to Council

LTFP updated with 2016/2017
budget.

4 Year Capital & Projects
Budget revised and
presented to Council

4 Year Capital & Projects
Budget considered with
2017/2018 budget.

MCS

Still assessing reporting
software which is also being
considered through the northern regions Shared Services
project.

No projects considered, to
date, for Council but LTFP
modelled for Accelerated Local
Government Capital Program.

Strategy - Recruitment of external grant funding
Activities
Financial Sustainability
Build grant writing skills and capacity of
Council staff through an increase in the
pool of staff capable of playing a
significant role in writing grant
applications.

Measure of Success
Skill base and capacity of
the team increased by 3
staff

Develop the project budgeting and estima- Training provided to 2 grant
tion skills of the grant writing team.
writing team members
enabling them to develop
project budgets.

Resp

Review

MT

Communications Coordinator
and Community Services
Officer have received on the
job exposure to grant
writing to build their skills.
Staff identified for training,
awaiting training opportunities
to be available.

MCS &GM

On job training provided to 2
staff members. Opportunities
for formal training being
monitored.
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Identify and pursue grant funding
opportunities which assist Council to
achieve its identified priorities.

Capacity Building
Deliver grant writing workshops to local
community groups.

Overall success rate of 75%
achieved for grant funding
applications lodged.

Eight grant applications
submitted, seven (7) successful
and one pending.

External funding received for
3 identified priorities.

-

Learner Driver Mentor
Program $16,945

Total grant funding secured
of $250,000

-

St Marys Flood Risk
Management Project
$40,000

-

Recreational Boating Fund
– Moorings for Georges
Bay and Binalong Bay

-

Regional Skills Audit
$75,000

-

2017 National Youth Week
Grants – ScamJam $2,000

-

Bridges Renewal Program
$300,000

-

Poimena Toilet Block
$88,324

-

Building Better Regions –
Mountain Bike Trails Stage
2 - $1,500,000

Increased capacity within
MCtyS
the community through
delivery of 2 workshops with
a total of 20 attendees.

Community Partnerships
Work with local organisations to access
funding which would otherwise be
unaccessible to Council for community
assets and programs.

GM

MT
4 Grant funding applications
lodged.
Overall success rate of 75%
achieved

Strategy - Promote Council as Employer of Choice

Joint workshop held with local
community organisation – 10
attendees.
One application lodged.
Council supported
community organisations
in securing funding for:
Community Garden project
and Build Project; St Helens
History Room were
successful with two (2)
applications – one for workspace expansion through the
Community Infrastructure
Fund and one for Interpretive
Banners from Arts Tasmania;
St Helens Point Progress
Association received funding
for a BBQ shelter at Stieglitz;
Amenities Block at Pyengana
through the Pyengana Hall
and Recreation Committee;
Hub4Health received funding
for works at the Old Tasmanian
Hotel.
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Activities

Measure of Success

Break O’Day Culture
Explore and develop the values which
underpin the organisation as part of
developing the new Strategic Plan.

Values identified and
understood by all Council
employees

Workforce Plan

Feedback provided on
draft.

Participate in the LGAT sponsored
workforce planning project

Resp

Review

GM

Values developed during
workshop process focussed on
strategic plan and
organisational performance.

HRM

Feedback provided.

Develop a Plan which addresses
succession, skills and an ageing workforce

Plan developed and
HRM
adopted for implementation

Awareness of challenges is
on-going and opportunities to
implement measures to
address each issues is being
taken as presented.

Capacity Building

Implement a training
program for managers to
provide them with the tools
to develop professional
development plans for staff

Training has been provided in
First Aid, stress management,
vehicle and machinery
licencing, playground inspection and up-skilling in response
to legislative changes.

Provide training and opportunities for
managers and staff which enhance their
capacity to meet expectations in relation
to service delivery.

HRM

Encourage participation in networking and Attendance at relevant and MT
professional development opportunities
value adding forums and/or
which enables managers and staff to be
training opportunities.
exposed to new ideas.

Attendance at Specific Interest
Groups is on-going and each
training opportunity is
considered with respect to
value and cost. This also
includes professional body
participation

Strategy - Ensure Council members have the resources and skills development opportunities to effectively fulfil
their responsibilities
Activities
Strategy & Planning
Conduct facilitated workshops which
provide Councillors with the opportunity
to develop knowledge on and strategies in
relation to major challenges facing Break
O’Day.

Measure of Success
3 workshops conducted on
key issues/strategies

Resp
GM

Review
Facilitated workshop
undertaken which focused on
strategic plan and
organisational performance
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Capacity Building
Facilitate participation of Councillors in
professional development activities.

Councillors participate in
professional development
activities.

GM

Opportunities advised to
Councillors on an ongoing
basis, as they arise.
-

ALGWA National
Conference

-

Various LGAT Breakfast
Series Sessions with
Speakers

-

National General
Assembly

-

Local Government
Association of Tasmania
(LGAT) Conference

Strategy - Continuously strive for quality, responsive customer service and enhancement of image of Council
Activities
Customer Service
Integrate the agreed values of the
organisation within a clearly defined
customer service approach for the
organisation.

Measure of Success
Integration of values into
the Customer Service
Charter.

Resp
MT

Values developed. Further
workshop involving employees
to develop customer service
approach and improvements as
well as to embed values.

MT

Upcoming works published
every month from April 2016 as
well as stories on other Council
works. FAQ sheets developed
for the new recycling service
. Road closures and advice
published on social media when
required. Direct communication
including face to face made
with any residents or businesses affected by any major works
ie streetscape works.

Council staff understanding
and commitment to the
agreed values

Encourage high quality and consistent
communication between internal and external customers of the organisation.

Review

Improve customer service response times
to written communication and customer
service requests

Average length of time for
each Council Department
reduced by 20% when
measured against the
2015-16 benchmark for
that Department

MT

Statistics yet to be measured,
records management system
not capable of providing
information at this stage.

Assess areas for skills development for
individual employees to assist in
achieving the customer service outcomes
being sought.

Professional development
plan for frontline customer
service and professional
staff

HRM

Training is provided as required
in response to identified areas
of need. This included Stress
Management and Conflict
Resolution.
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Increase the resolution of planning and
building queries and contacts at the first
point of contact (reception).

Resolution of minor queries PC/BSC/
and contacts occurs at
MCS
reception.

On-going training and on the
job experience of front counter
staff is increasing resolution of
queries at first contact.

Integrate customer service delivery of the
planning and building functions as
developed through the Development
Services review process.

Identified strategies and
activities implemented.

Front counter staff are
preparing new Development
Applications alongside
Development Staff to assist
enquiries and provide specialist
training where required.

PC/BSC

Successfully received the 2016
Australian Institute of Building
Surveyors, Building Surveying
Team of the Year award.
Managers to facilitate continuous
improvement initiatives.

Fewer customer
complaints.

HRM

On-going coaching and
mentoring in providing
excellent customer service is
being provided.

Communications Strategy

Workshop(s) conducted
engaging staff in the
process

CC

Discussions with the Works
Department around how they
can help inform the community
about their department and
activities.

Build knowledge of the Strategy within
staff exploring the role that they can play
in achieving the outcomes being sought.

Brief discussions in staff
meeting around the use of
social media and how they can
help.
Review all Council’s public information
material to ensure that it reflects the key
messages and style of the Strategy.

Review completed

CC

Discussions between BSC and
CC around communication
from the Development Services
Department has begun and will
be based on the implementation of a Style Guide

Review existing Style Guide and templates

Review completed

CC

Ongoing. Draft of a Style Guide
has been prepared – some work
done in setting up templates.
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Activities
Council Profile
Promote achievements and initiatives of
the Council and community through media
releases and Awards processes.

Measure of Success
12 items of a positive
nature published by the
media.

Resp
CC

Review
17 ‘Good News” stories published from MRs since March
2017 as well as at least three
radio interviews.
Initiatives submitted to four (4)
Award processes.

Submit Council initiatives in
three Award processes.

Winner of the Building Surveyor
team of the year in September
2016. Two award submissions sent to LGAT Awards of
Excellence 2017. Nominated
for and submitted an award
application for Community
initiative, Great Eastern
Drivers. Stadium submitted for
Australian Property Institute.

Strategy - Ensure Council fulfills its legislative and governance responsibilities and its decision making, supported
by sustainable policies and procedures
Activities
Management Reporting

Measure of Success

Resp

Review

Integrated planning and
reporting system
implemented.

GM

Site visit to West Tamar Council
undertaken to examine system.
Decision to await outcomes of
shared services opportunities
through the LG Reform process.

Outcome from the process
provides the best outcome
for the community.

GM

Northern Region - KPMG
engaged, draft Final Report
received in June 2017. Final
Report due mid July 2017

Examine and assess the support for a
Consultancy and modeling
significant boundary adjustment between completed resulting in a
Break O’Day and Glamorgan-Spring Bay
report to Council.
Councils to transfer the Bicheno/Coles Bay
are north leading to improved outcomes
for the communities.

GM

KPMG engaged, model
development nearing
completion with draft Final
report due mid-July.

Implement an integrated planning and
reporting system which operationalises
Council’s Strategic Plan.
Local Government Reform
Participate actively in the northern region
Shared Services project to ensure that the
outcomes are in the best interest of the
Break O’Day community.

Activities
Strategic Planning
Develop and commence implementation
of a new Strategic Plan for the Break
O’Day Council following clarity regarding
the LG Reform processes.

Measure of Success
2016-2025 Strategic Plan
adopted by Council.

Bicheno community have
indicated strong support at a
public meeting.
Resp
GM

Review
Draft Strategic Plan prepared,
community submission period
commenced following report
back sessions to the community
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Corporate Planning
Develop and implement a 4 year
Corporate Plan based on the new Strategic
Plan and priorities identified by Council.
Internal Audit
Facilitate Audit Panel Meetings and
commence implementation of an Internal
Audit Schedule.

Core Business
Review the ‘core business’ of Council as
part of developing the new Strategic Plan.
Assess the impact of ‘non core’ activities
on Council’s financial situation

4 year Corporate Plan
adopted by Council.

GM

Yet to occur.

Audit Panel operating as
required by legislation and
Council’s Charter.

MCS

Audit Panel meeting being
held quarterly, minutes being
received by Council.

Internal audits
undertaken as per the
2016/2017 schedule.

Internal audits almost complete,
Risk Management audit left to
complete, difficulties
coordinating with George Town
Council.

Review completed by
Council.

GM

Initial steps incorporated within
the strategic planning process

Assessment completed and
reviewed by Council.

GM

Yet to occur

Strategy - Maintain workforce standards and procedures that ensure that the occupational health safety and
welfare of employees, contractors and public is protected and enhanced
Activities

Measure of Success

Resp

WHS Compliance

Review

Circulate monthly incident/ HRM
accident reports and
All Managers to be trained and responsible quarterly WH&S reports
for WHS compliance.

Monthly reports circulated to
Management Team and Council.

Training in WHS identified as risk.

Manual handling and CPR
refresher training was held,
audiometric testing of staff was
undertaken.

Service Delivery

Undertake manual hanWHSC
dling training, audiometric
testing and CPR
refreshers.

Undertake 5 contractor
WHSC
audits and 6 outdoor team
WHS site audits of contractors and outdoor audits
teams.

9 contractor audits and 3 outdoor team audits undertaken;
23 contractor inductions were
undertaken also.
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Strategy - Improve Council’s communication, consultative processes, representation and advocacy
Activities
Communications Strategy

Measure of Success

Review

CC

Communications Strategy
complete and implemented.

Improve Council’s digital presence through New website operational
the development of a new website and
increased use of social media.

CC

Website quotes received
and ready to be progressed.
Facebook page implemented
and working well with a growing
audience, currently over 1500
followers

Educate the community on the role of
Council and service delivery

Regular communication
through newsletters

CC

Upcoming works published
every month from April 2016 as
well as stories on other Council
works. FAQ sheets developed
for the new recycling service
and changes to rate payments
will go out as part of our annual
rates newsletter to all
ratepayers.

State Election

Commitments received
GM
from both major parties on
Council priorities

Priorities identified through
discussion with Councillors.
Lobbying document prepared
and actions have commenced
through meetings with Lyons
representatives and local
branch of the Liberal party.

Development and
implementation of a
Community Engagement
Plan

Three workshops have been
held with Steering
committee to develop
Community Engagement Plan.

Complete the development of the
Communications Strategy to keep key
audiences aware of Council activities,
processes, roles and information.

Develop and lobby in relation to the key
priorities which Council have identified for
the Break O’Day area and communities.

Community Engagement Plan
Examine the role an effective Community
Engagement Plan can play in Council’s
activities and the development of
partnerships with and within the
community.

Strategy adopted by
Council

Resp

MCtyS
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Goal: Economic Development

Achieve sustainable economic development.
Strategy - Develop and implement initiatives to attract people to live, work and invest in the Council area
Activities
Economic Development Strategy
Prioritise and implement major
priorities identified in the Economic
Development Strategy.

Measure of Success
Progress reported against
each of the major
priorities

Resp
GM

Review
1. Growing the Region
1.1 Growing the population Investment
Assistance Scheme approved by Council
and is published on Council’s web site.
A Prospectus is in final stages of production.
2. Generating ongoing sustainable jobs
2.3 Develop regional tourism.
Council has worked in collaboration
with the Coordinator General’s Office on
the Tasmanian Visitor Accommodation
Analysis. Predicted increases in visitor
numbers due to the extension of the
mountain bike trail network will significantly increase the value of tourism to
the region.
4. Pursuing a Regional Approach
4.1 Taking a broader regional economy/
markets approach
4.2 Developing St Helens as a service
centre.
Council was a participant in the Asian
Engagement Project run by Northern
Tasmania Development Corp.
5. Improving liveability of the towns and
villages
5.1 Recognising the importance of place
5.2 Improving infrastructure.
St Helens and St Marys Streetscape projects progressed. A proposal for the upgrade of the Tasman Highway between St
Helens and Scamander has been argued
successfully with the State Government.
6. Taking an active approach to economic
development
6.1 Facilitating economic development.
The Investment Assistance Scheme and
the Prospectus have been designed to
encourage investment and development
in Break O'Day. Council works closely
with the BEC and regional tourism groups
and authorities facilitating business prosperity for Break O’Day.
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Population Growth
Develop a place brand to be used in
promoting Break O’Day as a place for
living, working, for business and to
visit.
Finalise the investment incentive
scheme for attracting new businesses
to the Break O’Day area.

Brand incorporated in
Business Prospectus.

CC

This is ongoing and links with
communication strategy as well as
positive news stories. The new website
will be instrumental in brand
development.

Investment incentive
scheme approved by
Council.

EDO

Investment Assistance Scheme
approved by Council and is published
on Council web site.

Regional Innovation

Economic Development
Group established.

GM/EDO

Discussions have occurred with
key community leaders to
generate momentum in
community. Core group
currently forming

Promote opportunities to unlock and
develop the agriculture, primary
production, viticulture and horticultural
potential of the area through
diversification and opening up land suitable
for development.

Forum undertaken
promoting the
opportunities which exist.

EDO

Contact with industry
representatives has been made.
Further work progressing.
Several potential opportunities
are being investigated in the
horticultural and aquaculture
fields. Other work has involved
assisting the establishment
of a boutique brewery, a gin
distillery, mushroom farms
and a construction material
enterprise. Break O’Day was a
participant in the forum run by
the BEC which unfortunately
was cancelled.

Develop a ‘business opportunity’
prospectus to stimulate interest in the
Break O’Day area.

Break O’Day Business
Prospectus published.

EDO

Work in progress.

Establish an Economic Development Group
to build on the outcomes of the East Coast
Regional Innovation Action Sessions.

Three potential
opportunities identified
and promoted to
property owners and
potential developers.
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Facilitating Business Growth

Support provided to
organisations supporting
Facilitate new and existing business growth local businesses.
through Council supported activities.

EDO

Provided demographics, council
planning and general business
information to 72 potential and
existing businesses from the
following sectors:
Agriculture, General
Retail, Tourism, Meals/
Accommodation, Food
Processing and Manufacturing.
Assisted new businesses with
compiling and submitting
development applications.
Provided similar information
to a large proportion of BEC
clients.

Support the activities of the Break O’Day
BEC meets its
Business Business Enterprise Centre to
performance targets.
deliver services to the business community
of the East Coast.

EDO

The BEC has provided 1400 services such as access to finance,
building business and management skills to
approximately 700 clients last
financial year. The key
industries were Arts
& Recreation (24%),
Accommodation & Food (22%)
and Retail (15%). Council
funding for 2017/2018 has been
approved.

Infrastructure upgrades

MT

St Marys Streetscape Stage 2
under development.

Pursue infrastructure improvements which
improve the attractiveness and liveability
of the Break O’Day area.

5 Infrastructure
improvement projects
presented to Council for
consideration.

Design currently underway for
car parking improvements at
St Marys.
Binalong Bay Foreshore Master
plan proposal for consideration
at February workshop.

Employment
Facilitate the development of a future
employment and skills needs analysis to
provide an understanding of where employment opportunities exist.
Work with schools, stakeholders and local
businesses to address youth employment
issues through the delivery of programs
and creation of pathways to employment.

Skills audit conducted for
the BOD Municipality.

EDO

A skills audit proposal has been
developed. Funding from Skill
Tas has been granted.

Support appropriate
groups to address
employment issues.

EDO

Coordinated the BEACON Work
Readiness program for school
leavers. Ongoing work with
groups such as THRIVE and local
businesses.
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Strategy - Develop and implement initiatives for appropriate tourism in the region
Activities
Tourism Support

Measure of Success

Resp

Review

Support provided to ECT
activities.

GM

Ongoing, participating in
Great Eastern Drive, St Helens
Destination Action Plan, MTB
World Enduro, East Coast Visitor
Accommodation Demand
Analysis.

Participate in the Destination Action Plan
for St Helens being prepared by ECT.

Destination Action Plan
completed and
implemented.

GM

Plan completed and launched
with Stage 2 of Blue Derby MTB.

Review the delivery of visitor information
services in the context of the statewide
strategy being developed by Tourism
Tasmania.

Report on findings of the
review.

GM/MCS

Statewide strategy has been
released. ECT developing
management model for the
centres.

Accommodation Demand

Demand analysis completed

GM

Demand analysis completed for
Coordinator-General’s Office.

Encourage the industry and developers to
address identified opportunities to meet
current and projected accommodation
demand.

Development approvals
for new accommodation

GM/EDO

Development applications for
two significant accommodation
developments have been
submitted to Council.

Blue Derby Mountain Bike Trails Stage 2

Approvals obtained

MCtyS

Planning commenced for Stage
2 – Poimena to Bay of Fires
and St Helens MTB Network –
Environmental and cultural
studies are being undertaken
and working with Forestry, PWS
and local Aboriginal Elders in
relation to the projects. Three
Meetings held with North East
Bioregional Network to outline
proposed project.

Work with East Coast Tourism (ECT); local
organisations and key agencies to
promote and enhance the attractions of
Break O’Day.

Pursue completion of a future visitor accommodation demand analysis for the East
Coast.

Obtain the necessary approvals to bring
the project to a ‘shovel ready’ project.
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Activities

Measure of Success

Secure the funding necessary to enable the Funding model finalised
project to commence construction.
and funding secured

Resp
GM

Review
Funding of $1.6 million
secured from Federal
Government through election
commitment. Proposal placed
before State Government as
part of 2017-18 Budget and
$1.0 million secured.
Building Better Regions Fund
grant application lodged.

Encourage local business communities to
innovate and take advantage of the
development of the trail network to create
new and grow existing businesses to meet
the projected demand for services.

5 new or existing
businesses take
advantage of
opportunities created by
the trail network.

EDO

Major upgrade underway at
Weldborough Hotel including
more accommodation.
Cycle shop established in
St Helens.
Additional shuttle services
being established in conjunction with local businesses
Two new accommodation
developments have been
attracted by the trail network.
Work is ongoing with a
number of businesses seeking to capitalise on the trail
network.

Tobruk Dive Wreck Project
Pursue the implementation of this
project through the State Government
using Federal funding.

Multi-Purpose Stadium Usage
Facilitate regional events being held at the
Bendigo Community Stadium.

Vessel secured as a
dive wreck by the State
Government

GM

Council successful in ensuring
the State Government lodged
a response to the request for
bid process.
Vessel gifted to Queensland.

2 regional events
facilitated.

EDO

Council has secured the
following events:
• 3 major events which
are yet to be publicly
announced.
• Netball State League
pre-season match
February, 2017
• Netball State League
Fixture July, 2017

Great Eastern Drive
Support the implementation of the Great
Eastern Drive initiative and work with key
stakeholders on the extension of the GED
to cover the entire East Coast.

Great Eastern Drive project priorities implemented through ECT.

GM

Ongoing participation, focus
on infrastructure
improvements occurring.
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Great Eastern Walk
Support establishment of the 1st stage
of the Walk through the Tas Land
Conservancy project through an agreed
MoU.

Work with key stakeholders to progress the
planning of further stages of this project.

1st Stage of the walk
completed

MCtyS

Planning for 1st stage of the
walk has been completed
– working highlighted environmental issues. No further
action at this stage due to
environmental issues being
highlighted

MCtyS

Same as above – environmental issues need to be worked
through before any further
progress of this project can be
undertaken
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Goal: Asset Management

Ensure the efficient and effective provision of appropriate community assets.
Strategy - Provide a strategic framework for Council to manage, maintain, enhance and develop open space and
associated public realm areas for the benefit of residents and visitors
Activities
Municipal Management Plan

Measure of Success
Completion of document

Resp

Review

MCtyS

Document completed.

MT

Upgrading of Tasman Highway
south of St Helens pursued
with Minister and Department
of State Growth resulting in
upgrading commitment being
secured.

Finalise the summary document and
publish on the Council website following
endorsement by Council.
Focus attention on Short Term Actions (1- Progress reported on
3yrs) within the MMP addressing the areas achieving Short Term
where progress has been limited or hasn’t Actions
occurred:
•

State Govt road infrastructure

•

Directional signage

•

Coastal infrastructure

Strategy - Develop and implement a 10 year asset management plan for all classes of assets that includes:• Capital Works Program
• Maintenance Program
Activities
Management Systems
Finalise selection and implement software
which enables Council to effectively
manage its asset information providing
predictive modeling to support decision
making.

Asset Management Plans
Review and update information in
completed components
•

10 year Plant Replacement program

•

10 year Toilet Replacement program

•

Bridge Replacement program

•

IT Strategy

Measure of Success

Resp

Review

Asset Management
software implemented
which meets the current
and foreseeable future
needs of Council.

MCS

Determining opportunities
arising from local government
shared services project.

Information updated and
included in Long Term
Financial Plan

MT

Bridge Asset assessment
completed.
10 year Plant Replacement
program developed and
updated.
10 year Toilet Replacement
program developed and
updated.
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Road Asset Management

Road Asset Data updated

WM

Maloneys have undertaken
assessment of road
condition. Major review of
database and costs
underway for Unsealed
Roads.

Review classification of all Council roads
in accordance with an established road
hierarchy and incorporate into Maloneys’
information.

Road hierarchy review
completed.

WM

Review completed.

Assess impact on Council’s Long Term
Financial Plan and update the LTFP.

Long Term Financial Plan
updated

MCS

LTFP updated as part of the
2017/2018 budget process,
including incorporation of
the State Government's interest free loan scheme; the
Northern Economic Stimulus
Package.

Building Asset Management

Condition audit of all
BSC
Council’s building assets is
completed.

Updating of data ongoing.

Ongoing assessments to
be undertaken of new
assets taken over by
Council.

Council staff time has been
allocated for continual
updating of data.

Undertake review of road infrastructure
information through engagement of
Maloneys and incorporate within Asset
Management Plan.

Undertake an audit of all building assets to
determine current conditions ratings and
asset values.

Stormwater Asset Management
Complete creation of an Asset Register for
all of Council’s stormwater infrastructure.
Stormwater Management Plan
Develop and implement a Stormwater
Management Plan in compliance with the
Urban Drainage Act 2013 using LGAT
approved template.
Service Delivery
Implement an asset maintenance defects
inspection program.
Develop a drainage maintenance program.

All stormwater
infrastructure included in
Asset Register

WM

Scamander Sports Complex
assets now incorporated
into Council system.

Initial register completed.
Ongoing refinement.

Stormwater Management WM
Plan presented to Council.

Long term activity to be
completed by 2019.
Guidelines considered by
Management Team.

Defects inspection
program established.

WM

Yet to occur.

Program implemented.

WM

Yet to occur.
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Service Efficiencies
Finalise operation of Council controlled
quarry sites including disposal of surplus
sites.

All required quarry sites
are fully licenced and
operating in accordance
with licence conditions

WM

Billy Taylor level 2 licence
imminent and rehabilitation
requirement for disused pits
being progressively
examined.
Clifford’s Pit at Pyengana
being de-licenced

Capital Works Program – Buildings
Develop life-cycle costing analysis for each
building type;
Implement recommended operational
adjustments to budget for Capital Works
proposals.

Life cycle costings to be
continually incorporated
into Council’s proposed
capital projects.

BSC

Adjustments to be made BSC
to operational budgets on
completion of
capital works as originally
reported.

Operational estimates
included in Capital Works
Proposal planning.

Operational budget to be
increased on completion of
capital works.
Internal process is in place to
ensure this happens.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Councillors of Break O’Day Council
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion
I have audited the financial report of Break O’Day Council (Council), which comprises the
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017 and statements of comprehensive income,
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the General
Manager’s statement.
In my opinion the accompanying financial report:
(a) presents fairly, in all material respects, Council’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and
of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
(b) is in accordance with the Local Government Act 1993 and Australian Accounting Standards.
Basis for Opinion
I conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Report section of my report. I am independent of Council in accordance with the ethical
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report
in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
The Audit Act 2008 further promotes the independence of the Auditor-General. The AuditorGeneral is the auditor of all Tasmanian public sector entities and can only be removed by
Parliament. The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate and is
not subject to direction by any person about the way in which audit powers are to be exercised.
The Auditor-General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all documents and
property and can report to Parliament matters which in the Auditor-General’s opinion are
significant.
My audit responsibility does not extend to the budget figures included in the statement of
comprehensive income and the asset renewal funding ratio disclosed in note 38(f) to the financial
report and accordingly, I express no opinion on them. Furthermore, I express no opinion on the
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General Manager’s determination that Council did not have any Significant Business Activities for
inclusion in the financial report as required by Section 84(2)(da) of the Local Government Act 1993.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my opinion.
Responsibilities of the General Manager for the Financial Report
The General Manager is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local Government Act 1993
and for such internal control as determined necessary to enable the preparation of the financial
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the General Manager is responsible for assessing Council’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless Council is to be dissolved by an Act of
Parliament or the Councillors intend to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Council’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the General Manager.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the General Manager’s use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Council’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am
…2 of 3

required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusion is based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause Council to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
I communicate with the General Manager regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that I identify during my audit.

Phillip Chung
Group Leader – Financial Audit
Delegate of the Auditor-General
Tasmanian Audit Office
27 September 2017
Hobart
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Break O'Day Council
2016-2017 Financial Report

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Income
Recurrent Income
Rates and charges
Statutory fees and fines
User fees
Grants
Contributions - cash
Interest
Other income
Investment revenue from water corporation
Capital income
Capital grants received specifically for new or upgraded assets
Contributions - non-monetary assets
Recognition of Land under roads
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Note

Budget
2017
$

Actual
2017
$

Actual
2016
$

3
4
5
6
7
8
9
11, 18

8,473,097
92,500
687,488
2,955,399
68,500
257,000
114,600
582,000
13,230,584

8,613,858
108,518
825,795
4,452,231
84,067
267,427
185,648
596,447
15,133,991

8,192,989
95,804
719,264
2,208,557
41,428
277,851
135,782
551,054
12,222,729

6
7
23
10

2,347,712
40,000
2,387,712

1,283,291
82,097
(49,540)
1,315,848

1,988,644
833,000
2,628,405
(347,315)
5,102,734

15,618,296

16,449,839

17,325,463

(4,342,804)
(4,037,763)
(3,596,527)
(367,117)
(1,085,212)
(13,429,423)

(3,934,591) (4,031,351)
(4,655,976) (4,584,567)
9,954
31,595
(3,359,005) (3,613,869)
(362,450)
(360,589)
(1,250,990) (1,205,488)
(13,553,058) (13,764,269)

Total income
Expenses
Employee benefits
Materials and services
Impairment of receivables
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs
Other expenses
Total expenses

12
13
14
15
16
17

Surplus / (deficit)

2,188,873

2,896,781

3,561,194

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit
Net asset revaluation increment(decrement) reversals

28

-

6,303,912
6,303,912

1,597,978
1,597,978

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to surplus or deficit
Financial assets available for sale reserve
─ Fair Value adjustment on Available for Sale Assets

28

-

216,947
216,947
6,520,859

553,476
553,476
2,151,454

9,417,640

5,712,648

Total Other Comprehensive Income

2,188,873

Comprehensive result

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Break O'Day Council
2016-2017 Financial Report

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2017

Note

2017
$

2016
$

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

19

7,231,061

7,070,793

Trade and other receivables

20

1,067,395

402,044

Inventories

21

137,844

143,849

Other assets

22

79,587
8,515,887

74,011
7,690,697

Investment in water corporation

18

33,285,899

33,068,952

Trade and other receivables

20

14,392

14,392

Other assets

22

36,000

28,000

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

23

Total non-current assets

137,793,902
171,130,193

128,911,244
162,022,588

Total assets

179,646,080

169,713,285

Total current assets
Non-current assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

24

1,349,486

714,844

Trust funds and deposits

25

236,757

274,737

Provisions

27

664,164

584,822

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

26

312,292
2,562,699

298,900
1,873,303

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

27

520,964

382,913

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

26

7,651,611
8,172,575

7,963,903
8,346,816

10,735,274

10,220,119

168,910,806

159,493,166

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net Assets
Equity
Accumulated surplus
Reserves

28

Total Equity

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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27,196,620

24,073,330

141,714,186
168,910,806

135,419,836
159,493,166

Break O'Day Council
2016-2017 Financial Report

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note

2017
Inflows/
(Outflows)
$

2016
Inflows/
(Outflows)
$

29

8,665,120
596,528
4,452,231
58,047
259,431
596,447
173,688
470,167
(5,779,340)
(3,717,198)
(362,450)
5,412,671

8,111,600
1,054,022
2,208,557
40,830
294,660
551,054
43,693
471,912
(6,245,050)
(3,803,162)
(360,589)
2,367,527

(6,217,559)
334,365
959,691
(30,000)
(4,953,503)

(4,863,472)
50,030
1,988,644
(12,502)
(2,837,300)

(298,900)
(298,900)

500,000
(268,376)
231,624

160,268
7,070,793
7,231,061

(238,149)
7,308,942
7,070,793

Cash flows from operating activities
Rates
User charges and other fines
Grants
Reimbursements
Interest
Investment revenue from water corporation
Other receipts
Net GST refund/payment
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees (including redundancies)
Finance costs
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Capital grants
Loans and advances to community organisations
Payments for financial assets
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Repayment of interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

30

Financing arrangements
Restrictions on cash assets

31
19

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Break O'Day Council
2016-2017 Financial Report

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Total
2017
$

Accumulated
Surplus
2017
$

Asset
Revaluation
Reserve
2017
$

Fair
Value
Reserve
2017
$

Other
Reserves
2017
$

159,493,166
2,896,781

24,073,330
2,896,781

137,509,604
-

(3,014,484)
-

924,716
-

216,947
6,303,912
168,910,806

226,509
27,196,620

6,303,912
143,813,516

216,947
(2,797,537)

(226,509)
698,207

Total
2016
$

Accumulated
Surplus
2016
$

Asset
Revaluation
Reserve
2016
$

Fair
Value
Reserve
2016
$

Other
Reserves
2016
$

153,780,518
3,561,194

20,571,043
3,561,194

135,911,626
-

(3,567,960)
-

865,809
-

553,476
1,597,978
159,493,166

(58,907)
24,073,330

1,597,978
137,509,604

553,476
(3,014,484)

58,907
924,716

Note
2017
Balance at beginning of the financial year
Surplus / (deficit) for the year
Other Comprehensive Income:
Financial assets available for sale reserve
─ Fair Value adjustment on Available for Sale Assets

Net asset revaluation increment(decrement) reversals
Transfers between reserves
Balance at end of the financial year

18
28

2016
Balance at beginning of the financial year
Surplus / (deficit) for the year
Other Comprehensive Income:
Financial assets available for sale reserve
─ Fair Value adjustment on Available for Sale Assets

Net asset revaluation increment(decrement) reversals
Transfers between reserves
Balance at end of the financial year

18
28

The above statement should be read with the accompanying notes.
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Break O'Day Council
2016-2017 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Introduction
(a) The Break O'Day Council was established in 1993 and is a body corporate with perpetual succession
and a common seal.
Council's main office is located at St Helens, Tasmania.
(b) The purpose of the Council is to:
- provide for health, safety and welfare of the community;
- to represent and promote the interests of the community;
- provide for the peace, order and good government in the municipality.
These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income, Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows,
and notes accompanying these financial statements. The general purpose financial report complies with
Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (AASB), and the Local Government Act 1993 (LGA1993) (as amended).

Note 1 Significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of accounting
This financial report has been prepared on the accrual and going concern basis.
This financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, except where specifically
stated in notes 1(f), 1(i), 1(k), 1(o), 1(p), and 1(q).
Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year.
Where appropriate, comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and
disclosure has been made of any material changes to comparatives.
Judgements and Assumptions
In the application of Australian Accounting Standards, Council is required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
Council has made no assumptions concerning the future that may cause a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period. Judgements made by Council
that have significant effects on the financial report are disclosed in the relevant notes as follows:
Employee entitlements
Assumptions are utilised in the determination of Council’s employee entitlement provisions. These
assumptions are discussed in note 1(o).
Defined benefit superannuation fund obligations
Actuarial assumptions are utilised in the determination of Council’s defined benefit superannuation fund
obligations. These assumptions are discussed in note 32.
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Fair value of property, plant & equipment
Assumptions and judgements are utilised in determining the fair value of Council’s property, plant and
equipment including useful lives and depreciation rates. These assumptions are discussed in notes 1(f)
and in note 23.
Investment in water corporation
Assumptions utilised in the determination of Council’s valuation of its investment in TasWater are
discussed in note 1(k) and in note 18.
Landfill / Tip Rehabilitation
Assumptions and judgements are utilised in determining the present value of future rehabilitation costs.
These assumptions are discussed in note 27(b).
(b) Adoption of new and amended accounting standards
In the current year, Council has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period. These
include:
(i) AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not for Profit
Public Sector Entities (effective from 1 July 2016)
Council has applied AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures for the first time. As a result Council has
disclosed more information about related parties and transactions with those related parties. The
standard further extends that required under the LGA 1993. This information is presented in Note 37
(ii) AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities
(effective from 1 July 2016)
The amendment provides relief to not-for-profit public sector entities from certain disclosures about the fair value measurement of
property, plant and equipment held for their current service potential rather than to generate net cash inflows that is categorised
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

(c) Pending Accounting Standards
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2017
reporting periods. Council's assessment of the impact of the relevant new standards and interpretations is set out below.
(Note: standards are applicable to reporting periods beginning on or after to effective date referred to below).
(i)

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
(December 2014) (effective from 1 January 2018)
The main impacts of these standards on Council are that they will change the requirements for the classification,
measurement, impairment and disclosures associated with the Council's financial assets. AASB 9 will introduce different
criteria for whether financial assets can be measured at amortised cost or fair value. The amortised cost model is available
for debt assets meeting both business model and cash flow characteristics tests. Amortised cost is to be used for assets
with contractual terms giving rise to principal and interest payments.
Fair value is to be used for all other financial assets. Gains or losses on financial assets at fair value are to be recognised in
profit and loss unless the asset is part of a hedging relationship or an irrevocable election has been made to present in
other comprehensive income changes in the fair value of an equity instrument not held for trading .
When adopted, the standard will affect, in particular, Council’s accounting for its investment in TasWater which is an
available-for-sale financial assets. Currently, Council recognises changes in the fair value of its available-for-sale assets
through other comprehensive income. Council is likely to make an irrevocable election for its investment in TasWater as ‘fair
value through other comprehensive income’ and therefore the adoption of this standard will not impact the way movements
in the fair value are accounted for.
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Another impact of AASB 9 relates to calculating impairment losses for Council's receivables. Assuming no substantial
change in the nature of receivables, as they don't include a significant financing component, impairment losses will be
determined according to the amount of lifetime expected credit losses. On initial adoption of AASB 9, Council will need to
determine the expected credit losses for its receivables by comparing the credit risk at that time to the credit risk that
existed when those receivables were initially recognised and also factor in any future changes or events.
There will be no impact on Council’s accounting for financial liabilities, as the new requirements only affect the accounting
for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss and Council does not have any such liabilities.
The derecognition rules have been transferred from AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and
have not been changed.
(ii) AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and AASB 2016-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities. A ASB
2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 provides for an effective application from 1
January 2019.
AASB 15 will replace AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and a number of Interpretations. AASB 20168 provides Australian requirements and guidance for not-for-profit entities in applying AASB 9 and AASB 15, and AASB
1058 will replace AASB 1004 Contributions. Together they contain a comprehensive and robust framework for the
recognition, measurement and disclosure of income including revenue from contracts with customers.
Council has commenced analysing the new revenue recognition requirements under these standards and is yet to form
conclusions about significant impacts. Potential future impacts identifiable at the date of this report include:
-

Grants received to construct non-financial assets controlled by Council will be recognised as a liability,
and subsequently recognised progressively as revenue as Council satisfies its performance obligations
under the grant. At present, such grants are recognised as revenue upfront.

-

Under the new standards, other grants presently recognised as revenue upfront may be eligible to be
recognised as revenue progressively as the associated performance obligations are satisfied, but only
if the associated performance obligations are enforceable and sufficiently specific. At present, such
grants are recognised as revenue upfront. When the new standard becomes effective, Council will
evaluate all grant agreements in place at that time to determine whether revenue from those grants
could be deferred under the new requirements.

-

Grants that are not enforceable and/or not sufficiently specific will not qualify for deferral, and continue
to be recognised as revenue as soon as they are controlled. Council receives several grants for which
there are no sufficiently specific performance obligations, for example the Commonwealth Financial
Assistance Grants. These grants are expected to continue being recognised as revenue upfront
assuming no change to the current grant arrangements.

-

Rates received in advance, which are currently required to be recognised as revenue when received
will be deferred under the new requirements until the commencement of the rating period to which
they relate.
Volunteer services and transactions where the consideration is significantly less than the fair value of
that asset acquired, or no consideration is provided (for example below market leases) will be required
to be recognised when certain recognition criterial are met. Council has not yet fully determined the
impact of these requirements on its financial statements.

-

-

Depending on the respective contractual terms, the new requirements of AASB 15 may potentially
result in a change to the timing of revenue from sales of goods and services such that some revenue
may need to be deferred to a later reporting period to the extent that Council has received cash, but
has not met its associated performance obligations (such amounts would be reported as a liability in
the meantime). Council is yet to full complete its analysis of existing arrangements for sale of its
goods and services and the impact on revenue recognition has not yet been fully determined.
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(iii) AASB 16 Leases (effective from 1 January 2019)

AASB 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases
with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognise a right-ofuse asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligations to make
lease payments.
AASB 16 will result in most of Council's operating leases being brought onto the statement of financial position. There are
limited exceptions relating to short-term leases and low-value assets which may remain off the balance sheet.
The calculation of the lease liability will take into account appropriate discount rates, assumptions about the lease term, and
increases in lease payments. A corresponding right to use assets will be recognised, which will be amortised over the term
of the lease.
Rent expense will no longer be shown. The profit and loss impact of the leases will be through amortisation and interest
charges. Councils' current operating lease expenditure is shown at Note 17. In the Statement of Cash Flows lease
payments will be shown as cash flows from finanacing activities instead of operating activities.
Lessor accounting under AASB 16 remains largely unchanged. For finance leases, the lessor recognises a receivable equal
to the net investment in the lease. Lease receipts from operating leases are recognised as income either on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis where appropriate.
(iv) AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107

(effective from 1 January 2017)
Amendments to AASB 107 will require additional disclosures to enable the reader to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities. These disclosures will include both cash flows and non-cash changes between the opening and
closing balance of the relevant liabilities and be disclosed by way of a reconciliation in the notes to the Statement of Cash
Flows.
(v) AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture, AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Effective Date of
Amendments to AASB10 and AASB128 (effective 1 January 2018)
The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in AASB10, and those in AASB128
(2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business
(whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do
not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. AASB 2015-10 has delayed the effective date of
the amendments to 1 January 2018. i.e. Councils' financial statements for year ended 30 June 2019.
All other Australian accounting standards and interpretations with future effective dates are either not applicable to Council's activities,
or have no material impact.

(d) Revenue recognition
Rates, grants and contributions
Rates, grants and contributions (including developer contributions) are recognised as revenues when
Council obtains control over the assets comprising these receipts.
Control over assets acquired from rates is obtained at the commencement of the rating year as it is an
enforceable debt linked to the rateable property or, where earlier, upon receipt of the rates. A provision
for impairment on rates has not been established as unpaid rates represents a charge against the
rateable property that will be recovered when the property is next sold.
Revenue is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the
contribution, it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to Council and
the amount of the contribution can be measured reliably. Control over granted assets is normally
obtained upon their receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier notification that a grant has been secured, and
are valued at their fair value at the date of transfer.

8

Break O'Day Council
2016-2017 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Where grants or contributions recognised as revenues during the financial year were obtained on
condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period and those
conditions were undischarged at balance date, the unused grant or contribution is disclosed in note 6.
The note also discloses the amount of unused grant or contribution from prior years that was expended
on Council’s operations during the current year.
A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite
service has not been provided at balance date and conditions include a requirement to refund unused
contributions. Revenue is then recognised as the various performance obligations under an agreement
are fulfilled.
Non-monetary contributions
Non-monetary contributions (including developer contributions) with a value in excess of the recognition
thresholds, are recognised as revenue and as non-current assets. Non-monetary contributions below
the thresholds are recorded as revenue.
User fees and Statutory fees and fines
Fees and fines are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, the payment is received,
or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs. A provision for impairment is recognised
when collection in full is no longer probable.
Sale of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure
The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to
the buyer.
Rent
Rents are recognised as revenue when the payment is due or the payment is received, whichever first
occurs. Rental payments received in advance are recognised as a prepayment until they are due.
Interest
Interest is recognised progressively as it is earned.
Dividends
Dividend revenue is recognised when Council's right to receive payment is established.
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(e) Expense recognition
Expenses are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income when a
decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in asset or an increase of a liability has
arisen that can be measured reliably.
Employee benefits
Employee benefits include, where applicable, entitlements to wages and salaries, annual leave, sick
leave, long service leave, superannuation and any other post-employment benefits.
Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangibles
Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, infrastructure and other assets having limited useful
lives are systematically depreciated over their useful lives to the Council in a manner which reflects
consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets. Estimates of remaining useful lives and
residual values are made on a regular basis with major asset classes reassessed annually. Depreciation
rates and methods are reviewed annually.
Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these
components are assigned distinct useful lives and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is
determined for each component.
Land, heritage and road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not
having a limited useful life.
Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year.
Major depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise
stated:
Period
Land improvements
Buildings

25 years
40 years

Plant and Equipment
plant, machinery and equipment
fixtures, fittings and furniture
computers and telecommunications

3-25 years
2-40 years
5-10 years

Roads
road pavements and seals
road substructure
road formation and earthworks
road kerb, channel and minor culverts

22-85 years
100 years
100 years
85 years

Bridges
bridges deck
bridges substructure

20-80 years
20-80 years

Other Infrastructure
footpaths and cycleways
drainage
recreational, leisure and community facilities
waste management
parks, open space and streetscapes

50 years
60-80 years
25 years
25 years
25 years
5 years

Municipal revaluations
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Repairs and maintenance
Routine maintenance, repair costs, and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred. Where the
repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation
threshold the cost is capitalised and depreciated. The carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed.
Borrowing Costs
Finance costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except where they
are capitalised as part of a qualifying asset constructed by Council. Where specific borrowings are
obtained for the purpose of specific asset acquisition, the weighted average interest rate applicable to
borrowings at balance date, excluding borrowings associated with superannuation, is used to determine
the borrowing costs to be capitalised. No borrowing costs were capitalised during the period, (2016 $0).

Finance costs include interest on bank overdrafts, interest on borrowings, unwinding of discounts.
(f) Recognition and measurement of assets
Acquisition and Recognition
Acquisitions of assets are initially recorded at cost. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets
given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition.
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment received in the form of contributions, are recognised as
assets and revenues at fair value by Council valuation where that value exceeds the recognition
thresholds for the respective asset class. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell the asset in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour,
borrowing costs incurred during construction, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable
and fixed overheads.
The following classes of assets have been recognised in note 23. In accordance with Council's policy,
the threshold limits detailed below have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset class
and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year:
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Threshold
$

Land
land
land improvements
land under roads
Buildings
buildings
building improvements
heritage buildings
Plant and Equipment
plant, machinery and equipment
fixtures, fittings and furniture
computers and telecommunications
leased plant and equipment
Roads

5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
1,500
1,500
1,500
1,500

road pavements and seals
road substructure
road formation and earthworks

5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000

road kerb, channel and minor culverts
Bridges
bridges deck
bridges substructure
Other Infrastructure
footpaths and cycleways
drainage
recreational, leisure and community facilities
waste management
parks, open space and streetscapes
off street car parks
Municipal revaluations

5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
1,500

Revaluation

Council has adopted the following valuation bases for its non-current assets:
Land
Land improvements
Plant and machinery
Furniture, fittings and office equipment
Stormwater and drainage infrastructure
Roads and streets infrastructure
Bridges
Buildings
Parks, recreation facilities and community amenities
Heritage
Investment in water corporation
Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and
equipment, furniture and fittings and computers, are measured at their fair value in accordance with
AASB 116 Property, Plant & Equipment and AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement . At balance date,
Council reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair value to ensure
that each asset class materially approximated its fair value. Where the carrying value materially differed
from the fair value at balance date the class of asset was revalued.
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In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a
regular basis to ensure valuations represent fair value. The valuation is performed either by
experienced Council officers or independent experts.
Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy. Changes to the valuation
hierarchy will only occur if an external change in the restrictions or limitations of use on an asset result in
changes to the permissible or practical highest and best use of the asset. Further details regarding the
fair value hierarchy are disclosed at Note 34, Financial Instruments.

Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation
reserve except to the extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset
that had been recognised as an expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up to the
amount of the expense. Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior
increments are included in the asset revaluation surplus for that class of asset in which case the
decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments. Within the same class of
assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset.
Land under roads

Land under roads was recognised for the first time in the 2016 financial statements, consistent with the
Report to Parliament by the Auditor-General No. 5 of 2013-2014 Infrastructure Financial Accounting in
Local Government. Because of its materiality, land under roads is now reported as a separate category
of non-current assets.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts.
(h) Trade and other receivables
Receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. A provision for
impairment is recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred.
(i)

Financial assets
Council does not hold any financial assets

(j)

Inventories
Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost adjusted when applicable for any loss of service
potential.
Other inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Where inventories are acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, the cost shall be the current
replacement cost as at the date of acquisition.
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(k) Investments in water corporation
Council's investment in TasWater is valued at its fair value at balance date. Fair value was determined
by using Council's ownership interest against the water corporation's net asset value at balance date. At
30 June 2017, Council held a 2.10% (2016: 2.10%) ownership interest in TasWater which is based on
schedule 2 of the Corporations Constitution which reflects the council's voting rights. Any unrealised
gains and losses are recognised through the Statement of Comprehensive Income to a Financial assets
available for sale Reserve each year (refer note 28).
Council has classified this asset as an Available-for-Sale financial asset as defined in AASB 139
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and has followed AASB 132 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to value and present the
asset in the financial report. Council's investment is not traded in an active market and is only sensitive to
fluctuations in the value of TasWater's net assets.
Council has derived returns from the corporation as disclosed at note 11.
(l)

Investments
Investments, other than investments in associates and property, are measured at cost.

(m) Accounting for investments in associates
Council's investment in associates is accounted for by the equity method as Council has the ability to
influence rather than control the operations of the entities. The investment is initially recorded at the cost
of acquisition and adjusted thereafter for post-acquisition changes in Council's share of the net assets of
the entities. Council's share of the financial result of the entities is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
(n) Tender deposits
Amounts received as tender deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as
Trust funds until they are returned or forfeited (refer to note 25).
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(o) Employee benefits
(i)

Short term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick
leave expected to be wholly settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liability
for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term employee
benefit obligations are presented as payables.

(ii) Other long term employee benefit obligations
The liability for long service leave and annual leave which is not expected to be wholly settled within 12
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service is recognised in the
provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the
projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted
using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to
maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the statement of financial position if the entity does
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date,
regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

(iii) Sick Leave
No accrual is made for sick leave as Council experience indicates that, on average, sick leave taken in
each reporting period is less than the entitlement accruing in that period, and this experience is expected
to recur in future reporting periods. Council does not make payment for untaken sick leave.
(iv) Retirement benefit obligations
All employees of the Council are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death. Council contributes
to various defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans on behalf of its employees.
Defined benefit plans
A liability or asset in respect of defined benefit superannuation plans would ordinarily be recognised in
the statement of financial position, and measured as the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the reporting date plus unrecognised actuarial gains (less unrecognised actuarial losses) less the fair
value of the superannuation fund’s assets at that date and any unrecognised past service cost. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation is based on expected future payments which arise from
membership of the fund to the reporting date, calculated annually by independent actuaries using the
projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures and periods of service. However, when this information is not reliably
available, Council accounts for its obligations to defined benefit plans on the same basis as its
obligations to defined contribution plans i.e as an expense when it becomes payable.
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Defined contribution plans
Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense as they become payable.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.
(p) Interest bearing liabilities
The borrowing capacity of Council is limited by the Local Government Act 1993. Interest bearing liabilities
are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition
these liabilities are measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
over the period of the liability using the effective interest method.

(q) Leases
Finance leases
Leases of assets where substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset, are
transferred to the Council are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised, recording an
asset and a liability at the lower of the fair value of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease
payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease payments are allocated between the
reduction of the lease liability and the interest expense. Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line
basis over their estimated useful lives to Council where it is likely that Council will obtain ownership of the
asset or over the term of the lease, whichever is the shorter. Council has no leased assets..
Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to Council
as lessee are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.
Lease income from operating leases where Council is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
(r) Allocation between current and non-current
In the determination of whether an asset or liability is current or non-current, consideration is given to the
time when each asset or liability is expected to be settled. The asset or liability is classified as current if it
is expected to be settled within the next twelve months, being Council's operational cycle, or if Council
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of a liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting date.
(s) Taxation
Council is exempt from all forms of taxation except Fringe Benefits Tax, Payroll Tax and the Goods and
Services Tax.
Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.
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(t) Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the
assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount in which
case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation reserve in respect of the same
class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation
surplus for that same class of asset. For non-cash generating assets of Council such as roads, drains,
public buildings and the like, value in use is represented by the deprival value of the asset approximated
by its written down replacement cost.

(u) Rounding
Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest whole dollar.
(v) Budget
The estimated revenue and expense amounts in the Statement of Comprehensive Income represent
revised budget amounts and are not audited.
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Note 2 Functions/Activities of the Council
(a) Revenue, expenditure and assets attributable to each function as categorised in (c) below:

Grants

Other

Total
Revenue

Total
Expenditure

Surplus/
(Deficit)

Assets

Government and administration
2016 - 2017
5,000
2015 - 2016
-

190,409
4,366

195,409
4,366

632,340
498,176

(436,931)
(493,810)

7,464
10,368

Roads, streets and bridges
2016 - 2017
3,359,060
2015 - 2016
3,157,983

2,757,187
2,677,545

6,116,247
5,835,528

4,790,953
5,636,662

1,325,294
198,866

92,690,906
88,116,717

20,000
-

43,757
-

63,757
-

431,841
462,529

(368,084)
(462,529)

17,566,264
17,493,621

Waste management
2016 - 2017
2015 - 2016

8,678
-

1,596,684
1,497,774

1,605,362
1,497,774

1,870,991
1,771,801

(265,629)
(274,027)

225,179
240,359

Environmental health
2016 - 2017
2015 - 2016

63,640
34,400

103,238
114,697

166,878
149,097

407,968
376,018

(241,090)
(226,921)

217,699
220,474

Planning services
2016 - 2017
2015 - 2016

-

297,726
232,527

297,726
232,527

462,383
454,157

(164,657)
(221,630)

7,103
12,902

Building control
2016 - 2017
2015 - 2016

-

170,481
203,240

170,481
203,240

232,639
235,998

(62,158)
(32,758)

35,402
26,232

Community amenities
2016 - 2017
2015 - 2016

-

41,563
67,448

41,563
67,448

428,679
483,094

(387,116)
(415,646)

3,135,998
3,079,348

Community services
2016 - 2017
2015 - 2016

21,280
105,573

2,412
5,605

23,692
111,178

741,083
553,340

(717,391)
(442,162)

608,660
628,372

Recreation facilities
2016 - 2017
2015 - 2016

74,852
296,900

76,334
882,729

151,186
1,179,629

632,552
643,920

(481,366)
535,709

9,051,121
8,042,910

Economic development
2016 - 2017
15,000
2015 - 2016
-

40,377
46,636

55,377
46,636

293,568
295,754

(238,191)
(249,118)

101,938
102,967

Other - not attributable
2016 - 2017
2,168,012
2015 - 2016
602,345

5,394,149
7,395,695

7,562,161
7,998,040

2,628,061
2,352,820

4,934,100
5,645,220

55,998,346
51,739,015

10,714,317
13,128,262

16,449,839
17,325,463

13,553,058
13,764,269

2,896,781
3,561,194

179,646,080
169,713,285

Drainage
2016 - 2017
2015 - 2016

Total
2016 - 2017
2015 - 2016

5,735,522
4,197,201
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(b) Reconciliation of Assets from note 2 with the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June:

2017
$
8,515,887
171,130,193
179,646,080

Current assets
Non-current assets

2016
$
7,690,697
162,022,588
169,713,285

(c) Governance and administration

Operation and maintenance of council chambers, administration offices, and councillors.
Roads, streets and bridges
Construction, maintenance and cleaning of road, streets, footpaths, bridges, parking facilities and street lighting.

Drainage
Operation and maintenance of open or deep drainage systems in urban areas, including the lining of piping of creeks but
excludes drainage associated with road works, flood mitigation and agriculture.

Waste Management
Collection, handling, processing and disposal of all waste materials.
Environmental Health/Environmental Management
Environmental Health includes disease control, food surveillance, public-use building standards, health education and
promotion, water quality, workplace safety and cemeteries.
Environmental management includes strategies and programs for the protection of the environment and regulations of activities
affecting the environment.
Planning Services
Administration of the town planning scheme, subdivisions and urban and rural renewal programs.
Building control
The development and maintenance of building constructions standards.
Community amenities
Operation and maintenance of housing for aged persons and persons of limited means, Civic Centre, Council halls (excluding
indoor sports complexes).

Community services
Administration and operation of dog registration, operation of pounds, control of straying stock, and noxious weeds. Operation
and support of the performing arts, museum and the presentation of festivals. Community Development which provides for the
implementation of a process by which strategies and plans can be developed so that the Council can fulfil their general
responsibility for enhancing the quality of life of the whole community.

Recreation facilities
Operation and maintenance of sporting facilities (includes active and passive recreation and recreation centres).

Economic development
Maintenance and marketing of tourist facilities and property development.
Other - not attributable
Rates and charges and work not attributed elsewhere.
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Note 3

2017

2016

$

$

Rates and charges
Council uses Assessed Annual Value (AAV) as the basis of valuation of all properties within the municipality. The AAV of a
property is its estimated gross annual rental value.
The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2016-2017 was $68.348 million (2015-2016 $66.229 million). The 20162017 rate in the AAV dollar was 8.56603 cents (2015-2016, 8.23657).

General Rate
Fire Levy
Garbage charge
Wheelie Bin Charges
Revenue in advance
Total rates and charges

6,781,438
320,844
1,086,984
388,666
35,926
8,613,858

6,486,795
316,551
1,018,527
370,388
728
8,192,989

The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipality was 1 January 2013, and the valuation
was applied in the rating year commencing 1 July 2013.
Note 4

Statutory fees and fines
Infringements and costs
Land information certificates
Total statutory fees and fines

Note 5

5,677
102,841
108,518

14,945
80,859
95,804

119,160
16,131
39,456
299,257
14,225
137,248
112,330
87,988
825,795

106,982
29,326
31,156
304,762
14,074
126,530
19,111
87,323
719,264

Summary of grants
Federally funded grants
State funded grants
Others
Total

4,816,394
866,810
52,318
5,735,522

2,613,721
1,549,080
34,400
4,197,201

Grants - Recurrent
Financial assistance grant
Facilitation of Break O'Day NRM
Learner Driver
St Marys Flood Risk Management
Parks & Wildlife Poimena Rd Flood Damage
Parks & Wildlife Public Toilet at Poimena
Delivery of Business Events and Training
26TEN Community Grant for Break O'Day Council
Undertake Roadside Slashing and Roadworks
St Helens Point Road & Tasman Highway Junction Upgrade
Other
Total recurrent grants

4,056,447
34,400
19,280
25,000
217,540
88,324
11,240
4,452,231

1,353,584
34,400
8,118
50,000
45,455
35,000
680,000
2,000
2,208,557

User fees

Waste and garbage
Health food licences/fees
Dog registrations and associated revenue
Building and development services
Commission received
Facility leases and hall hire
Private works
Other fees and charges
Total user fees
Ageing analysis of contractual receivables
Please refer to note 34 for the ageing analysis of contractual receivables.
Note 6

Grants
Grants were received in respect of the following :

The Australian Commonwealth Government provides Financial Assistance Grants to Council for general purpose use and the
provision of local roads. In 2016-17 the Commonwealth made early payment of the two quarterly instalments for the following year.
In accordance with AASB1004 Contributions , Council recognises these grants as revenue when it receives the funds and obtains
control. The early receipt of instalments resulted in Commonwealth Government Financial Assistance Grants being above that
originally budgeted in 2016-17 by $1,377,088. This has impacted the Statement of Comprehensive Income resulting in the Surplus
being higher in 2016-17 by this amount.
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2017

2016

$

$

693,695
14,000
27,252
91,066
110,000
270,000
20,000
33,600
15,000
8,678
1,283,291

1,260,137
250,000
250,000
38,500
11,607
8,400
170,000
1,988,644

604,993

603,120

(36,265)
(14,084)
(16,178)
(10,692)
(282,286)
(26,716)
(14,230)
(4,800)
(405,251)

(63,871)
(43,374)
(60,758)
(10,770)
(15,890)
(135,183)
(329,846)

Unexpended at the close of this reporting period

14,000
21,923
9,919
5,000
27,252
15,000
62,937
19,280
175,311
375,053

250,000
36,265
45,454
331,719
604,993

Net increase (decrease) in non-reciprocal grant revenues for the year:

(229,940)

1,873

72,642
11,425

38,335
3,093

84,067

41,428

82,097
82,097

833,000
833,000

166,164

874,428

Capital grants received specifically for new or upgraded assets
Commonwealth Government - roads to recovery
Break O'Day Multi-Purpose Indoor Stadium
Safer Communities
Flood Relief
Cornwall Bridge
Golden Fleece Bridge
Stormwater
Tourism funding
Community infrastructure
Georges Bay\Parnella Landslide Area
Multi-Sport Ablution Facility
Great Eastern Drive Signs
Tourism Funding Program
St Helens Point Road & Tasman Highway Junction Upgrade
Other
Total capital grants
Conditions on grants
Non-reciprocal grants which were obtained on the condition that they be expended for
specified purposes or in a future period, but which are not yet expended in accordance
with those conditions, are as follows:
Unexpended at the close of the previous reporting period
Less: expended during the current period from revenues recognised in previous
reporting periods
Multi-Sport Ablution Facility
26TEN Community Grant for Break O'Day Council
Learner Driver Mentor Program
St Helens Point Road & Tasman Highway Junction Upgrade
Georges Bay\Parnella Landslide Area
Old Tasmanian Hotel Upgrade
Whale Trail
Youth Grant
Feasibility Study for Artificial Dive Reef
Trail of the Tin Dragon
Plus: amounts recognised as revenues in this reporting period but not yet expended in
accordance with the conditions

Projectors for Stadium
St Marys Flood Risk Management $40k Grant
Public Toilet at Poimena, Blue Tier Regional
Asset Management Planning (LGAT)
Safer Communities
Community Infrastructure Fund Grant
Roads to recovery
Learner Driver Mentor Program
Georges Bay\Parnella Landslide Area
Multi-Sport Ablution Facility
26TEN Community Grant for Break O'Day Council

Note 7

Contributions
Cash
Heavy Vehicle Contribution Fees
Parks, open space and streetscapes
Total
(b) Non-monetary assets
Drainage
Recreation and sports centres
Total

Total contributions
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Note 8

Less amounts capitalised
Total employee benefits

45,047
11,539
46,337
29,291
3,568
135,782

334,365
(383,905)
(49,540)

50,030
(397,345)
(347,315)

377,457
168,999
49,991
596,447

394,450
109,269
47,335
551,054

3,101,170
63,327
368,161
394,907
36,390
49,885
21,562
172,547
4,207,949
(273,358)
3,934,591

3,059,843
56,879
460,331
387,145
48,945
38,672
23,284
168,418
4,243,517
(212,166)
4,031,351

1,175,478
1,338,752
1,507,080
60,185
456,038
118,443
4,655,976

997,053
1,513,337
1,396,685
111,288
440,754
125,450
4,584,567

9,157
(19,111)
(9,954)

9,562
491
(41,648)
(31,595)

Materials and services
Materials and services
Contract payments
Waste Collection Contracts
Plant and equipment maintenance and hire
Professional and consultants fees
Fuel and lubricants
Total materials and services

Note 14

101,371
12,107
2,007
45,940
24,223
185,648

Employee benefits
Wages and salaries
Workers compensation
Annual leave and long service leave
Superannuation
Fringe benefits tax
Staff training, recruitment and conferences
Uniforms and protective clothing
Payroll tax, licences and membership fees

Note 13

185,009
92,842
277,851

Investment revenue from water corporation
Dividend revenue received
Tax equivalent received
Guarantee fee received
Total investment revenue from water corporation

Note 12

174,810
92,617
267,427

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Proceeds of sale
Written down value of assets disposed
Total

Note 11

$

Other income
Sale of goods
Employment subsidies
S137 unclaimed funds
Reimbursements
Other
Total other income

Note 10

2016

$
Interest
Interest on financial assets
Interest and penalties on rates
Total
Note 9

2017

Impairment of receivables
Rates debtors
Other debtors
Recoveries of previous bad debts
Total impairment of receivables
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Note 15

2017

2016

$

$

164,763

141,260

219,942
168

189,294
166

283,461
201,821

295,759
207,783

1,726,585
410,914
329,351

1,958,237
469,975
328,995

22,000
3,359,005

22,400
3,613,869

362,450
362,450

360,589
360,589

33,880
6,297
179,505
317,459
208,281
182,484
134,437
42,695
135,317
10,635
1,250,990

47,510
6,121
180,033
306,884
213,985
180,803
210,734
35,709
23,709
1,205,488

33,068,952
216,947
33,285,899

32,515,476
553,476
33,068,952

Depreciation and amortisation
Property

Land improvements
Buildings
Buildings
Heritage buildings
Plant and Equipment

Plant, machinery and equipment
Fixtures, fittings and furniture
Infrastructure

Roads
Bridges
Drainage
Other assets

Municipal ravaluation
Total depreciation and amortisation
Note 16

Finance costs
Interest - Borrowings
Total finance costs

Note 17

Other expenses
External auditors' remuneration
Internal auditors' remuneration and expenses
Councillors' allowances and reimbursements
Fire levy
Light and power
Rates discounts and remissions
Community support and donations
Land tax
Tip site rehabilitation provision
Other
Total other expenses

Note 18

Investment in water corporation

Opening Balance
Fair Value adjustments on Available-for-Sale Assets
Total investment in water corporation

On 7 March 2017 the State Government announced its intention to take ownership of Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation
Pty Ltd from July 2018. The State Government intends to introduce a suite of legislation in the Spring Session of Parliament that
will transfer all of Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation Pty Ltd’s assets, rights, obligations and liabilities, including
employees under their current terms and conditions, to a newly created government business, which will commence operations by
1 July 2018. As, at the date of these financial statements, there is no indication as to whether the legislation will be passed, no
change has been made to the basis on which the investment Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation Pty Ltd has been
recognised for the year ended 30 June 2017.
Council has derived returns from the water corporation as disclosed at note 11.
Note 19

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Cash on deposit
Committee accounts
Total cash and cash equivalents

2,900
328,961
6,856,484
42,716
7,231,061

2,650
355,413
6,675,152
37,578
7,070,793

- Trust funds and deposits (note 25 )
- Conditions on grants (note 6 )
- Leave provisions (note 27)
Restricted funds

236,757
375,053
1,185,128
1,796,938

274,737
604,993
967,735
1,847,465

Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents

5,434,123

5,223,328

Councils cash and cash equivalents are subject to a number of internal and external
restrictions that limit amounts available for discretionary or future use. These include:
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Note 20

Trade and other receivables
Current
Rates debtors
Other debtors
Provision for impairment
Net GST receivable
Total
Non-current
Loans and advances to community organisations
Total
Total trade and other receivables

Note 21

Note 22

Inventories
Inventories held for consumption
Total inventories

2017

2016

$

$

323,558
791,810
(48,971)
998
1,067,395

391,784
76,195
(65,935)
402,044

14,392
14,392

14,392
14,392

1,081,787

416,436

137,844
137,844

143,849
143,849

19,428
37,759
22,400
79,587

21,848
29,763
22,400
74,011

30,000
6,000
36,000

28,000
28,000

Other assets
Current

Prepayments
Accrued income*
Municipal revaluation
Total
Non-current

Shares in Bendigo Bank
Municipal revaluation
Total
* Accrued income only includes items that are reciprocal in nature. This does not include Rates in Advance.

24

Break O'Day Council
2016-2017 Financial Report

Note 23

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
2017
$

Summary
at cost
Less accumulated depreciation

2016
$

14,232,316
5,632,236
8,600,080

12,408,748
6,220,244
6,188,504

at fair value as at 30 June
Less accumulated depreciation

185,663,612
56,469,790
129,193,822

180,074,482
57,351,742
122,722,740

Total

137,793,902

128,911,244

6,018,110
6,018,110

5,612,969
5,612,969

2,628,405
2,628,405

2,628,405
2,628,405

4,576,126
2,145,590
2,430,536

4,061,430
1,998,724
2,062,706

11,077,051

10,304,080

11,007,181
731,907
10,275,274

9,352,269
496,272
8,855,997

16,663
1,800
14,863

16,663
1,632
15,031

Total Buildings

10,290,137

8,871,028

Total Property

21,367,188

19,175,108

Property
Land
at fair value at 30 June
Land under roads
at Council valuation at 30 June

Land improvements
at cost
Less accumulated depreciation

Total Land
Buildings
at fair value at 30 June
Less accumulated depreciation
Heritage buildings
at fair value at 30 June
Less accumulated depreciation

25

Break O'Day Council
2016-2017 Financial Report

Note 23

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Plant and Equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment
at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Fixtures, fittings and furniture
at cost
Less accumulated depreciation

Total Plant and Equipment
Infrastructure
Roads
at fair value at 30 June
Less accumulated depreciation
Bridges
at fair value at 30 June
Less accumulated depreciation
Drainage
at fair value at 30 June
Less accumulated depreciation

Total Infrastructure

Works in progress
Buildings at cost
Roads at cost
Land improvements at cost
Drainage
Bridges
Fixtures, fittings and furniture
Total Works in progress

Total property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
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3,798,927
2,484,751
1,314,176

3,822,007
2,835,420
986,587

1,565,041
1,001,895
563,146

1,965,812
1,386,100
579,712

1,877,322

1,566,299

112,781,983
38,276,553
74,505,430

108,571,830
38,525,082
70,046,748

25,970,324
7,784,848
18,185,476

27,080,992
9,011,023
18,069,969

27,240,946
9,674,682
17,566,264

26,811,354
9,317,733
17,493,621

110,257,170

105,610,338

200,275
1,474,483
817,708
5,289
1,794,467
4,292,222

662,927
838,741
593,484
6,179
456,417
1,751
2,559,499

137,793,902

128,911,244
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Note 23 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
Reconciliation of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

2017

Balance at
beginning of
financial year

Acquisition of
assets

Revaluation
increments
(decrements)

Depreciation and
amortisation

Written down
value of
disposals

Transfers

Balance at end of
financial year

$

$

(note 28)
$

(note 15)
$

$

$

$

Property
land
land under roads
land improvements
Total land

5,612,969
2,628,405
2,062,706
10,304,080

-

443,481
443,481

164,763
164,763

38,340
38,340

532,593
532,593

6,018,110
2,628,405
2,430,536
11,077,051

buildings
heritage buildings
Total buildings
Total property

8,855,997
15,031
8,871,028
19,175,108

-

853,352
853,352
1,296,833

219,942
168
220,110
384,873

23,775
23,775
62,115

809,642
809,642
1,342,235

10,275,274
14,863
10,290,137
21,367,188

283,461
201,821
485,282

33,701
1,781
35,482

20,615
20,615

1,314,176
563,146
1,877,322

1,726,585
410,914
329,351
2,466,850

210,498
75,810
286,308

1,193,030
797,887
319,897
2,310,814

74,505,430
18,185,476
17,566,264
110,257,170

(809,642)
(1,193,030)
(532,593)
(20,615)
(319,897)
(797,887)
(3,673,664)

200,275
1,474,483
817,708
5,289
1,794,467
4,292,222

Plant and Equipment
plant, machinery and equipment
fixtures, fittings and furniture
Total plant and equipment
Infrastructure
roads
bridges
drainage
Total infrastructure
Works in progress
buildings
roads
land Improvements
fixtures, fittings and furniture
drainage
bridges
Total works in progress
Total property, plant and equipment,
infrastructure

986,587
579,712
1,566,299

644,751
166,421
811,172

70,046,748
18,069,969
17,493,621
105,610,338

82,097
82,097

662,927
838,741
593,484
1,751
6,179
456,417
2,559,499

346,990
1,828,772
756,817
18,864
319,007
2,135,937
5,406,387

128,911,244

6,299,656

5,202,735
(195,656)
5,007,079

6,303,912

3,337,005

383,905

-

(a) Impairment losses
Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income under other expenses.
Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income under other revenue.
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Note 23

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
Reconciliation of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

2016

Balance at
beginning of
financial year

Acquisition of
assets

Revaluation
increments
(decrements)

Depreciation
and
amortisation

Written down
value of
disposals

Transfers

WIP transferred
to expense

Balance at end of
financial year

$

$

(note 28)
$

(note 15)
$

$

(a)
$

$

$

Property
land
land under roads
land improvements
Total land

5,427,269
2,423,183
7,850,452

185,700
2,628,405
11,607
2,825,712

-

141,260
141,260

1,018
1,018

(229,806)
(229,806)

-

5,612,969
2,628,405
2,062,706
10,304,080

buildings
heritage buildings
Total buildings
Total property

6,233,883
15,197
6,249,080
14,099,532

864,112
864,112
3,689,824

-

189,294
166
189,460
330,720

1,018

1,947,296
1,947,296
1,717,490

-

8,855,997
15,031
8,871,028
19,175,108

1,181,504
727,901
1,909,405

106,719
59,594
166,313

-

295,759
207,783
503,542

5,877
5,877

-

986,587
579,712
1,566,299

(260,916) 1,958,237
32,869
469,975
1,826,025
328,995
1,597,978 2,757,207

298,447
92,003
390,450

-

70,046,748
18,069,969
17,493,621
105,610,338

Plant and Equipment
plant, machinery and equipment
fixtures, fittings and furniture
Total plant and equipment
Infrastructure
roads
bridges
drainage
Total infrastructure
Works in progress
buildings
roads
land Improvements
fixtures, fittings and furniture
drainage
bridges
Total works in progress
Total property, plant and equipment,
infrastructure

71,299,208
17,369,296
15,100,320
103,768,824

-

1,449,575
881,228
192,675
1,751
778,641
3,303,870

1,161,108
1,536,882
577,367
245,581
947,802
4,468,740

123,081,631

8,324,877

1,597,978

3,591,469

397,345

1,265,140
1,229,782
896,271
3,391,193

(1,947,296)
(1,523,635)
(168,568)
(239,402)
(1,229,782)
(5,108,683)
-

(a) Impairment losses
Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income under other expenses.
Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income under other revenue.
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(460)
(55,734)
(7,990)
(40,244)
(104,428)

662,927
838,741
593,484
1,751
6,179
456,417
2,559,499
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2017
$

2016
$

1,187,955
4,257
157,274
1,349,486

559,396
2,423
153,025
714,844

9,000
168,618
4,885
50,872
3,382
236,757

42,000
157,533
5,515
67,501
2,188
274,737

312,292

298,900

7,651,611
7,963,903

7,963,903
8,262,803

312,292
1,395,765
6,255,846
7,963,903

298,900
1,335,785
6,628,118
8,262,803

Note 24 Trade and other payables
Trade payables
Net GST payable
Accrued expenses
Total trade and other payables
Note 25 Trust funds and deposits
Refundable building deposits
Section 137 seizures
Refundable civic facilities deposits
Retention amounts
Other refundable deposits
Total trust funds and deposits
Note 26 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Current
Borrowings - secured
Non-current
Borrowings - secured
Total
Borrowings are secured over Council's rates revenue.
The maturity profile for Council's borrowings is:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Total
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Note 27 Provisions
Annual leave
& RDO's

Long service
leave

Landfill
restoration

Balance at beginning of the financial year
Additional provisions
Amounts used
Balance at the end of the financial year

$
356,408
266,712
(234,644)
388,476

$
437,144
95,474
(51,761)
480,857

$
115,375
135,317
250,692

$
58,808
28,747
(22,452)
65,103

$
967,735
526,250
(308,857)
1,185,128

2016
Balance at beginning of the financial year
Additional provisions
Amounts used
Balance at the end of the financial year

328,321
256,823
(228,736)
356,408

275,875
183,553
(22,284)
437,144

91,069
24,306
115,375

44,281
39,073
(24,546)
58,808

739,546
503,755
(275,566)
967,735

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

388,476
230,327
45,361
664,164

356,408
188,964
39,450
584,822

250,530
19,742
250,692
520,964

248,180
19,358
115,375
382,913

664,164
520,964
1,185,128

584,822
382,913
967,735

-0.84%
2.01%
10

6.65%
1.65%
10

388,476

356,408

230,327
618,803

188,964
545,372

250,530

248,180

50

52

2017

(a) Employee benefits and oncosts
(i) Current
Annual leave and RDO's
Long service leave
Other

(ii) Non-current
Long service leave
Other
Landfill restoration
Aggregate carrying amount of employee benefits:
Current
Non-current

Other

Total

The following assumptions were adopted in measuring
the present value of employee benefits:
Weighted average increase in employee costs
Weighted average discount rates
Weighted average settlement period
(i) Current
All annual leave and the long service leave entitlements representing 10 or more years
of continuous service
- Short-term employee benefits, that fall due within 12 months after the end of the period
measured at nominal value
- Other long-term employee benefits that do not fall due within 12 months after the end
of the period measured at present value
(ii) Non-current
Long service leave representing less than 10 years of continuous service measured at present value

(iii) Employee Numbers (FTE)
(b) Land fill restoration

Council is obligated to restore it's waste transfer stations and quarries to a particular standard. Current projections indicate that the waste
transfer station sites will cease operation in 2020, and the quarries will cease operations in 2030 and restoration work is expected to
commence shortly thereafter. The forecast life of the sites is based on current estimates of remaining capacity and the forecast rate of infill.
The provision for restoration has been calculated based on the present value of the expected cost of works to be undertaken. The expected
cost of works has been estimated based on current understanding of work required to reinstate the site to a suitable standard. Accordingly,
the estimation of the provision required is dependent on the accuracy of the forecast timing of the work, work required and related costs.

Council does not expect to receive reimbursement from a third party.
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Note 28 Reserves
Balance at
beginning of
reporting year

Increment

$

(a) Asset revaluation reserve

Balance at end of
reporting year

(decrement)

$

$

$

2017
Property
Land
Land improvements
Buildings
Infrastructure
Roads
Bridges
Drainage
Total asset revaluation reserve

1,055,481
16,273
267,016
1,338,770

443,481
853,352
1,296,833

-

1,498,962
16,273
1,120,368
2,635,603

122,586,656
1,198,653
12,385,525
136,170,834

5,202,735
5,202,735

(195,656)
(195,656)

127,789,391
1,002,997
12,385,525
141,177,913

137,509,604

6,499,568

(195,656)

143,813,516

2016
Property
Land
Land improvements
Buildings

1,055,481
16,273
267,016
1,338,770

Infrastructure
Roads
Bridges
Drainage
Total asset revaluation reserve

-

-

1,055,481
16,273
267,016
1,338,770

122,847,572
1,165,784
10,559,500
134,572,856

32,869
1,826,025
1,858,894

(260,916)
(260,916)

122,586,656
1,198,653
12,385,525
136,170,834

135,911,626

1,858,894

(260,916)

137,509,604

The asset revaluation reserve was established to capture the movements in asset valuations upon the periodic revaluation of
Council's assets.
Balance at
beginning of
reporting year

Increment

Balance at end of
reporting year

(decrement)

(b) Fair value reserve
$

$

$

$

2017
Available-for-sale assets
Investment in water corporation
Total fair value reserve

(3,014,484)
(3,014,484)

216,947
216,947

-

(2,797,537)
(2,797,537)

(3,567,960)
(3,567,960)

553,476
553,476

-

(3,014,484)
(3,014,484)

2016
Available-for-sale assets
Investment in water corporation
Total fair value reserve

The available-for-sale financial asset reserve was established to capture the fair value movements in Council's Water
Corporation investment.
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Balance at
beginning of
reporting year

Transfer from
accumulated
surplus

$

(c) Other reserves

Transfer to
accumulated
surplus

Balance at end of
reporting year

$

$

$

2017
Facilities and properties
Other Reserves
Total Other reserves

349,401
575,315
924,716

51,042
51,042

347,172
518,637
865,809

2,229
56,678
58,907

(277,551)
(277,551)

71,850
626,357
698,207

2016
Facilities and properties
Other Reserves
Total Other reserves

-

349,401
575,315
924,716

Facilities and properties reserve recognises those funds that are being retained for future contributions to capital works on
Council properties, buildings and recreational facilities. It includes contributions from developers towards establishment of public
open space areas.
Other reserves are amounts set aside for specific purposes. These largely include grants not yet expended and funds received
for various community development and cultural projects.
2017
$

2016
$

141,714,186

135,419,836

Surplus/(Deficit)

2,896,781

3,561,194

Depreciation/amortisation
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure
Contributions non-monetary
Recognition of assets
Capital grants received specifically for new
or upgraded assets

3,359,005
49,540
(82,097)
-

3,613,869
347,315
(833,000)
(2,628,405)

(959,691)

(1,988,644)

(665,351)
(5,576)
6,005
634,642
217,393
(37,980)

61,745
164,761
(37,065)
(29,745)
228,189
(92,687)

5,412,671

2,367,527

7,231,061
7,231,061

7,070,793
7,070,793

30,000
3,483
26,517

30,000
8,162
21,838

100,000
91,000
9,000

100,000
91,000
9,000

Total Reserves

Note 29 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus (deficit)

Change in assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in other assets
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

Note 30 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 19 )
Total reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Note 31 Financing arrangements
Credit Card
Used facilities
Unused facilities
Security Deposit Guarantee
Used Facility
Unused facilities
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32 Superannuation
Council makes superannuation contributions for a number of its employees to the Quadrant Defined Benefits Fund (the Fund). The
Fund was a sub fund of the Quadrant Superannuation Scheme (the Scheme) up to 30 November 2015. At this date the Quadrant
Superannuation Scheme merged (via a Successor Fund Transfer) into the Tasplan Super and the Quadrant Defined Benefits Fund
became a sub fund of Tasplan Super (Tasplan) from that date. The Quadrant Defined Benefits Fund has been classified as a multiemployer sponsored plan. As the Fund’s assets and liabilities are pooled and are not allocated by employer, the Actuary is unable
to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers. As provided under paragraph 34 of AASB 119 Employee
Benefits, Council does not use defined benefit accounting for these contributions.
For the year ended 30 June 2017 Council contributed 9.5% of employees’ gross income to the Fund. Assets accumulate in the
fund to meet member benefits as they accrue, and if assets within the fund are insufficient to satisfy benefits payable, Council is
required to meet its share of the deficiency.
Rice Warner Pty Ltd undertook the last actuarial review of the Fund at 30 June 2014. The review disclosed that at that time the net
market value of assets available for funding member benefits was $66,310,000, the value of vested benefits was $57,475,000, the
surplus over vested benefits was $8,835,000, the value of total accrued benefits was $58,093,000, and the number of members
was 187. These amounts relate to all members of the fund at the date of valuation and no asset or liability is recorded in the
Quadrant Superannuation Scheme’s financial statements for Council employees.
The actuarial review concluded that, based on the assumptions used, and assuming the Employer contributes at the levels
described below, the value of the assets is expected to continue to be adequate to meet the value of the liabilities of the Fund in
respect of vested benefits at all times during the period up to 30 June 2017.
Council also contributes to other accumulation schemes on behalf of a number of employees; however the Council has no ongoing
responsibility to make good any deficiencies that may occur in those schemes.
During the year Council made the required superannuation contributions for all eligible employees to an appropriate complying
superannuation fund as required by the Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.
As at 30 June 2016 the fund had 151 members and the total employer contributions and member contributions for the year ending
30 June 2016 were $1,956,576 and $284,779 respectively.
Council adopted reduced disclosure in relation to the Fund based on an assessment that the impact of non-disclosure is
insignificant to users of the accounts. The assessment was based on the number of Council employees that are member of the
Fund (one) and Council’s contributions to the Fund (as noted above) in comparison to both the Fund’s total members and
contributions and Council’s total employee numbers and superannuation contributions. In addition, the Fund is currently in surplus.
If the Fund’s position changes, the need for increased disclosure will be considered.
2017
$

2016
$

12,639
12,639

12,345
12,345

381,337
381,337

374,886
374,886

Contractual commitments
Contractual commitments at end of financial year but not recognised in the financial report are as follows:
Waste transfer stations and collections
Cleaning contracts for council buildings
Total contractual commitments

5,103,596
376,202
5,479,798

4,445,722
376,202
4,821,924

Capital expenditure commitments
Roads and drainage
Bridges
Total capital expenditure commitments

428,733
693,703
1,122,436

365,625
365,625

26,500
109,000
135,500

91,000
91,000

Fund
Defined benefits fund

Employer contributions to Tasplan

Accumulation funds
Employer contributions to super funds

Note 33 Commitments

Contingent liabilities
Seven outstanding legal matters
Security deposit guarantees
Total contingent liabilities
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Note 34 Financial Instruments
(a) Accounting Policy, terms and conditions
Recognised
financial
instruments

Note

Accounting Policy

Terms and Conditions

Cash on hand and at bank and money market call
account are valued at face value.

On call and short term deposits returned a floating
interest rate. The interest rate at balance date was
1.50% on call and 2.32% term deposits (1.05% and
2.83% 2015/16).

Financial assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

19

Interest is recognised as it accrues.
Investments and bills are valued at cost.
Investments are held to maximise interest returns
of surplus cash.
Trade and other receivables
Other debtors

20

Receivables are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. A provision for
impairment is recognised when there is objective
evidence that an impairment loss has occurred.
Collectability of overdue accounts is assessed on
an ongoing basis.

General debtors are unsecured and arrears attract an
interest rate of 10% (10% 2015/16). Credit terms are
based on 30 days.

Available for sale financial assets
Investment in
Water
Corporation

18

The investment in TasWater is valued at its fair
value at balance date. Fair value was determined
by using Council's ownership interest against the
water corporation's net asset value at balance
date.

Investment in TasWater provided return of 1.73%
(1.69 2015-2016) excluding unrealised gains/losses

Trade and other
payables

24

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid
in the future for goods and services provided to
Council as at balance date whether or not
invoices have been received.

General Creditors are unsecured, not subject to
interest charges and are normally settled within 30
days of invoice date.

Interest-bearing
loans and
borrowings

26

Loans are carried at their principal amounts,
which represent the present value of future cash
flows associated with servicing the debt. Interest
is accrued over the period it becomes due and
recognised as part of payables.

Borrowings are secured by way of mortgages over
the general rates of the Council.
The weighted average interest rate on borrowings is
4.43% (4.43% in 2015/16).

Bank overdraft

19

Overdrafts are recognised at the principal
amount. Interest is charged as an expense as it
accrues.

The overdraft is subject to annual review.
It is secured by a mortgage over Council's general
rates and is repayable on demand.
The overdraft was not utilised in 2016-2017

Financial Liabilities
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Note 34 Financial Instruments (cont.)
(b) Interest Rate Risk
The exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised, at
balance date are as follows:

2017

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Floating
interest
rate
$

$

2.32%

1,652,953
1,652,953

5,575,458
5,575,458

Trade and other receivables
Investment in water corporation
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Trust funds and deposits
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Total financial liabilities

Fixed interest maturing in:
1 year or Over 1 to 5 More than 5
less
years
years

Weighted
average
interest
rate

4.43%

Net financial assets (liabilities)

-

312,292
312,292

1,652,953

5,263,166

Non-interest
bearing

Total

$

$

2,650
1,081,787
33,285,899
34,370,336

7,231,061
1,081,787
33,285,899
41,598,747

6,255,846
6,255,846

1,349,486
236,757
1,586,243

1,349,486
236,757
7,963,903
9,550,146

(1,395,765) (6,255,846)

32,784,093

32,048,601

$
-

$
-

1,395,765
1,395,765

2016

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Investment in water corporation
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Trust funds and deposits
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Total financial liabilities

Fixed interest maturing in:
1 year or Over 1 to 5 More than 5
less
years
years

Weighted
average
interest
rate

Floating
interest
rate
$

$

2.83%

2,039,664
2,039,664

5,028,479
5,028,479

4.43%

Net financial assets (liabilities)

2,039,664
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298,900
298,900
4,729,579

Non-interest
bearing

Total

$

$

2,650
416,436
33,068,952
33,488,038

7,070,793
416,436
33,068,952
40,556,181

6,628,118
6,628,118

714,844
274,737
989,581

714,844
274,737
8,262,803
9,252,384

(1,335,785) (6,628,118)

32,498,457

31,303,797

$
-

1,335,785
1,335,785

$
-
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Note 34 Financial Instruments (cont.)

(c) Fair Value
The aggregate net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised, at
balance date are as follows:
Financial Instruments

Total carrying amount as per
2017
2016
$
$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Investment in water corporation
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Trust funds and deposits
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Total financial liabilities

Aggregate net fair value
2017
2016
$
$

7,231,061
1,081,787
33,285,899
41,598,747

7,070,793
416,436
33,068,952
40,556,181

7,231,061
1,081,787
33,285,899
41,598,747

7,070,793
416,436
33,068,952
40,556,181

1,349,486
236,757
7,963,903
9,550,146

714,844
274,737
8,262,803
9,252,384

1,349,486
236,757
8,377,386
9,963,629

714,844
274,737
9,018,889
10,008,470

(d) Credit Risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial asset is
represented by the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Statement of Financial Position.
(e) Risks and mitigation
The risks associated with our main financial instruments and our policies for minimising these risks are detailed
below.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of our financial instruments will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Council's exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only
insignificant exposure to other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk. Components of market risk to
which we are exposed are discussed below.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument
will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial assets
and liabilities that we use. Non derivative interest bearing assets are predominantly short term liquid assets. Our
interest rate liability risk arises primarily from long term loans and borrowings at fixed rates which exposes us to fair
value interest rate risk.

Council loan borrowings are sourced from Tascorp at a Government level of interest rate and security. Finance
leases are sourced from major Australian financial institutions. Overdrafts are arranged with major Australian banks.
We manage interest rate risk on our net debt portfolio by:
- ensuring access to diverse sources of funding;
- reducing risks of refinancing by managing in accordance with target maturity profiles; and
- setting prudential limits on interest repayments as a percentage of rate revenue.
Council manage the interest rate exposure on council debt portfolio by appropriate budgeting strategies and obtaining
approval for borrowings from the Department of Treasury and Finance each year.
Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1993 . We
manage interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures:
- conformity with State and Federal regulations and standards,
- capital protection,
- appropriate liquidity,
- diversification by credit rating, financial institution and investment product,
- monitoring of return on investment,
- benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.
Maturity will be staggered to provide for interest rate variations and to minimise interest rate risk.
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Note 34 Financial Instruments (cont.)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause
Council to make a financial loss. Council have exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in our
Statement of Financial Position. To help manage this risk, Council:
- has a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities we deal with;
- may require collateral where appropriate; and
- only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in our Investment
policy.
Credit risk arises from Council's financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other
receivables. Council's exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. Exposure at balance date is addressed in each
applicable policy note. Council generally trades with recognised, creditworthy third parties, and as such collateral is
generally not requested, nor is it Council's policy to securitise its trade and other receivables.
It is Council's policy that some customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures including an assessment of their credit rating, financial position, past experience and industry reputation.
In addition, receivable balance are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that Council's exposure to bad debts
is not significant.

Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the Statement of Financial
Position, such as when Council provide a guarantee for another party.
Movement in Provisions for Impairment of Trade and Other Receivables

2017
$
(65,935)
(9,157)
7,010
19,111
(48,971)

Balance at the beginning of the year
New/used Provisions recognised during the year
Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible
Amounts provided for but recovered during the year
Balance at end of year

2016
$
(97,644)
(15,498)
5,445
41,762
(65,935)

Ageing of Trade and Other Receivables
At balance date other debtors representing financial assets were past due but not impaired. These amounts relate to
a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing of the Council's Trade
and Other Receivables was:
2017
$
141,723
743,995
98,086
35,136
62,847
1,081,787

Current (not yet due)
Past due by up to 30 days
Past due between 31 and 180 days
Past due between 181 and 365 days
Past due by more than 1 year
Total Trade & Other Receivables

2016
$
52,197
236,860
2,137
52,062
73,180
416,436

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of our operational liquidity requirements:
- will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the date;
- will be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than what they are worth; or
- may be unable to settle or recover a financial assets at all.
To help reduce these risks Council:
- have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained;
- have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place;
- have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid
- monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and
- set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal
repayments to rate revenue.
The Councils exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and current assessment of
risk.
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Note 34 Financial Instruments (cont.)

The table below lists the contractual maturities for Financial Liabilities
These amounts represent the discounted cash flow payments (ie principal only).
2017

Trade and
other payables

6 mths
or less
$

6-12
months
$

1-2
years
$

2-5
years
$

>5
years
$

Contracted
Cash Flow
$

Carrying
Amount
$

1,349,486

-

-

-

-

1,349,486

1,349,486

Trust funds and
deposits

236,757

-

-

-

-

236,757

236,757

Interest-bearing
loans and
borrowings

154,434

157,858

326,296

1,069,469

6,255,846

7,963,903

7,963,903

1,740,677

157,858

326,296

1,069,469

6,255,846

9,550,146

9,550,146

2-5
years
$

>5
years
$

Total financial
liabilities

2016

6 mths
or less
$

6-12
months
$

1-2
years
$

Contracted
Cash Flow
$

Carrying
Amount
$

Trade and
other payables

714,844

-

-

-

-

714,844

714,844

Trust funds and
deposits

274,737

-

-

-

-

274,737

274,737

Interest-bearing
loans and
borrowings

147,813

151,087

312,292

1,023,493

6,628,118

8,262,803

8,262,803

1,137,394

151,087

312,292

1,023,493

6,628,118

9,252,384

9,252,384

Total financial
liabilities
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Note 34 Financial Instruments (cont.)

(f) Sensitivity disclosure analysis
Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge and
experience of the financial markets, the Council believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the
next 12 months (Base rates are sourced from Reserve Bank of Australia):
- A parallel shift of + 1% and -2% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates
The table below discloses the impact on net operating result and equity for each category of financial instruments
held by Council at year-end, if the above movements were to occur.
Interest rate risk
-2 %

-200 basis points
Equity

Profit
2017
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial liabilities:
Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings

+1%

$

+100 basis points
Equity

Profit

$

$

$

7,231,061
1,081,787

(144,621)
(21,636)

(144,621)
(21,636)

72,311
10,818

72,311
10,818

7,963,903

159,278

159,278

(79,639)

(79,639)

Interest rate risk
-2 %

-200 basis points
Equity

Profit
2016
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial liabilities:
Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings

+1%

$

$

+100 basis points
Equity

Profit
$

$

7,070,793
416,436

(141,416)
(8,329)

(141,416)
(8,329)

70,708
4,164

70,708
4,164

8,262,803

165,256

165,256

(82,628)

(82,628)
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Note 35 Events occurring after balance date
No matters have occurred after balance date that warrant disclosure in this report.
Note 36 Special committees and other activities
2017
$

2016
$

Pyengana Ground and Hall Committee
Opening balance cash on hand
Receipts
Less payments
Closing balance - cash on hand

37,578
16,120
(10,982)
42,716

25,117
14,357
(1,896)
37,578

Note 37 Related party transactions
(i) Responsible Persons
Names of persons holding the position of a Responsible Person at the Council at any time during the year are:
Councillors
Councillor Mick Tucker
Councillor John McGiveron
Councillor Hannah Rubenach
Councillor Margaret Osborne
Councillor Glen McGuiness
Councillor John Tucker
Councillor Janet Drummond
Councillor Barry LeFevre
Councillor Kylie Wright
General Manager
Senior Managers

John Brown
Bob Hoogland
Christina Hughes
Jake Ihnen
Paula Kloosterman

(ii) Councillor Remuneration
2017

Short term benefits

Allowances

Mayor
Deputy Mayor
Councillors
Total
2016

Vehicles

Total
allowances and
expenses
section 72

Total
Compensation Expenses1
AASB 124

$

$

$

42,054
23,516
84,105
149,675

-

42,054
23,516
84,105
149,675

$
8,650
3,905
17,275
29,830

$
50,704
27,421
101,380
179,505

Short term benefits

Allowances

Mayor
Deputy Mayor
Councillors
Total

$

$

$

41,109
22,987
82,215
146,311

-

41,109
22,987
82,215
146,311

1 Includes reimbursement for use of private vehicles and phones.
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Vehicles

Total
Compensation Expenses1
AASB 124

$
13,014
4,204
16,504
33,722

Total
allowances and
expenses
section 72

$

54,123
27,191
98,719
180,033
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(iii) Key Management Personnel Remuneration
Short term employee benefits

2017

Remuneration band

$80 001 - $100 000
$100 000 - $120 000
$200 000 - $220 000
Total

Number of
employees

1
4
1

$80 001 - $100 000
$100 000 - $120 000
$140 000 - $160 000
$200 000 - $220 000
Total

Vehicles2

Number of
employees

$

$

70,978
354,503
176,091
601,572

43,288
15,381
58,669

10,250
44,954
21,777
76,981

Salary1

1
3
1
1

Superannuation3

$

Short term employee benefits

2016

Remuneration band

Salary1

Post employment benefits

Vehicles2

Non-monetary
Benefits4

Total

$
2,750
16,724
7,238
26,712

$
83,978
459,469
220,487
763,934

Post employment benefits

Superannuation3

$

$

$

70,405
276,388
113,403
171,383
631,579

20,036
18,709
16,713
55,458

10,181
35,501
15,040
21,131
81,853

Non-monetary
Benefits4

Total

$
3,563
4,317
515
3,881
12,276

$
84,149
336,242
147,667
213,108
781,166

1 Gross Salary includes all forms of consideration paid and payable for services rendered, compensated absences during the period and salary
sacrifice amounts.
2 Includes total cost of providing and maintaining vehicles provided for private use, including registration, insurance, fuel and other
consumables, maintenance cost and parking (including notional value of parking provided at premises that are owned or leased and fringe
benefits tax).
3 Superannuation means the contribution to the superannuation fund of the individual. Superannuation benefits for members of a defined
benefit scheme were calculated at 9.5% of employes' gross income.
4 Other non-monetary benefits include annual and long service leave movements

(iv) Remuneration Principles
Councillors
Councillors are entitled to an allowance based on the number of voters in the Local Government area (LGA) and the revenue of the council.
Councillors are also entitled to reimbursement for telephone, travel, child care and other expenses in accordance with the council's policy.

Executives
The employment terms and conditions of senior executives are contained in individual employment contracts and prescribe total remuneration,
superannuation, annual and long service leave, vehicle and salary sacrifice provisions. In addition to their salaries, Council also provides noncash benefits and contributes to post-employment superannuation plans on their behalf.
The performance of each senior executive, including the General Manager, is reviewed annually which includes a review of their remuneration
package. The terms of employment of each senior executive, including the General Manager, contain a termination clause that requires the
senior executive or Council to provide a minimum notice period of up to 3 months prior to termination of the contract. Whilst not automatic,
contracts can be extended.

(v) Transactions with related parties
During the period Council entered into the following transactions with related parties.

Nature of the transaction
Supply of services and
materials

Amount of the transactions
during the year

Outstanding balances,
including
commitments at year end

Terms and conditions

$4,494

Council owes $95

30-day terms
on invoices

In accordance with s84(2)(b) of the Local Government Act 1993 , no interests have been notified to the General Manager in

respect of any body or organisation with which the Council has major financial dealings.
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Note 38

Management indicators
(a)

Benchmark

2017
$

2016
$

2015
$

2014
$

Underlying surplus or deficit
Net result for the year

2,896,781

3,561,194

4,021,904

(84,199)

Less non-operating income
Capital grants

1,283,291

1,988,644

956,629

1,161,212

FAGs in advance

1,377,088

(1,297,926)

1,297,926

(1,323,181)

151,660

-

-

-

-

2,628,405

-

-

82,097

833,000

2,764,859

-

Disposal of assets
Recognition of land under roads
Contributions - non monetary assets
Add non-operational expenses
Gifted asset
Flood damage rectification
Net loss on disposal of assets for abnormal
reasons
Underlying surplus/deficit

0

-

-

-

-

417,519

280,507

-

-

191,651

-

54,882

-

611,815

(310,422)

(942,628)

77,770

The intent of the underlying result is to show the outcome of a council’s normal or usual day to day operations.
(b)

Underlying surplus ratio
Underlying surplus or deficit
Recurrent income
Underlying surplus ratio %

0%

611,815
13,756,903

(310,422)
13,520,655

(942,628)
12,181,919

77,770
12,274,000

4.4%

-2.3%

-7.7%

0.6%

7,472,837
10,220,119
(2,747,282)

7,772,731
9,882,738
(2,110,007)

7,665,937
6,218,891
1,447,046

This ratio serves as an overall measure of financial operating effectiveness.

(c)

Net financial liabilities
Liquid assets less
total liabilities
Net financial liabilities

0

8,298,456
10,735,274
(2,436,818)

This measure shows whether Council's total liabilities can be met by its liquid assets. An excess of total liabilities over liquid assets
means that, if all liabilities fell due at once, additional revenue would be needed to fund the shortfall.

(d)

Net financial liabilities ratio
Net financial liabilities
Recurrent income
Net financial liabilities ratio %

0% - (50%)

(2,436,818)
13,756,903

(2,747,282)
13,520,655

(2,110,007)
12,181,919

1,447,046
12,274,000

-17.7%

-20.3%

-17.3%

11.8%

This ratio indicates the net financial obligations of Council compared to its recurrent income.
(e)

Asset consumption ratio
An asset consumption ratio has been calculated in relation to each asset class required to be included in the long-term strategic asset
management plan of Council.
Transport Infrastructure
Depreciated replacement cost
Current replacement cost
Asset consumption ratio %
Buildings
Depreciated replacement cost
Current replacement cost

92,690,906
138,752,307

88,116,717
135,652,822

88,668,504
134,749,283

83,348,351
130,228,512

67%

65%

66%

64%

10,275,274
11,007,181

Asset consumption ratio %
Drainage
Depreciated replacement cost
Current replacement cost
Asset consumption ratio %

8,855,997
9,352,269

93%

95%

95%

17,566,264
27,240,946

17,493,621
26,811,354

15,100,320
22,803,324

12,614,021
20,045,582

64%

65%

66%

63%

This ratio indicates the level of service potential available in Council's existing asset base.
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Note 38

Management indicators (cont.)

(f)

2017
$

2016
$

Asset renewal funding ratio
An asset renewal funding ratio is calculated in relation to each asset class required to be included in a long-term strategic asset
management plan of Council. Council has prepared a long-term strategic asset management plan which was adopted in August 2016.
Transport Infrastructure
Projected capital funding outlays**
Projected capital expenditure funding***

1,522,000
1,513,000

Asset renewal funding ratio %

90-100%

Buildings
Projected capital funding outlays**
Projected capital expenditure funding***

2,049,000
1,937,000

101%

106%

192,000
190,000

Asset renewal funding ratio %

90-100%

Drainage
Projected capital funding outlays**
Projected capital expenditure funding***

192,000
230,000

101%

83%

85,000
85,000

Asset renewal funding ratio %

90-100%

15,000
15,000

100%

100%

** Current value of projected capital funding outlays for an asset identified in Council's long-term financial plan.
*** Value of projected capital expenditure funding for an asset identified in Council's long-term strategic asset management plan.
**** Council's ling term strategic management plan has recently been developed hence no ratios are available for earlier years.
This ratio measures Council's capacity to fund future asset replacement requirements.
(g)

Asset sustainability ratio

2017

Capex on replacement/renewal of existing assets
Annual depreciation expense
Asset sustainability ratio %

100%

2015

2014

$
5,198,709
3,359,005

2016
$
2,799,848
3,613,869

$
4,770,601
3,531,188

$
3,471,761
3,397,998

155%

77%

135%

102%

This ratio calculates the extent to which Council is maintaining operating capacity through renewal of their existing asset base.

Capital
renewal
expenditure
$
427,100
61,436
632,499
150,408
1,680,540
2,135,937
110,789
5,198,709

By asset class
Land improvements
Buildings
Plant, machinery and equipment
Fixtures, fittings and furniture
Roads
Bridges
Drainage
Total
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Capital new
/upgrade
expenditure
$
329,717
285,553
12,252
34,877
148,233
208,218
1,018,850

Total Capital
Expenditure
$
756,817
346,989
644,751
185,285
1,828,773
2,135,937
319,007
6,217,559
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

Fair Value Measurements
Council measures and recognises the following assets at fair value on a recurring basis:
Investment in water corporation
Property, infrastructure plant and equipment
- Land
- Buildings, including footpaths & cycleways
- Roads
- Bridges
- Other infrastructure
Council does not measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis.
(a) Fair Value Hierarchy
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires all assets and liabilities measured at fair value to be assigned to a level in the fair value
hierarchy as follows:
Level 1

Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2

Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3

Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The table below shows the assigned level for each asset and liability held at fair value by the Council. The table presents the
Council's assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2017.
The fair values of the assets are determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable data, where it is
available, and minimise the use of entity specific estimates. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market
data, the asset is included in level 3. This is the case for Council infrastructure assets, which are of a specialist nature for which there
is no active market for similar or identical assets. These assets are valued using a combination of observable and unobservable
inputs.
As at 30 June 2017
Note
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
$
$
$
$
Recurring fair value measurements
23
6,018,110
6,018,110
Land
23
2,430,536
2,430,536
Land improvements
23
2,628,405
2,628,405
Land under roads
23
10,290,137
10,290,137
Buildings
23
74,505,430
74,505,430
Roads, including footpaths & cycleways
23
18,185,476
18,185,476
Bridges
23
17,566,264
17,566,264
Drainage
18,936,652
112,687,706
131,624,358
As at 30 June 2016
Note
Recurring fair value measurements
Land
Land improvements
Land under roads
Buildings
Roads, including footpaths & cycleways
Bridges
Drainage

23
23
23
23
23
23
23

Level 1
$
-

Level 2
$
5,612,969
2,628,405
8,871,028
17,112,402

Level 3
$
2,062,706
70,046,748
18,069,969
17,493,621
107,673,044

Total
$
5,612,969
2,062,706
2,628,405
8,871,028
70,046,748
18,069,969
17,493,621
124,785,446

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year, nor between levels 2 and 3.
(b) Highest and best use
All assets valued at fair value in this note are being used for their highest and best use.
(c) Valuation techniques and significant inputs used to derive fair values
Investment in water corporation
Refer to Note 18 for details of valuation techniques used to derive fair values.
Land
Land fair values were determined by the Valuer-General as part of the municipal revaluation at 30 June 2013. Adjustments using
adjustment factors are applied each two years until the next complete revaluation. If there is a material movement then the
adjustment factors are applied. The values were adjusted as at 30 June 2017 to reflect the movement.
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Notes to the Financial Report
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Fair Value Measurements (cont.)
Land under roads
Land under roads was recognised for the first time in the 2016 financial statements, consistent with the Report to Parliament by the
Auditor-General No. 5 of 2013-2014 Infrastructure Financial Accounting in Local Government. Because of its materiality, land under
roads is now reported as a separate category of non-current assets.

Buildings
The fair value of buildings were also determined by the Valuer-General at 30 June 2013. Adjustments using adjustment factors are
applied each two years until the next complete revaluation. If there is a material movement then the adjustment factors are applied.
The values were adjusted as at 30 June 2017 to reflect the movement.
Where Council buildings are of a specialist nature (eg heritage buildings) and there is no active market for the assets, fair value has
been determined on the basis of replacement with a new asset having similar service potential. The gross current values have been
derived from reference to market data for recent projects and costing guides.
Infrastructure assets
All Council infrastructure assets were fair valued using written down current replacement cost. This valuation comprises the asset's
current replacement cost (CRC) less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed
or expired future economic benefits of the asset. Council first determined the gross cost of replacing the full service potential of the
asset and then adjusted this amount to take account of the expired service potential of the asset.
CRC was measured by reference to the lowest cost at which the gross future economic benefits of the asset could currently be
obtained in the normal course of business. The resulting valuation reflects the cost of replacing the existing economic benefits based
on an efficient set of modern equivalent assets to achieve the required level of service output.
The unit rates (labour and materials) and quantities applied to determine the CRC of an asset or asset component were based on a
"Greenfield" assumption meaning that the CRC was determined as the full cost of replacement with a new asset including
components that may not need to be replaced, such as earthworks.
The level of accumulated depreciation for infrastructure assets was determined based on the age of the asset and the useful life
adopted by Council for the asset type. Estimated useful lives and residual values are disclosed in Note 1(e)
The calculation of DRC involves a number of inputs that require judgement and are therefore classed as unobservable. While these
judgements are made by qualified and experienced staff, different judgements could result in a different valuation. The table at (d)
below summarises the effect that changes in the most significant unobservable inputs would have on the valuation.
The methods for calculating CRC are described under individual asset categories below.
Roads, including footpaths & cycleways
A full valuation of roads was undertaken by independent valuers, Maloney Asset Management Systems, effective 1 July 2016 on
depreciated replacement cost. Council categorises its road infrastructure into urban and rural roads and then further sub-categorises
these into sealed and unsealed roads. The values were adjusted as at 30 June 2017 to reflect the movement.
Council categorises its road infrastructure into urban and rural roads and then further sub-categorises these into sealed and
unsealed roads. All road segments are then componentised into formation, pavement, sub-pavement and seal (where applicable).
Council assumes that environmental factors such as soil type, climate and topography are consistent across each segment. Council
also assumes a segment is designed and constructed to the same standard and uses a consistent amount of labour and materials.
CRC is based on the road area multiplied by a unit price; the unit price being an estimate of labour and material inputs, services
costs, and overhead allocations. For internal construction estimates, material and services prices are based on existing supplier
contract rates or supplier price lists and labour wage rates are based on Council's Enterprise Bargaining Agreement (EBA). Where
construction is outsourced, CRC is based on the average of completed similar projects over the last few years.
Bridges
A full valuation of bridge assets was undertaken by independent valuers, TasSpan, effective June 2016. Each bridge is assessed
individually and componentised into sub-assets representing the deck and sub-structure.The valuation is based on the material type
used for construction and the deck and sub-structure area.
Drainage
Revaluation and assessments of drainage was undertaken by Council Officers as at 1 July 2015.The valuations were based on
depreciated replacement cost using unit replacement rates provided by AJL Consulting Engineers.
Consistent with roads, Council assumes that environmental factors such as soil type, climate and topography are consistent across
each segment and that a segment is designed and constructed to the same standard and uses a consistent amount of labour and
materials.
CRC is based on the unit price for the component type. For pipes, the unit price is multiplied by the asset's length. The unit price for
pipes is based on the construction material as well as the depth the pipe is laid.
Other Infrastructure
Other infrastructure is not deemed to be significant in terms of Council's Statement of Financial Position.
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Fair Value Measurements (cont.)
(d) Unobservable inputs and sensitivities
Asset / liability category*

Carrying
Key
amount (at fair unobservable
value)
inputs *

Expected range
of inputs

Roads

$ 74,505,430 Unit replacement from $9/sqm
cost per sqm
(unsealed) up
to $40/sqm
(sealed)
Useful life

Refer Note 1e

Bridges

$ 18,185,476 Useful life

Refer Note 1e

Drainage

$ 17,566,264 Useful life

Refer Note 1e

Unit price per
metre

From $79/m up
to $1,649/m,
depending on
pipe diameter

Description of how changes in
inputs will affect the fair value

The higher the unit cost, the
higher the fair value

The longer the useful life, the
higher the fair value
The longer the useful life, the
higher the fair value
The longer the useful life, the
higher the fair value
The higher the unit price the
higher the fair value

*There were no significant inter-relationships between unobservable inputs that materially affect fair values.

(f) Valuation processes
Council's current policy for the valuation of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment, investment in water corporation and
investment property (recurring fair value measurements) is set out in note 1(f) and 1(k) respectively.
Non-recurring fair value measurements are made at the point of reclassification by a registered valuer.
(g) Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed
Council does not have assets and liabilities which are not measured at fair value.
Council borrowings are measured at amortised cost with interest recognised in statement of comprehensive income when incurred.
The fair value of borrowings disclosed in note 34 is provided by Tascorp (level 2).
The carrying amounts of trade receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term
nature (Level 2).
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Certification of the Financial Report
The financial report presents fairly the financial position of the Break O'Day Council as at 30 June 2017, the results of its
operations for the year then ended and the cash flows of the Council, in accordance with the Local Government Act 1993 (as
amended), Australian Accounting Standards (including interpretations) and other authoritative pronouncements issued by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board.

John Brown
General Manager
Date : 15 August 2017

47

